Università degli Studi di Pavia Dottorato di Ricerca in Fisica — XXXV Ciclo

One-dimensional Cellular Automata in Quantum and Fermionic Theories

Matteo Lugli

Tesi per il conseguimento del titolo

One-dimensional Cellular Automata in Quantum and Fermionic Theories

Matteo Lugli

2023



Università degli Studi di Pavia Dipartimento di Fisica

Dottorato di Ricerca in Fisica — XXXV Ciclo

One-dimensional Cellular Automata in Quantum and Fermionic Theories

Matteo Lugli

Submitted to the Graduate School of Physics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Dottore di ricerca in fisica Doctor of philosophy in physics

> at the University of Pavia

Doctoral supervisors and advisors: prof. Paolo Perinotti and dr. Alessandro Tosini

Title:

One-dimensional Cellular Automata in Quantum and Fermionic Theories.

Аитнок: Matteo Lugli

PhD Thesis—Università degli Studi di Pavia Typeset in LAT_EX Printed in Pavia, Italy. April 2023

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Quantum theory	6
		1.1.1 Quantum Transformations	7
		1.1.2 Higher-order Quantum Theory	9
	1.2	Fermionic quantum theory	12
		1.2.1 The Fermionic algebra	13
		1.2.2 The parity superselection rule	14
		1.2.3 The Jordan-Wigner transformation	17
		1.2.4 Self-adjoint Representation of the Canonical Anti-	
		commutation Relations	18
		1.2.5 \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebras	21
2	Qua	ntum Cellular Automata	23
	2.1	Classical Cellular Automata	26
	2.2	Quantum Cellular Automata	28
		2.2.1 Structure theorem	32
		2.2.2 Index theory	34
3	The	T-process	38
	3.1	A new definition of QCA	39
	3.2	The <i>T</i> -operator	43
	3.3	Decomposition	47
	3.4	No classification through <i>T</i> -operators	49
	3.5	Estimating the index	50
4	Ferr	nionic Quantum Cellular Automata	52
	4.1	Index theory for Fermionic quantum cellular automata	53
	4.2	Classification of one-dimensional, nearest-neighbors Fermionic	
		Quantum Cellular Automata	55
		4.2.1 Commuting support algebras	56
		4.2.2 Anti-commuting support algebras	60

CONTENTS

5	Simulation of Zitterbewegung				
	5.1	Linear Quantum Cellular Automaton: the Quantum Walk .	66		
	5.2	Zitterbewegung	68		
	5.3	Simulation and results	70		
6	Con	clusions and Future Perspectives	77		
Bi	Bibliography				

Chapter 1 Introduction

The first axiomatization of quantum mechanics by means of Hilbert spaces is due to Hilbert, von Neumann, and Norheim in ref. [HNN28], along with the monumental work of Neumann [Neu32]. The works first laid the foundation for a rigorous mathematical description of quantum phenomena and prepared the ground for the subsequent development of quantum theory (QT). However, these axioms gave neither some physical insights into the theory nor reasons why the world must be quantum.

Our comprehension about quantum mechanics has profoundly changed since the debut of quantum information. The studies on quantum algorithms and communication along with the striking results of cryptography [BB84; Eke91], teleportation [Ben+93], and dense coding [BW92] to name but a few, radically upended the old consensus. Quantum mechanics is no longer considered a contrived version of its classical counterpart, but it is rather a modern and powerful theory to describe physical phenomena. Some reasons for preferring a quantum world over a classical one have been accurately collected and laboriously translated into new axioms, which in turn are now able to shed light on the key features of the theory.

A crucial role in the investigation of the structure and fundamentals of quantum physics has indeed been played by information theory. Many aspects of physical phenomena can be formulated in terms of information. For instance, if we consider information as a measure of the different configurations in which a system can be, we can interpret the entropy of the system as a quantification of our ignorance of its microscopic description. The well-known thermodynamic quantity has then been reinterpreted as information content of the system state by Shannon in refs. [Sha48; SW49], where he introduced the concept of bit as elementary information carriers. Many decades later, Schumacher proved an analogous to the noiseless coding theorem for quantum theory in ref. [Sch95], where the term *qubit* has been coined as the elementary information carrier of quantum systems. This is the birth of the theory of information of quantum systems, i.e. quantum information, whose privileged subjects are the quantification of the information content of physical systems, and a suitable description of how this is processed by physical transformations.

The informational paradigm is based on the idea that information plays, at a fundamental level, a crucial role in the description of natural phenomena. Accordingly, since the 2000s a wide community embarked upon the enterprise of deriving the quantum mechanics principles from axioms based on the recent results of quantum information and providing a clear operational interpretation, see refs. [Fuc01; Har01; Fuc02; DAr06; CDP11]. Following the same intuitions, many concepts that were previously equivocal and convoluted have been clarified, such as e.g. the notion of entanglement, complementarity, purification, holism and non-locality.

Many technical problems have been overcome in the quantum information by focusing only on finite dimensional systems. Such a restriction might seem too restrictive, but allowed the introduction of robust models for describing quantum computation [Chi93; MW19], quantum algorithms [DJ92; Sho94; Gro96; Cle+98], and error correction [Per85; Sho95]. For an extensive dissertation, see ref. [NC10]. However, from a theoretical point of view, we may be interested in defining rigorously the concept of computation on infinitely many systems, as well as to introduce some notion of locality for this kind of transformations. From the quantum information viewpoint, it very clear how to define the possible operations on some quantum systems and how to describe the protocol through quantum circuits. Nonetheless, the same models do not apply for a transformation that acts on a lattice of quantum systems: both the definitions of quantum states and quantum operations do not behave as expected if applied straight to an infinite number of systems.

The task of characterization of transformations onto countably-infinitely many systems is also motivated by the *desideratum* to simulate and describe quantum fields. Indeed, the quantum field theory (QFT) is the most detailed description of the dynamics of physical systems available nowadays. Despite its impressive predictive power, the QFT still lacks a satisfactory interpretation and the conceptual aspects behind its mathematical structure are discussed topics both in physics and in philosophy of science [Kuh20]. Among the interpretative issues of QFT we can mention the ultraviolet divergences, the causality violation due to the Hamiltonian description leading to the wave-function superluminal tails [Tha92] and the localization problem [RS61; Kuh20].

In this context, the class of quantum cellular automata (QCAs) naturally

emerges as a theoretical tool for simulating and describing quantum fields. Indeed, QCAs are the quantum analogues of classical cellular automaton (CA), namely an algorithm that defines the local evolution of a grid, which is a finitely-generated group and whose sites can have a state out of finitely many. A CA is actually the evolution rule of the grid and its accurate definitions for locality, homogeneity—or translation invariance,—isotropy, reversibility, and universality make it an excellent candidate model for describing physical phenomena. However, its classical nature forbids every application to fundamental physics. For this reason, the quantum cellular automata have been introduced by replacing the sites of a classical CA with quantum systems. The framework have been rigorously defined in ref. [SW04] and a QCA on an accordingly defined grid is a function that maps observables into observables in the customary Heisenberg picture. In so doing, quantum cellular automata are models for *parallel* quantum computation over infinite many systems. They are in fact dual to the quantum Turing machine, and so to quantum circuit by equivalence, where information is processed sequentially.

The same procedure for defining QCAs can be applied for other theories of physical relevance, in particular to the Fermionic quantum theory (FQT). In this case, qubits are replaced with local Fermionic modes,¹ and the automaton must preserve valid Fermionic observables. Thereby, we expect to rigorously derive features so that we can describe and simulate Fermionic quantum fields with a safe and sound toolset.

The study of quantum cellular automata in other theories than the quantum one is clearly motivated by the fact that the fundamental quantum fields are indeed Fermionic or Bosonic. However, cellular automata are the test field for comparing different theories with their respective features, in particular the notion of locality. The concept of CA and QCA have been generalized in the works of refs. [Per20; Per21], where a meticulous definition has been provided in the more general framework of operation probabilistic theories. Thereby, one may generalize cellular automata for theories such as the quantum theory, Fermionic quantum theory, the real quantum theory, the classical theory, and classical theories with entanglement refs. [DEP20a; DEP20b].

Aside from the theoretical interest, physical realizations of quantum cellular automata have been considered as quantum simulators of physical systems with the aim to harness the computational speedup provided by quantum algorithms. The interest of the scientific community is devolved

¹The elementary information carrier for the Fermionic information theory is however the *febit*, see refs. [PTV21; PTV22].

to the development of technological platform capable of implementing QCAs. However, their strongly interacting evolution over the field operators have prohibited any such control so far. Efforts then moved to implement linear QCAs, also known as quantum walks (QWs). Several platforms ranging from cold atoms [Kar+09], trapped ions [Sch+09; Zäh+10], to photonics systems [Owe+11; San+12; Kit+12; Car+15; Bou+16], have been employed to implement QWs. Although limited by the non-interacting regime, such setups allows us to simulate phenomena otherwise out of reach. Indeed, in the recent paper,² we simulated the evolution of a particle according to the Dirac equation onto a photonic platform. In particular, we observed the *Zitterbewegung* effect of states in superposition of particle and antiparticles, namely the trembling motion of the expectation value of the position operator.

Outline of the thesis

The work presented in this thesis is threefold:

- We introduce new quantum cellular automaton definition in terms of supermaps and the so called *T*-operator, i.e. a local operator that incorporates all the necessary information for defining a QCA.
- We classificate all nearest-neighbor Fermionic quantum cellular automaton (FQCA) over the one-dimensional lattice consisting of one local Fermionic mode per site.
- We report the experimental realization of a photonic platform to simulate the evolution of a one-dimensional QW, specifically to observe the *Zitterbewegung* of a particle satisfying the Dirac dispersion relation.

In the present chapter, both the quantum theory and Fermionic quantum theory are introduced. Their definition is given in the canonical fashion and fixes the notation for the whole work. However, for what pertains the quantum theory, in § 1.1.2 a brief introduction to the higher-order quantum theory is given. Namely, the notion of supermap is provided as transformation from quantum operations to quantum operations. On the other hand, the Fermionic quantum theory is introduced along with two representations of the canonical anticommutation relations (CAR): through the

²Under review: Alessia Suprano, Danilo Zia, Emanuele Polino, Davide Poderini, Gonzalo Carvacho, Fabio Sciarrino, Matteo Lugli, Alessandro Bisio, and Paolo Perinotti "Quantum Simulation of *Zitterbewegung* via a Photonic Dirac Cellular Automaton."

creation and annihilation operators in § 1.2.1 and through the self-adjoint representation in § 1.2.4.

In chapter 2, a dissertation over the well established theory of quantum cellular automata is presented. In particular, we first review some underlying notions of classical cellular automata. We then move to the definition of quasi-local observable algebra and that of QCA as homomorphism between them. Among others, the relevant result of the structure theorem and the index theorem are presented.

Once all prerequisites have been given, in chapter 3 we introduce a new notion of QCA as a supermap between transformations onto the grid, such that it preserves their locality. This new definition is then proved to be equivalent to the well-known one of literature. Thereby, the *T*-operator is described and characterized as a local object that completely describes the rule of the automaton. Indeed, some necessary and sufficient properties of the *T*-operator are given for it to represent a valid QCA.

In the next chapter 4, the classification of FQCA is reported in the particular case of nearest-neighbors, one-dimensional lattice, and one local Fermionic mode per site. We briefly describe the differences between the index theorem introduced in chapter 2 for QCA and FQCA. The dissertation then continues with the analysis of two relevant cases: the first one strongly resembles a particular subclass of quantum cellular automata, whilst the second case is a *unicum* of FQCA. Indeed, due to a different notion of locality in the Fermionic quantum theory, a new class of FQCA has been found to have no quantum counterparts.

We present in chapter 5 an experimental implementation through a photonic platform of a quantum walk. In a collaboration between the theoretical group of the University of Pavia and the experimental one of the University of Rome "La Sapienza," we devised an experiment to simulate the *Zitterbewegung* of a particle through the implementation of a quantum walk. The positional state of the particle is encoded in the orbital angular momentum (OAM) of light whereas the internal degree of freedom, also known as coin, is represented by the polarization of the photon. We describe the theoretical background of quantum walks along with that of the *Zitterbewegung* effect. The result of the experiment are then concisely presented.

Finally, in chapter 6 we draw the conclusions of the work and present some future prospetives of the field.

1.1 Quantum theory

We firstly introduce the quantum theory of information. The fundamental axioms of the theory are defined according to von Neumann on finitedimensional Hilbert spaces and illustrated along with the mathematical notation to describe quantum systems and operations. We build up the theory starting from three postulates, as presented in ref. [DCP16]:

- 1. To each system *A* we associate a complex Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_A . To the composition *AB* of systems *A* and *B* we associate the tensor product $\mathcal{H}_{AB} \coloneqq \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$.
- 2. To each state of system *A* corresponds a positive operator $\rho \in St(\mathcal{H}_A)$ on \mathcal{H}_A with $Tr[\rho] \leq 1$.
- 3. Any map that satisfies all mathematical requirements for representing a transformation within the theory will actually be an admissible quantum transformations of the theory.

From all three assumptions we derive the well-know properties of the theory and the structure of state, effect and transformation sets, which we introduce hereafter.

Any state $\rho \in \text{St}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, also known as a preparation of the system, is a positive operator $\rho \ge 0$ on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_A such that $\text{Tr}[\rho] \le 1$. The set $\text{St}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ boasts both a conic and convex structure. The states satisfying $\text{Tr}[\rho] = 1$ are called *deterministic* and belongs to $\text{St}_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$. We define a preparation test as a collection of preparations { $\rho_i : \rho_i \in \text{St}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ } such that the *coarse graining*, i.e.

$$\rho = \sum_{i} \rho_{i},$$

is deterministic. Moreover, the conic structure emerges as soon as we consider a collection of sub-deterministic preparations { ρ_i : Tr[ρ_i] < 1} and conically combine them to attain

$$\sigma = \sum_{i} p_i \rho_i \quad \text{for} \quad p_i \ge 0,$$

where σ is a new preparation and must fulfill $\text{Tr}[\sigma] \leq 1$. On the other hand, we define the *pure* states as those featuring rank equal to one, namely the projectors onto a one-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{H}_A . In the Dirac notation, we denote the pure preparations as $\rho = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$, for $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$. Mixed states,

on the contrary, have rank larger than one and are inherently linked to the convex combination of preparations

$$\tau = \sum_{i} p_i \rho_i \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le p_i \le 1, \ \sum_{i} p_i = 1$$

where ρ_i are some states and $\tau \in St(\mathcal{H}_A)$.

Linear functionals on states are called effects and labeled as $E \in \text{Eff}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. They are represented by positive operators dominated by the identity, that is $0 \le E \le I$; the identity, in turn, represents the deterministic effect. We denote the pairing between the state ρ and effect E on the same system through the Born rule as

$$\Pr = (E|\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}[E\rho],$$

that represents the probability of measuring *E* given the preparation ρ . Effects may be labeled as *atomic* when their rank is equal to one. We define as positive-operator valued measure (POVM) or effect test the collection of effects { $E_i : 0 \le E_i \le I$ } such that the coarse graining is the deterministic effect, namely $I = \sum_i E_i$.

1.1.1 Quantum Transformations

We conclude our introduction to the quantum theory with the definition of quantum transformation $C \in \text{Transf}(A \to B)$ as the linear, completelypositive and trace-non-increasing map $C : \text{St}(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \text{St}(\mathcal{H}_B)$. Both states and effects may be seen as transformations from and to the trivial system, respectively. Transformations that are trace-preserving, i.e. $\text{Tr}[C(\rho)] = \text{Tr}[\rho]$, are called deterministic transformations or *quantum channels* and belongs to $\text{Transf}_1(A \to B)$, whereas those that are only trace-non-increasing are usually named quantum operations. Thanks to Kraus' theorem, see ref. [Sti55], we describe any transformation C through the set of operators $\{K_i : \mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B | \sum_i K_i K_i^{\dagger} \leq I \}$, also known as the Kraus operators, such that C can be described both in the Schrödinger picture and in the Heisenberg picture, namely

$$\mathcal{C}(\rho) = \sum_{i} K_{i} \rho K_{i}^{\dagger}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{C}^{\dagger}(E) = \sum_{i} K_{i}^{\dagger} E K_{i},$$

respectively, where $\rho \in St(A)$ and $E \in Eff(B)$. We denote by $Lin(\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B)$ the space of linear operators from \mathcal{H}_A to \mathcal{H}_B . The maps featuring only one Kraus operator are called atomic. A collection of transformations $\{\mathcal{T}_i\}$

for which $C = \sum_i C_i$ is trace preserving is called a quantum instrument or transformation test. Quantum theory features the relevant property that any deterministic and atomic transformation $C \in \text{Transf}(A \to A)$ is reversible, i.e. its only Kraus operator belongs to the set of unitary matrices $SU(\mathcal{H}_A)$. On the other hand, any Kraus operator of $\text{Transf}(A \to A)$ live in the full-matrix algebra $\mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, that is the C*-algebra of endomorphisms $End(\mathcal{H}_A)$ over \mathcal{H}_A .

For every set St(*A*), Transf($A \rightarrow B$), Eff(*A*) of states, quantum operations, and effects, respectively, on system *A*, *B* we denote with the subscript \mathbb{R} the real span thereof. In particular, Eff_{\mathbb{R}}(*A*) := Span_{\mathbb{R}}(Eff(*A*)) is the C*-algebra of observables over system *A*, whereas Transf_{\mathbb{R}}($A \rightarrow B$) := Span_{\mathbb{R}}(Transf($A \rightarrow B$)) is the algebra of quantum operations from system *A* to system *B*.

Remark. Theories whose transformation are defined by Kraus operators belonging to some algebra are generally called quantum theories. Some notable examples are the quantum theory itself, the Fermionic quantum theory, cf. § 1.2, and the real quantum theory.

Kraus isomorphism Every linear operator $C : \mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B$ onto Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_A , \mathcal{H}_B describes the action of an atomic transformation $\mathcal{C} : \rho \mapsto C\rho C^{\dagger}$ if we relax the trace-non-increasing condition. However, the reverse is not true as atomic quantum operations are mapped to their Kraus operators *modulo a phase*. Let A, B be two quantum systems, we define the Kraus map \mathfrak{K} : Transf_{*a*}($A \to B$) \longrightarrow Lin($\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B$)/U(1) from the atomic transformations to their Kraus operators modulo a phase. Please note that such a transformation is not linear since the combination of two quantum operations is not equivalent to combination of their Kraus operators, unless they are linearly dependent. In the particular case of A = B, we have that the Kraus isomorphism

$$\mathfrak{K}: \operatorname{Transf}_{a}(A \to A) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_{A})/\mathsf{U}(1), \tag{1.1}$$

is a monoidal isomorphism between the atomic quantum operations and their Kraus operators modulo a phase, namely it preserves both the identity and the product. Indeed, the composition of atomic transformations is represented by the product of their Kraus operators, whereas the identity transformation \mathcal{I} is represented by the identity operator *I*.

Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism The conic structure of quantum operations can be probed through the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism \mathcal{C} , cf. refs. [Jam72; Cho75]. Let us first introduce the double-ket notation: given a bounded linear operator $A : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{V}$ between Hilbert spaces we denote with

$$|A\rangle\rangle := \sum_{ij} A_{ij} |i\rangle \otimes |j\rangle$$

the vector of $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{V}$, where $\{|i\rangle\}$, $\{|j\rangle\}$ are bases for \mathcal{H} , \mathcal{V} , respectively, and A_{ij} are matrix entries of operator A in that bases. For any two bounded linear operators $A : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}'$, $B : \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{K}'$ and a vector $|C\rangle\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{K}$ it holds

$$A \otimes B|C\rangle\rangle = |ACB^{\perp}\rangle\rangle \in \mathcal{H}' \otimes \mathcal{K}', \qquad \langle\langle A|B\rangle\rangle = \mathrm{Tr}[A^{\dagger}B].$$

Thereby, we represent with ease the maximally entangled state

$$|I\rangle \times \langle I| = \sum_{i} |i\rangle \langle i| \otimes |i\rangle \langle i|,$$

for any system Q and $\{|i\rangle\}$ a basis of \mathcal{H}_Q . The Choi-Jamiołkowski transformation \mathbb{C} is an isomorphism of cones and maps every transformation $\mathcal{C} \in \text{Transf}(A \to B)$ to a state $\rho_{\mathcal{C}} \in \text{St}(AB)$, which is known as the Choi operator of \mathcal{A} . The Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism then reads

$$\mathcal{C}: \operatorname{Transf}(A \to B) \to \operatorname{St}(AB)$$
$$\mathcal{C} \mapsto \rho_{\mathcal{C}} \coloneqq (\mathcal{C} \otimes \mathcal{I}) |I\rangle \rangle \langle \langle I | I \rangle$$

the isomorphism is in fact linear and preserves atomic maps. Indeed, if C is atomic then C is its only Kraus operator and the Choi operator of the transformation is

$$\mathfrak{C}(\mathcal{C}) = (\mathcal{C} \otimes \mathcal{I}) |I\rangle \backslash \langle I| = (\mathcal{C} \otimes I) |I\rangle \rangle \langle I| (\mathcal{C}^{\dagger} \otimes I) = |\mathcal{C}\rangle \rangle \langle \mathcal{C}|.$$

On the other hand, any quantum operation C of Kraus operators $\{C_i\}$ is mapped to $\mathfrak{C}(C) = \sum_i |C_i\rangle \rangle \langle \langle C_i|$.

1.1.2 Higher-order Quantum Theory

We briefly introduce the reader to the higher-order quantum theory, cf. refs. [CDP09; BP19]. One may wonder how one can define functions that map admissible quantum operation to admissible quantum operations. In particular, we would like to describe the whole class of such maps and gather some criteria to detect whether a given one respects the axioms of the quantum theory.

We observe that dealing with quantum operations $Transf(A \rightarrow B)$, where *A*, *B* are some quantum systems, is the same as dealing with states St(AB),

thanks to the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism \mathfrak{C} . Hence, let *A*, *B*, *C*, and *D* be some quantum systems, the supermap

$$\mathscr{A}: \operatorname{Transf}(A \to B) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Transf}(C \to D)$$

can be expressed as a quantum operation

$$\mathcal{A}: \mathrm{St}(AB) \to \mathrm{St}(CD) \tag{1.2}$$

by conjugating the supermap with the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism, i.e.

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathfrak{C} \mathscr{A} \mathfrak{C}^{-1}. \tag{1.3}$$

This procedure allows us to relate supermaps \mathscr{A} and quantum operations \mathcal{A} by preserving their cone structure. Indeed, the positivity of $\rho \in St(AB)$ is a necessary and sufficient condition for $\mathbb{C}^{-1}(\rho) \in Transf(A \to B)$ being a completely positive map (CP-map). In so doing, the necessary condition so that \mathscr{A} maps CP-maps to CP-map is that \mathcal{A} maps positive states into positive states. However, this is granted by the fact that \mathcal{A} is a quantum operation. The relation between the supermap \mathscr{A} and the transformation \mathcal{A} can be seen through the following commutative diagram:



where $T \in St(AB)$, $T \in Transf(A \rightarrow B)$, $T' \in St(CD)$, $T' \in Transf(C \rightarrow D)$.

The Choi-Jamiołkowski is linear, thus $\mathscr{A} = \mathfrak{C}^{-1}\mathcal{A}\mathfrak{C}$ is linear as well. We still need to prove that the transformed operations are still trace-nonincreasing. Let $I \in \text{Eff}(CD)$ be the deterministic effect for system CD, we readily notice that $0 \leq (\mathcal{T}')^{\dagger}(I) = \text{Tr}_0[\rho_{\mathcal{T}'}] \leq I$. We are then ready to give a definition of supermap.

Definition (Supermap). Let *A*, *B*, *C*, and *D* be quantum systems, the map

$$\mathscr{A}$$
: Transf $(A \to B)$ \longrightarrow Transf $(C \to D)$

is an admissible supermap if it is linear and preserves positivity, even when applied locally on a bipartite map Transf($AC \rightarrow BC$) for some system C.

It is then possible to reduce every higher-order transformation such as $A \rightarrow ((B \rightarrow C) \rightarrow D)$ recursively to a map onto states St(*ABCD*). This tells us that the cone generated by probabilistic higher-order operations is the whole cone of positive operators. Essentially, the above result implies that the only relevant cone in quantum mechanics is that of positive operators.

Theorem 1. Let A, B, C, and D be quantum systems and

$$\mathscr{A}$$
: Transf $(A \to B)$ \longrightarrow Transf $(C \to D)$

be a supermap that preserves the conic structure of quantum operations, i.e. it preserves the atomicity of transformations, then the action of \mathscr{A} onto the Kraus operators

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B) \to \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_C \to \mathcal{H}_D)$$

is linear.

Proof. In the following, we combine the Kraus map \Re and the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism \mathbb{C} of § 1.1.1 to describe the action of the supermap \mathscr{A} through the quantum operation $\mathcal{A} : \operatorname{St}(AB) \to \operatorname{St}(CD)$ of eqs. (1.2) and (1.3) over the Choi operators. Indeed, a Kraus operator $C \in \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B)$ represents an atomic quantum operation $\mathcal{C} \in \operatorname{Transf}_a(A \to B)$ whose Choi operator is $|C\rangle \backslash \langle C| \in \operatorname{St}(AB)$. The action of the transformation \mathcal{A} is atomic as the supermap \mathscr{A} preserves atomicity by assumption, therefore \mathcal{A} maps every Choi operator $|C\rangle \backslash \langle C|$ to $A|C\rangle \land \langle C|A^{\dagger}$ where $A \in \operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \to \mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_D)$ is the only Kraus operator of \mathcal{A} . We readily observe that the action of \mathcal{A} onto the Kraus C is linear as A is linear onto the Kraus vector $|C\rangle$. The construction hitherto provided is hereafter depicted as the diagram

where \mathcal{P} is the map from a rank one operator $|C\rangle\rangle\langle\langle C|$ to the vector $|C\rangle\rangle$ of its one-dimensional support space. Please note that \mathcal{P} is a map along rays of the state cone and A is a Kraus operator of \mathcal{A} defined modulo a phase.

Finally, we define $\alpha := \Re \mathscr{A} \Re^{-1}$ and show that the image of every operator in $\operatorname{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B)$ is unique. Indeed, the Kraus map \Re links an atomic quantum operation to its Kraus operator modulo a phase. We now prove that such degree of freedom is immaterial and that we can define a map α between linear operators as a bijection. Let α , β be two maps of Kraus operators such that

$$\beta(C) = \alpha(C)e^{i\phi(C)}$$

for $C \in \text{Lin}(\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B)$ and phase ϕ . We then consider some quantum operations \mathcal{P} , $\mathcal{M} \in \text{Transf}(A \to B)$ with Kraus operators L + R, $L - R \in$

Lin($\mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B$), respectively, and evaluate the image of the transformation $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{P} - \mathcal{M}$ under the supermap \mathscr{A} . Let $\rho \in St(A)$, we have

$$C(\rho) = (L+R)\rho(L+R)^{\dagger} - (L-R)\rho(L-R)^{\dagger} = 2(L\rho R^{\dagger} + R\rho L^{\dagger}),$$

so that if we apply the maps α , β thereto we attain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})(\sigma) &= 2(\alpha(L) \ \sigma \ \alpha(R)^{\dagger} + \alpha(R) \ \sigma \ \alpha(L)^{\dagger}), \\ &= 2(\alpha(L) \ \sigma \ \alpha(R)^{\dagger} e^{i(\phi(L) - \phi(R))} + \alpha(R) \ \sigma \ \alpha(L)^{\dagger} e^{i(\phi(R) - \phi(L))}). \end{aligned}$$

The last two equations must equal for every $\sigma \in \text{St}(C)$. We readily see that for $L \notin R$ there always exists some vector $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_C$ such that $\alpha(L)|\psi\rangle \notin \alpha(R)|\psi\rangle$. Thus for $\sigma = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$,

$$\alpha(L)|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\alpha(R)^{\dagger}e^{i(\phi(L)-\phi(R))} + \alpha(R)|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\alpha(L)^{\dagger}e^{i(\phi(R)-\phi(L))} = \alpha(L)|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\alpha(R)^{\dagger} + \alpha(R)|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\alpha(L)^{\dagger}$$

only iff $\phi(L) = \phi(R)$. On the other hand, for $L \propto R$ we have that *L* has the same phase as every other non-proportional operator *R*', which in turn must have the same phase as *R*.

1.2 Fermionic quantum theory

In the 1980s, R. Feynman wondered whether it is possible to simulate the behavior of Fermionic systems through quantum qubits [Fey82]. Since then, the properties of Fermions have been thoroughly investigated both in terms of computational capabilities and operational features. On the one hand, the former aspect sheds light on the underlying informational structure of the theory, with the striking result that the Fermionic theory and quantum theory of qubits are computationally equivalent, as proved by ref. [BK02]. On the other hand, the latter leads to a deeper understanding of the physical traits of the Fermionic theory, especially to the notions of locality and entanglement.

Fermions are half-integer spin particles that undergo the Pauli exclusion principle, i.e. two Fermionic particles cannot occupy the same state at the same time. We present the theory in the second quantization formalism as a superselection of the quantum one. In particular, FQT treats local Fermionic modes as elementary systems, which represents the counterpart of qubits in quantum theory. From the computational point of view, a local Fermionic mode is a system which can be either empty or occupied by a single "excitation." Within this framework, the Fermionic parity superselection rule as been derived as a consistency constraint of the Fermionic probabilistic theory, see ref. [DAr+14]. We then describe some correspondences to the quantum theory through the Jordan-Wigner transformation. Eventually, we show an alternative representation of the Fermionic algebra due to ref. [Der06], which comes in handy for the classification of Fermionic Quantum Cellular Automata in chapter 4.

As we shall further see in the following, the differences between the quantum theory and the Fermionic quantum theory are profound, and as such the two should not be mistaken. In particular, in § 1.2.3 it is clear that the two theories have distinct notions of locality. This has consequences in many features of the theory such as discrimination [LPT20; LPT21], Violation of local tomography and entanglement monogamy [DAr+14].

1.2.1 The Fermionic algebra

The notion of locality in the FQT is rigorously defined through the Fermionic algebra F. For *n* local Fermionic modes, we consider the annihilation and creation operators φ_i , φ_i^{\dagger} as those satisfying the CAR

$$\{\varphi_i, \varphi_i^{\mathsf{T}}\} = \delta_{ij}I \quad \text{and} \quad \{\varphi_i, \varphi_j\} = 0,$$
 (1.4)

where i, j = 1...n. We further inspect the properties of the underlying Hilbert space if we introduce the number operators as $N_i = \varphi_i^{\dagger} \varphi_i$. From the anticommutation relations of eq. (1.4), we conclude that their spectrum is

$$\sigma(N_i) = \{0, |0\rangle_i; 1, |1\rangle_i\},\$$

i.e. $\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i|0\rangle_i = 0$ and $\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i|1\rangle_i = |1\rangle_i$. Moreover, the annihilation and creation operators φ_i , φ_i^{\dagger} satisfy the relevant properties of

$$\varphi_i |1\rangle_i = |0\rangle_i, \tag{1.5}$$

$$\varphi_i^{\mathsf{T}}|0\rangle_i = |1\rangle_i, \qquad (1.6)$$

due to eq. (1.4).

The Fermionic operators φ_i , φ_i^{\dagger} are the generator of the Fermionic algebra F(n) for *n* local Fermionic modes while eqs. (1.5) and (1.6) allow us to interpret them as lowering and raising operators, respectively, for the number operator $\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i$. Furthermore, the operators $\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i$ mutually commute and are simultaneously diagonalizable. We define the vacuum state $|\Omega\rangle$ as the unique shared eigenvector whose eigenvalue is equal to zero, namely

$$\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i|\Omega\rangle = 0 \quad \forall i = 1\dots n.$$

Starting from the vacuum vector $|\Omega\rangle$ and accordingly applying the creation operators φ_i^{\dagger} , we introduce the Fock basis of elements

$$|s_1 s_2 \dots s_n\rangle \coloneqq (\varphi_1^{\dagger})^{s_1} (\varphi_2^{\dagger})^{s_2} \cdots (\varphi_n^{\dagger})^{s_n} |\Omega\rangle, \quad s_i = 0, 1$$

$$(1.7)$$

which span the antisymmetric Fock space

$$\mathcal{F}^n \coloneqq \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}}\{|s_1 s_2 \dots s_n\rangle : s_i = 0, 1\}$$

of dimension equal to 2^n . The term s_i is the occupation number of the *i*-th mode and corresponds to the eigenvalue of the number operator $\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i$. Finally, we point out that a vector of eq. (1.7) represents a Slater determinant in the first quantization formalism.

1.2.2 The parity superselection rule

One of the most distinctive traits of the Fermionic quantum theory is the parity superselection rule. In ref. [WWW52], the authors extensively describe the notion of superselection rule, namely a restriction of all the admissibile measurements of a theory, and derive the parity superselection rule as a consequence of the time inversion symmetry.

In the present section we introduce an axiomatization of FQT, see ref. [DAr+14]. In such a framework, the parity superselection rule can be derived from first principles. The theory deals with systems made of finitely many local Fermionic modes and is derived starting from the superselected states of the quantum theory of qubits. We then require the atomic and local transformations to act on their systems through the Fermionic operators of the algebra F we introduced above. This defines the notion of locality for Fermionic quantum operations. As a consequence, the FQT manifests new and distinctive traits ranging from a different structure of state and effect sets, an alternative notion of entanglement to the parity superselection rule. We begin by assuming the following postulates:

- 1. The Fermionic quantum theory is causal.
- 2. The states of *n* local Fermionic modes are represented by density matrices on the antisymmetric Fock space \mathcal{F}^n .
- 3. The transformations on *n* local Fermionic modes are represented by linear Hermitian-preserving maps.
- 4. For a composite system Q = AB of *n* modes, the local transformations on the subsystem *A* of the first $1 \dots m < n$ modes have Kraus operators generated by the Fermionic operators $\varphi_j, \varphi_j^{\dagger} \in F(m)$ for $j = 1 \dots m$.

- 5. Local transformations on a system retain the same Kraus representation when other systems are added or discarded.
- 6. The transformation of Kraus operators $X_i = \varphi_i + \varphi_i^{\dagger} \quad \forall i = 1...n$ is physical, namely it is an admissible map of the theory.
- 7. The paring between states and effects is given by the Born rule

$$\Pr = (a|\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}[a\rho].$$

8. On a single mode the pairing between the deterministic effect *e* and the state ρ is $(e|\rho) = \text{Tr}[\rho]$.

The Fermionic algebra takes here the crucial role of defining the locality of transformations. Indeed, in assumption 4 we require the Kraus operator of an atomic and local transformation to belong to the algebra of the Fermionic modes the map is acting upon. Moreover, assumptions 4 and 6 let us derive a relevant property of any transformation between n local Fermionic modes, namely that each Kraus operator is a combination of either an even or odd number of field operators.

The previous results lead to the following two fundamental features of the Fermionic theory, see ref. [DAr+14], which allow us to characterize both the sets of preparations and effects.

Theorem (Parity superselection). *States of FQT satisfy the parity superselection rule, i.e. their density matrices commute with the parity operator*

$$P \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \left[I + \prod_{i=0}^{n} \left(\varphi_{i} \varphi_{i}^{\dagger} - \varphi_{i}^{\dagger} \varphi_{i} \right) \right].$$

Theorem (Fermionic effects). *Effects of the FQT are positive operators made of products of an even number of fields operators.*

The former theorem restricts the set of possible pure states for Fermionic systems only to those having a well-defined parity. The antisymmetric Fock space of n modes decomposes into the direct sum

$$\mathcal{F}^n = \mathcal{F}_0^n \oplus \mathcal{F}_1^n$$
,

the subscript indicating the eigenvalue of the parity operator, and the set of states also decomposes as well in

$$\operatorname{St}(\mathcal{F}^n) = \operatorname{St}(\mathcal{F}_0^n) \oplus \operatorname{St}(\mathcal{F}_1^n).$$

If we consider vectors in the form of eq. (1.7), the parity is the sum of the excitations modulo two

$$s \coloneqq \sum_{i=0}^{n} s_i \mod 2$$

...

or, equivalently, whether the total occupation number $s = \sum_i s_i$ is even or odd.

We point out that the set structure of Fermionic states is strongly shaped by the parity superselection rule and irreversibly altered from the original quantum one. Since convex-only combinations between vectors of different parity are allowed, the particular case of a single isolated mode surprisingly reduces to the classical bit

$$St(\mathcal{F}^{1}) = \{p \mid 0 \setminus 0 \mid + (1-p) \mid 1 \setminus 1 \mid : p \in [0,1]\}.$$

Beside, the whole set of states $St(\mathcal{F}^n)$ is spanned by the convex combinations of the even and odd preparations as depicted in fig. 1.1, where the case of two local Fermionic modes is considered. For two modes, the even and odd states separately have the supports lying on a bidimensional space, shown as two Bloch spheres in the figure. The states represented on the spheres are pure, whereas those inside the balls and the convex combination between them are the Fermionic mixed states.

Generally, the vector space of parity-defined vectors is isomorph to that of n-1 qubits, where n is the number of local Fermionic modes. On the other hand, the linear span of states and effects corresponds to the space of $2^n \times 2^n$ hermitian matrices

$$\operatorname{St}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{F}^n) = \operatorname{Eff}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{F}^n) = \operatorname{Herm}((\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}),$$

whose dimension is 2^{2n} . Once we reordered the Fock basis so that the even vectors precede the odd ones, we obtain $\forall \rho \in St(n)$ and $\forall a \in Eff(n)$ that

$$\rho = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \rho_0 \\ \hline & \rho_1 \end{array}\right), \qquad \rho_0, \rho_1 \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Tr}[\rho_0 + \rho_1], \le 1$$
$$a = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} a_0 \\ \hline & a_1 \end{array}\right), \qquad 0 \le a_0 \le I_0 \quad \text{and} \quad 0 \le a_1 \le I_1,$$

namely, the preparations and effects are represented as block matrices on the even and odd subspaces \mathcal{F}_0 , \mathcal{F}_1 .



Figure 1.1: A pictorial representation of the state set for two local Fermionic modes is shown. The shaded surface depicts the set of deterministic states, whereas the underlying area delimited by the dotted lines converging to the zero state refers to the conic structure of sub-deterministic preparations. The represented states satisfy Supp $\rho_s \subseteq \mathcal{F}_s^2$ for s = 0, 1, while $\rho = p\rho_0 + (1 - p)\rho_1$, $p \in [0, 1]$ is any convex combination of the previous two.

1.2.3 The Jordan-Wigner transformation

We further understand the locality and entanglement features of the FQT only once we introduce the Jordan-Wigner transformation between local Fermionic modes and quantum qubits, firstly proposed in ref. [JW28]. The antisymmetric Fock space \mathcal{F}^n is isometric to the complex Hilbert space of n qubits, as we promptly realize by looking at the Fock basis of eq. (1.7). Thus, we define the unitary map

$$U: \mathcal{F}^n \to \mathbb{C}^{2^n}$$
$$|s_1 s_2 \dots s_n\rangle_F \mapsto |s_1 s_2 \dots s_n\rangle_O.$$

between the space of quantum and Fermionic states. Given the Pauli matrices

$$\sigma^{x} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{y} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{z} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{1.8}$$

we could then promote the operators

$$\sigma_i^{\pm} \coloneqq \frac{\sigma_i^x \pm i\sigma_i^y}{2}$$

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

to the quantum equivalents of the creation and annihilation Fermionic operators. On the one hand, we have the correct same-site anticommutation relations $\{\sigma_i^+, \sigma_i^-\} = I$ for i = 1...n. On the other hand, spins on different sides do commute, i.e. $[\sigma_i^+, \sigma_j^-] = 0$ for $i \neq j$, unlike Fermions which anticommute. We accordingly adjust our operators by adding a phase factor, which is able to keep track of the other excited modes, to attain the Jordan-Wigner transformation

$$\mathcal{J}(\varphi_i) = e^{-i\pi\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\sigma_j^+\sigma_j^-} \cdot \sigma_i^- \tag{1.9a}$$

$$\mathcal{J}(\varphi_i^{\dagger}) = e^{+i\pi\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\sigma_j^+\sigma_j^-} \cdot \sigma_i^+ \tag{1.9b}$$

$$\mathcal{J}(\varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_i) = \sigma_i^{+}\sigma_i^{-}. \tag{1.9c}$$

Remark. The phase term can be rewritten for i > 0 as

$$S_i := e^{\pm i\pi\sum_{j=1}^{i-1}\sigma_j^+\sigma_j^-} = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} e^{\pm i\pi\sigma_j^+\sigma_j^-} = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} (1 - 2\sigma_j^+\sigma_j^-) = \prod_{j=1}^{i-1} (-\sigma_j^z), \quad (1.10)$$

where we observe that it depends on the chosen order of the systems. This trait greatly limits its applicability to cases where the systems are mapped to sites on manifolds with dimension higher than one.

The transformation \mathcal{J} is actually a *-algebra isomorphism and let us build a Fermionic algebra F(n) on the top of a *n* qubit system. We may be tempted to translate all Fermionic expressions into quantum ones through the Jordan-Wigner transformation, however many notion of QT will not apply once they are transformed back. For instance, as we can see from eqs. (1.9a) and (1.9b), local Fermionic operators are generally mapped to a many qubits operator. Therefore, the locality properties are preserved only if the expression involves an even number of Fermionic operators for each site, in order to cancel the phase factor as in eq. (1.9c). For an extensive addendum on the Jordan-Wigner transformation see ref. [Nie05].

1.2.4 Self-adjoint Representation of the Canonical Anticommutation Relations

Instead of describing the behavior of transformations in FQT in terms of the creation and annihilation operators, we introduce another representation of the CAR in terms of self-adjoint operators. The framework is developed in ref. [Der06], where the scalar product of real vectors is implemented through the anticommutation of self-adjoint operators. We may recover the

Fermionic algebra only if we group pairs of orthonormal vectors together. The representation will be of use in chapter 4 where the action of a FQCA over observables is handled thereby. We label with $B_h(\mathcal{H})$ the set of bounded self-adjoint operators on Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

Definition. Let *V* be a real vector space with a positive scalar product π . The linear map $\mathfrak{s} : V \to B_h(\mathcal{H})$ is a representation of the CAR over *V* in \mathcal{H} if it satisfies

$$\{\mathfrak{s}(v),\mathfrak{s}(w)\}=2\pi(v,w), \quad \forall v,w\in V.$$

We say that \mathfrak{s} is an *irreducible* representation of the CAR if the only closed sub-spaces of \mathcal{H} preserved by all $K \in \mathfrak{s}(V)$ are {0} and \mathcal{H} . Let the scalar product π induce the norm $\|\cdot\|$, the representation \mathfrak{s} further respects the following properties for $v \in V$:

- spectrum $\mathfrak{s}(v) = \{-\|v\|, \|v\|\}.$
- $e^{i\mathfrak{s}(v)} = \cos ||v||I + i \frac{\sin ||v||}{||v||} \mathfrak{s}(v).$
- Let *V* be the completion of *V* in the norm ||·||. Then there exists a unique extension of *s* to a continuous function which is a representation of the CAR.

Thanks to last item, we henceforth assume V being a real Hilbert space.

Given an orthonormal basis $\{v_i\}$ for V, we say that the self-adjoint operators $\{\mathfrak{s}_i\}$ are a representation of the CAR if $\mathfrak{s}_i = \mathfrak{s}(v_i)$. Most notably, the images $\{\mathfrak{s}_i\}$ do respect $\{\mathfrak{s}_i, \mathfrak{s}_j\} = 2\delta_{ij}$. If we group the operators in pairs $\{(\mathfrak{s}_{2i}, \mathfrak{s}_{2i+1})\}$, then we can recombine them to obtain the usual creation and annihilation operators

$$\varphi_i \coloneqq \frac{\mathfrak{s}_{2i} - i\,\mathfrak{s}_{2i+1}}{2},$$

which satisfy eq. (1.4). As a consequence only even-dimensional real spaces $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ can represent physical systems, specifically they describe *n* local Fermionic modes. On the other hand, we may say that the single operator \mathfrak{s}_i is associated to a *i*-th Majorana mode.

The Jordan-Wigner transformation is an effective way to define a particular self-adjoint representation. Indeed, we introduce the Jordan-Wigner bases

$$(\sigma_1^x, \sigma_1^y, S_2\sigma_2^x, S_2\sigma_2^y, \dots, S_{2n}\sigma_{2n}^x, S_{2n}\sigma_{2n}^y)$$
 for $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$

and

$$(\sigma_1^x, \sigma_1^y, S_2\sigma_2^x, S_2\sigma_2^y, \dots, S_{2n}\sigma_{2n}^x, S_{2n}\sigma_{2n}^y, S_{2n+1})$$
 for $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$

where S_i is the sign operator of eq. (1.10). In particular, the operator S_{2n+1} applies the matrix σ^z to all qubits.

Let us see the most basic examples of the self-adjoint representation: *Example.* For $\mathfrak{s} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to B_h(\mathbb{C}^2)$ and $\mathfrak{s}(v) = v_x \sigma^x + v_y \sigma^y$, $v \in \mathbb{R}^2$, we have a single local Fermionic mode.

Example. For $\mathfrak{s} : \mathbb{R}^3 \to B_h(\mathbb{C}^2)$ and $\mathfrak{s}(v) = v_x \sigma^x + v_y \sigma^y + v_z \sigma^z$, $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$, we have a non-physical representation of the CAR.

Fermionic Bogoliubov-Valatin transformations

The definition of the self-adjoint representation \mathfrak{s} relies on the scalar product π of the real Hilbert space V. We are then interested in how the operators $\mathfrak{s}(v)$ transform if we apply a linear transformation that preserves the scalar product π to the vectors $v \in V$, i.e. an orthogonal transformation $R \in O(V)$. The answer is that there exists a unitary transformation $U \in U(\mathcal{H})$ such that if we conjugate $\mathfrak{s}(v)$ with U, the result still satisfies the CAR. In the physics literature the fact that orthogonal transformations can be unitarily implemented is associated with the name of Bogolubov transformation.

Theorem 2 (Fermionic Bogoliubov–Valatin). Let $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, for every $R \in O(V)$ there exists a unique pair of unitary matrices $\{U_R, -U_R\} \subset U(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\mathfrak{s}(Rv) = U_R \mathfrak{s}(r) U_R^{\dagger},$$

and we have the following group homomorphism

$$\phi: \mathcal{O}(V) \to \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H})/\{1, -1\}$$
$$R \mapsto \pm U_R.$$

The homomorphism ϕ is the Pin representation of O(V).

Fermionic Stone-von Neumann theorem

We now show that every other representation is unitarily equivalent to the Jordan-Wigner one. The following theorems can be viewed as a Fermionic analog of the Stone-von Neumann one.

Theorem 3. Let $\{\mathfrak{s}_i\}$ be a representation of the CAR over $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . There exists a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} and a unitary operator $U: (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n} \otimes \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ such that for $i = 1 \dots n$ we have

$$U\left(S_{i}\sigma_{i}^{x}\otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}\right)U^{\dagger}=\mathfrak{s}_{2i-1}, \qquad \qquad U\left(S_{i}\sigma_{i}^{y}\otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}\right)U^{\dagger}=\mathfrak{s}_{2i}.$$

The representation is irreducible iff $\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{C}$ *.*

Theorem 4. Let $\{\mathfrak{s}_i\}$ be a representation of the CAR over $V = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . There exists Hilbert spaces \mathcal{K}_+ , \mathcal{K}_- and a unitary operator $U: (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n} \otimes (\mathcal{K}_+ \oplus \mathcal{K}_-) \to \mathcal{H}$ such that for $i = 1 \dots n$ it holds

$$U\left(S_{i}\sigma_{i}^{x}\otimes I_{\mathcal{K}_{+}\oplus\mathcal{K}_{-}}\right)U^{\dagger} = \mathfrak{s}_{2i-1},$$
$$U\left(S_{i}\sigma_{i}^{y}\otimes I_{\mathcal{K}_{+}\oplus\mathcal{K}_{-}}\right)U^{\dagger} = \mathfrak{s}_{2i},$$
$$U\left(S_{n+1}\otimes (I_{\mathcal{K}_{+}}\oplus I_{\mathcal{K}_{-}})\right)U^{\dagger} = \mathfrak{s}_{2n+1},$$

where $S_{n+1} = \sigma_0^z \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_n^z$.

Theorem (Fermionic Stone-von Neumann). Let V be an even-dimensional real Hilbert space, and \mathfrak{s} , \mathfrak{s}' be two irreducible representation of the CAR. They are unitarily equivalent.

Theorems 3 and 4 are extensively employed for the classification of FQCA as they allow us to trace back every Fermionic algebra to an irreducible representation of the CAR conjugated by a unitary operator. Moreover, all irreducible representation are unitarily equivalent to the Jordan-Wigner's, thus the dimension of every algebra representing the CAR over \mathbb{R}^n for *n* Majorana modes is $2^{n/2}$. The mathematical structure that best fits the representations of the CAR is the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra, which is presented in the next section.

1.2.5 \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebras

In § 1.2.1, we claimed that the Kraus operator of Fermionic transformation over *n* local Fermionic modes belong to the Fermionic algebra F^n . Here we develop the notion of \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra, also known as superalgebra, of which the Fermionic algebra is a particular case. Most notably, we state that a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra is a *sequence*

$$\mathcal{A} = (\mathcal{A}_0, \mathcal{A}_1),$$

where A_0 , A_1 are the complex spaces of even and odd operators, respectively. The sum of any two elements is defined if they feature the same parity, i.e. $F_p + G_p \in A_p$ for F_p , $G_p \in A_p$ and p = 0, 1. On the other hand, the algebra product is defined between any two operators $F_p \in A_p$, $G_q \in A_q$ such that $F_pG_q \in A_{p\oplus q}$. We presented a definition that is a slight revision of the graded algebra according to ref. [MB99]. That differs from the usual one by means of the direct sum $A = A_0 \oplus A_1$ in that it forbids the sum of operators with different parity. For two graded algebras, the most important construction is their graded tensor product: given any two \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} , we denote their graded tensor product as $\mathcal{A} \boxtimes \mathcal{B}$. It is indeed a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra whose *n*-th term is defined as

$$(\mathfrak{A} \boxtimes \mathfrak{B})_n \coloneqq \bigoplus_{p \oplus q = n} (\mathfrak{A}_p \otimes \mathfrak{B}_q),$$

that is

$$(\mathcal{A} \boxtimes \mathcal{B})_0 \coloneqq (\mathcal{A}_0 \otimes \mathcal{B}_0) \oplus (\mathcal{A}_1 \otimes \mathcal{B}_1), (\mathcal{A} \boxtimes \mathcal{B})_1 \coloneqq (\mathcal{A}_0 \otimes \mathcal{B}_1) \oplus (\mathcal{A}_1 \otimes \mathcal{B}_0).$$

Let $F \in A_p$, $G \in \mathcal{B}_q$ be two operators of parities p, q, their graded tensor product is $F \boxtimes G \in A_p \otimes \mathcal{B}_q$ and by extension $F \boxtimes G \in (A \boxtimes \mathcal{B})_{p \oplus q}$. The map $A_p \times \mathcal{B}_q \to (A \boxtimes \mathcal{B})_{p \oplus q}$ is bilinear for every p, q and the family of such bilinear products is universal, see ref. [MB99].

In so doing, the parity superselection rule excludes both sums of vectors such as $|0\rangle + |1\rangle$, but also that of operators. For instance, in our setup $\varphi + \varphi^{\dagger}\varphi$ does not belong to F. Such a description is especially effective when dealing with *-homomorphisms, as they preserve both the parity and the adjointness and all operators are thus granted to be of definite parity.

In chapter 4 we are interested in describing the commutation and anticommutation relation of operators belonging to the Fermionic algebra \mathcal{F} . The natural definition of graded commutator then arises for a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra \mathcal{A} that reads

$$\{\![F_p, G_q]\!\} \coloneqq F_p G_q + (-1)^{pq} G_q F_p \tag{1.11}$$

for two operators $F_p \in A_p$, $G_q \in A_q$. In particular, the graded commutator reduces to the anti-commutator if both operators are odd, and to the usual commutator otherwise. Please note that the graded-, anti-, and usual commutator are all well-defined within a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra A as they all respect the property of $\{\![F_p, G_q]\!\} \in A_{p\oplus q}$ for every $F_p \in A_p$, $G_q \in A_q$.

Finally, we denote by \mathfrak{M}_n the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded full matrix algebra, namely the algebra of endomorphisms $End(\mathcal{F}^n)$ over the Fock space \mathcal{F}^n .

Chapter 2

Quantum Cellular Automata

With the term cellular automaton (CA) we refer to a class of *algorithms* that are able to process information distributed on a regular grid in a *local* fashion. The original definition consists of a set of discrete sites properly arranged on a lattice, each of them being in a state belonging to a finite set. The CA is then the *rule of evolution* of the cells' configuration, it occurs in discrete time steps, and respects some notion of locality. Locality is indeed the cornerstone of cellular automata and is implemented by introducing the cell neighborhood, namely a finite set of cells whose state *influences* that of the cell at next time step. Thereby, the evolution of a given cell at time t + 1 depends only on the state at time t of those cells actually being its neighbors, see fig. 2.1.

Stanisław M. Ulam and John von Neumann first introduced the notion of cellular automaton in the early 1950s as a theoretical tool for analyzing and describing natural phenomena. Both of them were working at the Los Alamos National Laboratory, where S. M. Ulam was studying models of crystal growth while J. von Neumanm was working on the problem self-replicating systems, i.e. mechanisms by which a system can produces a copy of itself. Von Neumann, on suggestion of S. Ulam, proved that a cellular automaton is computationally universal and could be used to construct a Turing machine [VB66]. Moreover, its instructions could be the duplication of its own structure, and even of its instructions, thereby functioning as a self-reproducing device.

Cellular automata proved to be valuable models for describing physical phenomena, such as fluid dynamics, molecular interactions, bacteria colonies, traffic jams, and many other, thanks to their full control and clear definition of interaction locality. The subject has been further popularized as the British mathematician John Horton Conway published the "Game of Life" in Martin Gardner's October 1970 column in Scientific American [Gar70]. Conway's Game of Life is a particular CA describing the evolution of an infinite two-dimensional grid of square cells—each being either alive or dead—that interacts with its eight neighbors, see fig. 2.1. Although the rule of evolution is rather naive, the model is able to exhibits an astonishing variety of behaviors depending on the initial state of the grid. Most notably, from the definition of simple *local rules*, which in principle say nothing whatsoever about the global behavior, the Game of Life let grid configurations evolve that may stay still, oscillate, or move at constant speeds indefinitely.

Cellular automata rose to the status of full-fledged scientific discipline only a decade after, when in the early 1980s the physicist Stephen Wolfram initiated the first serious formalization program, see ref. [Wol83] and later extension of ref. [CY88]. Some CAs have been proven to be computationally universal, see refs. [Tof77; MH89; Wol02], namely they are able to simulate any Turing machine. This last model describes an abstract machine that manipulates symbols on a strip of tape according to a table of rules in a sequatial manner. In spite of it, cellular automata represent a model for *massive parallel computation*, as their evaluation implies the evolution of the whole grid.

The CA features may allow to describe the physical evolution of systems, but their classical nature prevented their diffusion as a models of theoretical physics. The natural way to overtake this limitation is the extension of the automaton notion to the quantum realm as suggested by Feynman in ref. [Fey82]. This resulted in the so called quantum cellular automaton (QCA) where the classical systems are superseded by quantum systems in local unitary interaction. The rigorous framework has been developed in two distinct formulations: the finite configurations of Hilbert space where the QCA is evaluated in the customary Schrödinger picture onto states, or in terms of the quasi-local algebra of observables. The latter case is here introduced and first presented in ref. [SW04].

In the present chapter we shortly review the common notation and concepts of classical CAs, as they laid the foundation for the subsequent development of QCA. We then thoroughly cover the main result of the theory of quantum cellular automata. Namely, we deal with the definition of quasi-local algebra of observables and homomorphism thereof. Some valuable results required for the next chapters 3 and 4 are presented, among which the structure theorem [ANW11] and the index theorem [Gro+12].



Figure 2.1: Pictorial representation of a CA over a two-dimensional array of cells. The cellular automaton is the rule of evolution of the configuration from time t to time t + 1, the state of a given cell is computed from that of their neighboring ones. In particular, the example depicts the evolution of Conway's Game of Life. Each cell—to be considered as a *living* cell—may be either dead or alive and interacts with its eight neighbors according to the following evolutionary rule: i) any live cell with fewer than two live neighbors dies, as if caused by under-population; ii) any live cell with two or three live neighbors lives on to the next generation; iii) live cell with more than three live neighbors dies, as if by overcrowding; iv) any dead cell with exactly three live neighbors becomes a live cell, as if by reproduction.

2.1 Classical Cellular Automata

The present work mostly covers topics pertaining to QCAs and FQCAs. Nonetheless, both frameworks have solid foundations build upon classical cellular automata. For this reason, we hereafter list the principal notions required for dealing with CA, along with some notable results of the field.

- **Grid** Let a grid be a finitely generated group *X*, namely a group with a finite set of generators $G \subseteq X$ such that $\forall x \in X$, $x = g_1 \cdots g_n$ for some $g_i \in G \cup G^{-1}$. Each element $x \in X$ of the grid is called a site.
- **Cayley graph** Given a grid *X* and its generators *G*, we can associate a graph $\Gamma(X, G)$ where the vertices are the elements of the group *X* and the edges are $\{(n, ng) \mid n \in X, g \in G\}$. A color may be assigned to each generator $g \in G$.

Example. The following grids are all Abelian and regular:

- $X = \mathbb{Z}, G = \{g\}$ where $g : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}, z \mapsto z + 1$
- $X = \mathbb{Z}^d$ for $G = \{g_1, \dots, g_d\}$ where g_i increments the *i*-th coordinate by one.
- **Neighborhood** We state that any finite subset $N_0 \subseteq X$ is a neighborhood of the identity element $e \in X$. Given a site $x \in X$, $N_x := xN_0$ is the neighborhood of x.

Example. Some well-known neighborhood schemes are:

Von Neumann's $N_x := \{y \in \mathbb{Z}^d \mid ||x - y||_1 \le 1\}$, cf. fig. 2.2a. **Moore's** $N_x := \{y \in \mathbb{Z}^d \mid ||x - y||_{\infty} \le 1\}$, cf. fig. 2.2b.

- **Configuration space** Let a finite set *A* accommodate all possible states of a single site $x \in X$, the set *A* is also known as alphabet. A state or configuration is a function $c : X \to A, x \mapsto c(n) \in A$. We identify with $A^X = \{c : X \to A\}$ the configuration space.
- **Shift** The left-action of X on the configuration space A^X , also known as X-shift, is defined as

$$\sigma: X \times A^X \to A^X$$
$$(x, c) \mapsto c' = xc$$

such that $xc(y) \coloneqq c(x^{-1}y)$.





(a) Von Neumann's neighborhood.

(b) Moore's neighborhood.

Figure 2.2: Graphical representation of two neighborhood schemes in the 2D lattice \mathbb{Z}^2 . Each box represents a site on the grid, the site *x* is painted in black whereas the neighborhood N_x in gray.

Local and global rules A local rule is defined over a grid (X, G), a neighborhood N_0 , and an alphabet A as the function

$$\tau_0: A^{N_0} \to A.$$

On the other hand, given a local rule τ_0 we can always evaluate a global rule

 $\tau: A^X \to A^X$

such that for every $c \in A^X$, $x \in X$

$$\tau(c)(x) \coloneqq \tau_0 \Big(x^{-1} c \big|_{N_0} \Big).$$

Namely, the global rule is computed by firstly shifting the configuration so that x is in the origin e and the neighborhood $N_x \mapsto N_0 = x^{-1}N_x$, then by restricting the configuration to the neihborhood only, where we can safely evaluate the local rule τ_0 .

Cellular automaton A CA is a tuple (X, N_0, A, τ_0) , where X is a finitely generated group, N_0 is a finite subset of X, A is a finite set of local states, and $\tau_0 : A^{N_0} \to A$ a local function

A defining property of CAs is the concept of locality, which cannot be rigorously stated without the notion of shift. Indeed, it can be shown that the property of commuting with the shifts is structural for CAs.

Theorem (X-equivariance). Let (X, N_0, A, τ_0) be a cellular automaton and τ its global function. Then τ commutes with all shifts.

Furthermore, the same property is defining.

Theorem. Let (X, N_0, A, τ_0) be a cellular automaton. The map $\tau : A^X \to A^X$ is the global rule of (X, N_0, A, τ_0) iff τ commutes with all X-shifts and $\tau(c)(e) = \tau_0(c|_{N_0})$.

We report here a milestone of the theory of classical cellular automata, i.e. the structure theorem or Curtis–Hedlund–Lyndon theorem, that allows to classify all CA in terms of their global rule. For this purpose, we introduce the topological space (A, \mathcal{T}) where we equip the alphabet A with the discrete topology. We can then extend it to the pro-discrete topology for the configuration space by considering $(A^X, \tilde{\mathcal{T}})$ where

 $\tilde{\mathcal{T}} := \{ U = \prod_{x \in X} U_x | U_x \subset \mathcal{T}, U_x = A \text{ for all but a finite number of indices} \}.$

Moreover, by defining the Cantor metric on A^X as $d(c_1, c_2) := \frac{1}{k+1}$ if k is finite and 0 otherwise, where $k := \inf\{r : c_1|_{B_r} \neq c_2|_{B_r}\}$ and B_r denotes the ball of radius r around e, one may introduce the Cantor topology on A^X as that induced by the Cantor metric d.

Theorem (Curtis–Hedlund–Lyndon theorem). Consider a finitely generated group X, a finite alphabet A, and an endomorphism $\tau : A^X \to A^X$, where A^X is equipped with the pro-discrete topology. The map τ is the global rule of a CA iff τ is continuous with respect to the Cantor topology and commutes with the shift operators, i.e. it is X-equivariant.

2.2 Quantum Cellular Automata

Formalizing cellular automata that evolves grids made of quantum systems is not an easy task. We introduce here the definition of QCA as in ref. [SW04], where the action of the automaton is described as the evolution of the observable algebra in the Heisenberg picture.

Let *X* be a grid of systems, we indicate with P(X) the set of all subsets of *X* and with $P_F(X)$ the set of all finite subsets of *X*. For every site $x \in X$ there is a *d*-dimensional quantum system, whose observables belong to the full-matrix algebra $A_x := \mathfrak{M}_d(\mathbb{C})$. Given $\Lambda \in P_F(X)$ a finite collection of sites, the observable algebra of the corresponding quantum systems is

$$\mathcal{A}(\Lambda) \coloneqq \bigotimes_{x \in \Lambda} \mathcal{A}_x = \bigotimes_{x \in \Lambda} \mathfrak{M}_d(\mathbb{C}).$$
(2.1)

Indeed, $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ is a well-defined C*-algebra generated by all observables acting only on the sites $x \in \Lambda$ and trivially elsewhere. The fact that Λ is a

finite subset of X is here crucial, as it grants the product C^{*}-algebra having a non-divergent operator norm.¹

The construction of eq. (2.1) provides us with a net of local algebras, which respects the following properties:

- Let Λ₁, Λ₂ ∈ P_F(X) be two finite subsets of sites such that Λ₁ ⊆ Λ₂, the algebra A(Λ₁) ⊆ A(Λ₂) is a C*-subalgebra. Most notably, we claim that A(Λ₁) ⊗ I<sub>Λ₂-Λ₁ ≅ A(Λ₂).
 </sub>
- For every A ∈ A(Λ₁) and B ∈ A(Λ₂), the product AB ∈ A(Λ₁ ∪ Λ₂) is well-defined by extending the operators to A⊗I_{Λ₂}, I_{Λ₁}⊗B, respectively.
- We say that the assignment $\Lambda \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\Lambda)$ is *local*, namely for every $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \in P_F(X)$ where $\Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2 = \emptyset$ it holds

$$[\mathcal{A}(\Lambda_1), \mathcal{A}(\Lambda_2)] = 0.$$

If we collect the algebras $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda)$ altogether, we come to the local or strictly local observables

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{local}} \coloneqq \bigcup_{\Lambda \in P_F(X)} \mathcal{A}(\Lambda).$$

This is a C*-algebra and its norm is induced by that of each $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda)$. In terms of this norm we now consider the completion of the local observables.

Definition (Quasi-local algebra). We define the quasi-local algebra of observables as the completion

$$\mathcal{A} \coloneqq \overline{\mathcal{A}_{\text{local}}}$$
,

with respect to the norm induced by $A(\Lambda)$, $\forall \Lambda \in P_F(X)$.

The most natural interpretation of the quasi-local algebra A is the collection containing all possible observables that can be arbitrary approximated by local observables A_{local} , namely observables defined in finite regions of the grid X. Indeed, if $A \in A(\Lambda)$ for some $\Lambda \in P_F(X)$, we say that A is localized in Λ . Coherently, the smallest $\Lambda \in X$ such that $A \in A(\Lambda)$ is the support of A and designated as Supp(A).

¹In general the tensor product of C*-algebras is a C*-algebra, but the norm is not univocally defined. Nevertheless, for finite dimensional quantum systems the norm is unique, as in case of eq. (2.1). Most notably, for every C*-algebras $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_1)$, $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_2)$ on spaces $\mathcal{H}_1 := \mathbb{C}^{d_1}$, $\mathcal{H}_2 := \mathbb{C}^{d_2}$, respectively, we have that $\mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_1) \otimes \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_2) \cong \mathfrak{B}(\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2)$.

To rigorously define a quantum cellular automaton, we need to known what kind of maps between observables do not break the algebra structure. Most notably, we say that a function $\alpha : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a homomorphism between C*-algebras if it is (i) linear, (ii) an algebra homomorphism, i.e. $\alpha(AB) = \alpha(A)\alpha(B)$, $\forall A, B \in \mathcal{A}$, and (iii) a *-homomorphism, namely $\alpha(A^{\dagger}) = \alpha(A)^{\dagger}$, $\forall A \in \mathcal{A}$. Whenever the inverse α^{-1} exists and is a homomorphism, we denote α as an isomorphism; in the same case, if $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B}$ then α is an automorphism of \mathcal{A} . If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are unital, we call α a unital homomorphism if $\alpha(I_{\mathcal{A}}) = I_{\mathcal{B}}$.

The quasi-local algebra plays here the role of the configuration space for classical automata. Indeed, we define the quantum shift of displacement $x \in X$ as the automorphism $\sigma_x : \mathcal{A}_y \to \mathcal{A}_{xy}, \forall y \in X$, and its extension to whole quasi-local algebra as $\sigma_x : \mathcal{A}(\Lambda) \to \mathcal{A}(x\Lambda), \forall \Lambda \subset X$. Within the current framework, see ref. [SW04], we introduce the axiomatic definition of a quantum cellular automaton.

Definition 1 (Quantum cellular automaton). Given a finitely generated group X, the quasi-local algebra of observables $\mathcal{A}(X)$, where the single site algebra correspond to the full-matrix one $\mathfrak{M}_d(\mathbb{C})$ for some d, and a finite neighborhood $N_0 \subseteq X$, a quantum cellular automaton is a tuple $(X, N_0, \mathcal{A}, \alpha)$, such that $\alpha : \mathcal{A}(X) \to \mathcal{A}(X)$ is (i) a unital *-homomorphism of the quasi-local algebra $\mathcal{A}(X)$, (ii) local, namely $\alpha(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)) \subseteq \mathcal{A}(N_\Lambda)$, $\forall \Lambda \subseteq X$, and (iii) homogeneus, i.e. α commutes with all shifts σ_x , $\forall x \in X$.

We state that α is the *global rule* of the automaton. On the other hand, the *local rule* α_0 is the restriction of the global rule to the site *e*, namely $\alpha_0 := \alpha|_{\mathcal{A}_0} : \mathcal{A}_0 \to \mathcal{A}(N_0)$, see fig. 2.3. As such, the image $\alpha(\mathcal{A}_0)$ is a C^{*}algebra isomorphic to \mathcal{A}_0 however embedded in $\mathcal{A}(N_0)$. By shifting, we obtain the local rule $\alpha_x := \sigma_x \circ \alpha_0 \circ \sigma_x^{-1}$ at any site.

Some authors may define a quantum cellular automaton without requiring the homogeneity condition (iii) of definition 1. In that case, the QCA is a local and unital *-homomorphism over the quasi-local algebra of observables. Such a condition is even more general then it looks, as one may also drop the constraint of all sites representing the same quantum system, and have the dimension d(x) of the local algebra in eq. (2.1) depending on site $x \in X$. For instance, in § 2.2.2 we will address the index theorem, which has been introduced for inhomogeneous QCAs in ref. [Gro+12].

Unlike classical cellular automata, where we first define the local rule τ_0 and from it compute the global one τ , their quantum counterparts start from the definition of the QCA on the whole grid as a global rule α and then derives the local one α_0 as a restriction. However, there are some criteria to


Figure 2.3: Schematic representation of a nearest-neighbors quantum cellular automaton on the one-dimensional lattice \mathbb{Z} . The lowest layer of dots represents the sites at t = 0. The local rule α_0 then propagates the observable algebra \mathcal{A}_x of site x to that of its neighbors $N_x = \{x - 1, x, x + 1\}$ at t = 1, represented through the upper layer of dots. The constituent traits of a QCA are homogeneity and locality.

distinguish whether a local rule is really so and represents an admissible automaton.

Theorem 5. A unital homomorphism $\alpha_0 : \mathfrak{A}_0 \to \mathfrak{A}(N_0)$ is the local rule of a *QCA iff*

$$[\alpha(\mathcal{A}_0), \alpha_x(\mathcal{A}_x)] = 0, \quad \forall x \in X, x \neq e,$$
(2.2)

and with $\alpha_x := \sigma_x \circ \alpha_0 \circ \sigma_x^{-1}$. Moreover, the global rule α is uniquely determined by the local one α_0 .

Theorem 5 allows us to check whether an homomorphism is a QCA through checking only a finite number of conditions, i.e. eq. (2.2). A particularly interesting subclass of QCAs on qubits are those that map tensor products of Pauli matrices into tensor products of Pauli matrices. Such automata are called the Clifford QCAs, see refs. [SVW08; Güt+10], whereas in field theory these transformations are also known as quasi-free or Bogolyubov automorphisms, and in phase space quantum mechanics metaplectic transformations. They are an especially simple type of quantum cellular automata that does not allow a quantum computational speedup. Nonetheless, they show complex asymptotics and are basic ingredient for universal quantum computation.

Thanks to theorem 5, we come to the most notable result of QCA theory and its distinct discrepancy to the classical theory of CA, namely that the most relevant QCA are reversible. Before seeing that, we claim that given a QCA $(X, N_0, \mathcal{A}, \alpha)$ such that α is an automorphism, then $(X, N_0^{-1}, \mathcal{A}, \alpha^{-1})$ is a QCA as well. Moreover, we know that any unital *-homomorphism $\alpha : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is an automorphism if the algebra \mathcal{A} is finite dimensional and has a trivial center. Hence, we need to find those criteria that let us discern whether a local rule describes a QCA over a finite grid X. We say that a normal subgroup $\Gamma \triangleleft X$ of the grid X defines a *regular* quotient group $T = X/\Gamma$ with respect to the neighbor N_0 if

$$N_0 \cap N_x \neq \emptyset \Longrightarrow N_0 \cap N_{xt} = \emptyset \quad \forall x \in X, t \in T.$$

Namely, if a subgroup *T* of the grid *X* is large enough to check the conditions eq. (2.2) without letting them overlap each other, and thus distorting them, we can say that a local rule \mathcal{A}_0 represents a QCAs on *T* as well. However, in case of finite cardinality *T* we claim that the QCA is an automorphism.

Theorem 6 (Wrapped QCA). Given a quantum cellular automaton $(X, N_0, \mathcal{A}, \alpha)$ such that there exists a finite, regular quotient group T of the grid X. Then we can define a QCA on T having the same local rule.

For an extensive proof see refs. [SW04; Per20]. As a corollary of theorem 6, any QCA defined on a grid X respecting the conditions of theorem 6 is an automorphism. Most notably, QCAs defined on $X = \mathbb{Z}^n$ are automorphisms.

2.2.1 Structure theorem

As for CA, the quantum cellular automata represents a paradigm for massive *parallel* information processing. We may then wonder whether it is possible to conciliate such a description with the more customary one of quantum computation through quantum circuits. It is indeed feasable to implement a QCA through quantum gates, but we need first to introduce the appropriate definition of what is called a finite-depth quantum cellular automaton.

Definition 2. (Finite-depth QCA) A quantum cellular automaton $\alpha : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a finite-depth QCA if there exists a finite depth quantum circuit that implements it. More specifically, there exists a unitary operator U such that $\alpha : \chi \mapsto U^{\dagger}\chi U$, and $U = U_d \cdots U_1$ for some U_i . The subscripts denote the quantum circuit depth, and for each them $U_i = \prod_{\Lambda \in P_i} V_{\Lambda}^i$ such that P_i are some disjoint partitions of X and V_{Λ}^i are unitaries with support on \mathcal{A}_{Λ} .

Please note that the products of each $U_i = \prod_{\Lambda \in P_i} V_{\Lambda}^i$ is well-defined, since the operators V_{Λ}^i commute for every depth *i* as their supports are disjoint. In the particular case of $X = \mathbb{Z}^n$, we say that a QCA is partitioned if it is implementable through a finite-depth quantum circuit as of definition 2 where the maximum depth d = 2. In such a case, we have $U = U_2 U_1$, where

 $U_1 = \bigotimes_{2\mathbb{Z}^n} V$, $U_2 = \sigma^{-1} U_1 \sigma$ for a unitary matrix V on 2^n cells and the diagonal shift $\sigma \coloneqq \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_n$. The matrix V is also known as the scattering matrix of the partitioned QCA.

In the following, we prove the structure theorem for quantum cellular automata, see ref. [ANW11]. The result tells us that every QCA can be implemented through a localized finite-depth quantum circuit as long as we take advantage of ancillary systems.

Definition. (Ancilla implementation) A finite-depth quantum circuit U implements a unitary operator V through the ancillary system M if there exists a unitary matrix W acting only on ancillas such that $U = V \boxtimes W$. Consequently, a unitary operator U implements a QCA using ancillas if $\alpha \boxtimes \beta : A \mapsto U^{\dagger}AU$ for some β acting only onto the ancillary system.

In ref. [ANW11], the authors proved that for arbitrary unitary and causal evolution the automaton can be described through local and finitedepth circuits, even in the absence of the requirement of shift-invariance as in item (iii) of definition 1. To prove the claim we make extensive use of ancillas, namely we introduce a whole ancillary grid X so that the QCA is defined on $\tilde{X} := X \sqcup X = X \times \{o, a\}$. We denote by the subscript *o* the sites of the original grid whilst by *a* that of the ancillary one. Let *s* be the generator of \tilde{X} that maps the sites between grids, namely $s : X_o \to X_a$, we then have that the neighborhood scheme \tilde{N}_0 for the grid \tilde{X} is N_x itself for $x \in X_o$ and $sN_{s^{-1}x}$ for $x \in X_a$. We promptly see that \tilde{N}_0 commutes with *s*.

Theorem 7 (Structure theorem). Let α be a reversible QCA on $\mathcal{A}(X)$ and denote by S_x the swap operator on system $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}(x) \coloneqq \mathcal{A}(x) \otimes \mathcal{A}(x)$, then there exists some operators

$$U_x \coloneqq (I_{\mathcal{F}(x)} \otimes \alpha)(S_x)$$

that are unitary, commuting, and localized on $N_x \sqcup \{x\}$. Their product then define the QCA $(\tilde{X}, \tilde{N}_0, \tilde{A}, \tilde{\alpha})$ where

$$\tilde{\alpha}: \tilde{\mathcal{A}} \to \tilde{\mathcal{A}}$$
$$\chi \mapsto \left(\prod_{x} U_{x}^{\dagger}\right) \chi \left(\prod_{y} U_{y}\right)$$

such that for every $\chi \in \mathcal{A}$

$$\tilde{\alpha}(\chi \otimes I) = I \otimes \alpha(\chi), \qquad \qquad \tilde{\alpha}(I \otimes \chi) = \alpha^{-1}(\chi) \otimes I.$$

One may wonder what is the maximum depth of the circuit that implements a given QCA. The answer lays in a well result of graph theory, since the problem is that of "tiling" the grid the partitions so as to wholly cover it, also known as the L(1,1)-labeling problem for graphs. Hence, the maximum depth is deg² Γ + 1, where the graph Γ is that of vertices X and edges $\{(x,y)|x \in X, y \in N_x\}$, whereas the additional layer is due to the swap gates.

Theorem 7 is a specialized version of the general result presented in ref. [ANW11] for QCAs. Quantum cellular automata are *ibidem* a special case of unitary and *causal* operators defined in grids whose element are vertices of an arbitrary graph. More specifically, the grid is a directed graph $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{E})$ where the countable set X contains the nodes of the graph whereas the edges—i.e. a subset of $X \times X$ —define the neighborhood scheme as $N_x := \{y | (x, y) \in \mathcal{E}\}.$

Finally, for the sake of completeness we shortly present the problem of universality in the framework of QCA. To truly assert that quantum cellular automata are algorithms for quantum computation we show that any circuit of quantum gates can be implemented through a QCA. Indeed, it has been shown that quantum Turing machines and quantum circuits are polynomially equivalent computational models, see refs. [Chi93; MW19], and that quantum Turing machines are equivalent to QCA with a constant slowdown ref. [Wat95]. A particulary exemplificative model has been introduce in ref. [Rau05a], where were a specific scattering matrix V can be programmed through an ancillary grid to execute any gate belonging to the universal set { H, T, C_{NOT} } of ref. [Boy+00], where $H = 1/\sqrt{2}(X + Z)$ is the Hadamard gate, $T = \sqrt[4]{Z}$, and C_{NOT} is two qubit controlled-NOT. For additional reading see refs. [SFW06; Rau05a; Rau05b]. An analogous problem is that of intrinsic universality, namely the ability of an automaton to implement any other QCAs, see ref. [AG10].

2.2.2 Index theory

Three main perspectives are of particular interest in the task of classification of quantum cellular automata: the group structure, the local circuit structure, and the topological structure of QCAs. Indeed, any two automata defined over a given grid X with the same cell structure can be composed to produce a new QCA, moreover every automaton has an inverse for sufficient hypothesis on the grid X. Surprisingly enough, the group structure is more tricky to define in finite grids. Here, multiple application of a QCA lead to a neighborhood scheme comparable in size to the whole grid, thus rendering the very idea of locality moot. Furthermore, thanks to theorem 7 we showed that every QCA can be implemented through a finite-depth quantum circuit. We may then wonder if it is possible to quantify the minimum amount of ancillas required to describe the action of the automaton in terms of finite-depth circuits. Lastly, one can define a path equivalence between two QCAs such that they can be continually and locally deformed into each other. That is a classification up to homotopy.

In the simpler case of $X = \mathbb{Z}$ and for an inhomogeneus quantum cellular automaton α without shift invariance, all three structures can be described in term the quantity ind α known as index of α , see ref. [Gro+12]. The index is a positive rational number \mathbb{Q}^+ that can be computed locally, and it is constant on the whole lattice \mathbb{Z} even if the QCAs is not shift invariant. A property is said to be locally computable for an automaton α having neighborhood N if it can be computed by restricting α to any interval region $I \subset \mathbb{Z}$ such that |I| > |N|. The set of locally computable invariants is an Abelian group.

The index estimates the amount of ancillary system required by a QCA to be implementable through a finite-depth quantum circuit. Indeed, for ind $\alpha = 1$ we do not require any ancillary system at all and the automaton α can be continually and locally deformed to the trivial one.

The index and the index theorem describe the action of quantum cellular automata in terms of their support algebras, which we introduce hereafter.

Definition 3 (Support algebra). Let \mathcal{B}_1 and \mathcal{B}_2 be two finite-dimensional C^{*}-algebras and $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}_1 \otimes \mathcal{B}_2$ a subalgebra. The support algebra $\mathcal{C} = S(\mathcal{A} \text{ on } \mathcal{B}_1)$ is the smallest subalgebra $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}_1$ such that $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{C} \otimes \mathcal{B}_2$.

Theorem 8. Let \mathcal{B}_1 , \mathcal{B}_2 , \mathcal{B}_3 , and $\mathcal{A}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{B}_1 \otimes \mathcal{B}_2$, $\mathcal{A}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathcal{B}_3$ be C*-algebras. If \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 commute in $\mathcal{B}_1 \otimes \mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathcal{B}_3$, then so commute $S(\mathcal{A}_1 \text{ on } \mathcal{B}_2)$ and $S(\mathcal{A}_2 \text{ on } \mathcal{B}_2)$ in \mathcal{B}_2 .

Proof. For some bases $\{E_i\}$, $\{F_j\}$ of \mathfrak{B}_1 , \mathfrak{B}_3 , respectively, and let $A \in \mathfrak{A}_1$ and $A' \in \mathfrak{A}_2$. The two operators A, A' can be expanded uniquely as

$$A = \sum_{i} E_{i} \otimes A_{i}, \qquad \qquad A' = \sum_{j} A'_{j} \otimes F_{j}.$$

Then by hypothesis

$$[A \otimes I, I \otimes A'] = \sum_{ij} E_i \otimes [A_i, A'_j] \otimes F_j.$$

Since the terms $E_i \otimes F_j$ are a basis of $\mathfrak{B}_1 \otimes \mathfrak{B}_3$ the expansion is unique and $[A_i, A'_j] = 0$ for every *i*, *j*. The same applies to the algebras generated by A_i , A'_j , that are the support algebras $S(\mathfrak{A}_1 \text{ on } \mathfrak{B}_2)$ and $S(\mathfrak{A}_2 \text{ on } \mathfrak{B}_2)$, respectively.

Intuitively, the index measures the mean information flux to the left or to the right as a ratio between the dimensions of two support algebras. We now define them as

$$\mathcal{L}_{2x} := S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}(\{2x, 2x+1\}) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}(\{2x-1, 2x\})),$$
(2.3)

$$\Re_{2x} \coloneqq S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}(\{2x, 2x+1\}) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}(\{2x+1, 2x+2\}),$$
(2.4)

that disassemble the image of $\mathcal{A}(\{2x, 2x+1\}) = \mathcal{A}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{2x+1}$, see fig. 2.4.

Theorem 9 (Index theorem). For every QCA on $X = \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathfrak{R}_x := \mathfrak{M}_{d(x)}$, the support algebras satisfy $\mathfrak{L}_{2x} \cong \mathfrak{M}_{l(2x)}$, $\mathfrak{R}_{2x} \cong \mathfrak{M}_{r(2x)}$. Furthermore, the index of the automaton α is defined as

ind
$$\alpha \coloneqq \frac{r(2x-1)}{d(2x-1)} = \frac{d(2x)}{l(2x)} = \frac{r(2x+1)}{d(2x+1)} = \dots$$
 (2.5)

The quantity is locally computable and everywhere constant, i.e. it is independent of site x.

Proof. We need to prove that

$$\alpha(\mathfrak{A}_{2x} \otimes \mathfrak{A}_{2x+1}) \cong \mathfrak{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathfrak{R}_{2x}.$$
(2.6)

and

$$\mathcal{R}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{L}_{2(x+1)} \cong \mathcal{R}_{2x+1} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2(x+1)}$$
(2.7)

Starting from the former, we have by definition that $\alpha(A_{2x} \otimes A_{2x+1}) \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2x}$. To show that also the inverse is true we observe that the center of $\mathcal{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2x}$ is trivial. Indeed, by contradiction, let $W \in Z(\mathcal{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2x})$ be an element of the center non-proportional to the identity *I*, i.e. [W, A] = 0 for every element $A \in \mathcal{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2x}$. Nonetheless, *W* must then commute with $\alpha(A_{2x} \otimes A_{2x+1})$ and $\alpha(A_{2x+1} \otimes A_{2(x+1)})$ as well, the latter thanks to theorem 8. By the very same argument, *W* must commute with all images $\alpha(A_{2y} \otimes A_{2y+1})$ and $\alpha(A_{2y+1} \otimes A_{2(y+1)})$ for every $y \in \mathbb{Z}$, that altogether sum to the quasi-local algebra $\alpha(A)$. Thus, we come to a contradiction since the quasi-local algebra has a trivial center. Thanks to eq. (2.6), we know that

$$d(2x)d(2x+1) = l(2x)r(2x).$$
(2.8)

On the other hand, one can prove eq. (2.7) in a similar fashion. As a matter of fact, \mathcal{R}_{2x} and $\mathcal{L}_{2(x+1)}$ do have to commute in $\mathcal{A}_{2x+1} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{2(x+1)}$, as so do the image under automaton of $\mathcal{A}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{2x+1}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{2(x+1)} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{2(x+1)+1}$ and theorem 8 holds. However, \mathcal{R}_{2x} and $\mathcal{L}_{2(x+1)}$ are the only support algebras of



Figure 2.4: The one-dimensional grid \mathbb{Z} is represented in the picture as a layer of dots, the lower one being that at time *t* whereas the upper one at time *t* + 1 after applying the automaton α . For discussing the index theorem, see theorem 9, the automaton acts on the obsevables of site pairs (2x, 2x + 1). The images are then split into the support algebras $\mathcal{L}_{2x} \otimes \mathcal{R}_{2x}$.

the image of α localized in $\mathcal{A}_{2x+1} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{2(x+1)}$, and the last must be included in the image α since the automaton is an automorphism. As a consequence, we have here as well that

$$r(2x)l(2(x+1) = d(2x+1)d(2(x+1)).$$
(2.9)

Combining eqs. (2.8) and (2.9) toghether we have the thesis eq. (2.5). \Box

Example. The *d*-shift σ_d has d(x) = d, $r(2x) = d^2$ and l(2x) = 1, $\forall x \in \mathbb{Z}$, thus index ind $\sigma_p = d^2/d = d$.

The index allows us to classify quantum cellular automata modulo translations. It is indeed an group homomorphism between QCAs $\{\alpha, \circ\}$ with composition and the positive rational number $\{\mathbb{Q}^+, \cdot\}$ with multiplication. At the same time, the index of the tensor product of two QCAs $\alpha \otimes \beta$, which is still a quantum cellular automaton on the joint grid, is the product of the two indices, i.e. $\operatorname{ind}(\alpha \otimes \beta) = \operatorname{ind} \alpha \operatorname{ind} \beta$. The most striking result notwithstanding, is that QCAs featuring ind = 1 are implementable through finite-depth quantum circuits *without ancillary systems*. This can be seen from eqs. (2.6) and (2.7), which allows for some automorphisms to be defined in case of equipartite dimensions. Such automorphisms are unitary matrices for the two layer block decomposition.

Many attempts to generalize the result of theorem 9 in ref. [Gro+12] to other grids have been proposed, see refs. [FH20; Haa21; FHH22; HFH22].

Chapter 3 The *T*-process

Quantum cellular automata are rigorous and effective theoretical tools for describing massive parallel quantum information processing. Indeed, the model is able to give meaning to statements such as computation over a possibly infinite number of systems concurrently, and homogeneous i.e. translation invariant-interactions. Such results are in fact essential for simulating and describing physical phenomena that evolve under those circumstances. Nevertheless, the treatment of such models is not always as straightforward as it gets. Due to its constitutional delocalization on the grid, QCAs are usually handled through the description of their local rule or the block decomposition when available. In the following, we present the *T*-operator—whose name is due to its domain being T-shaped—which represents the equivalent of the Choi operator for a QCA, cf. § 1.1.1. The operator bears all valuable information of the QCA evolution in a local fashion. Moreover, all T-operators are in one-to-one relationship with the quantum cellular automata, namely we provide the necessary and sufficient condition for a given T-operator to represent a valid QCA.

The *T*-operator and the *T*-process have been introduced in refs. [Per20; Per21] as mean for probing the causal influence of a given automaton. The result extends the construction of theorem 7, see ref. [ANW11], where we proved that for every automaton α the automorphism $\alpha \otimes \alpha^{-1}$ is implementable through a finite-depth quantum circuit. Such a result is corroborated in the simpler case of $X = \mathbb{Z}$ by the index theorem 9 of ref. [Gro+12], which confirms us the same thesis since $ind(\alpha \otimes \alpha^{-1}) = 1$. The results of the following chapter do not require the QCAs being homogeneous, as assumed in definition 1 instead.

3.1 A new definition of QCA

The dissertation of quantum cellular automata in chapter 2 rests on the rigorous notions of quasi-local algebra and its homomorphisms. A QCA is then required to preserve observables from one step to the next one. Nevertheless, the main property of an algebra homomorphism, i.e. $\alpha(AB) = \alpha(A)\alpha(B)$, has no operational interpretation in terms of effects, as neither a product nor a composition thereof is somehow meaningful.¹ The same does not apply for quantum operations, which are thoroughly defined through the Kraus theorem. Indeed, the composition of quantum operations leads to the multiplication of their Kraus operators. In turn, the Kraus operators of transformations live in an appropriate C*-algebra. A unital *-automorphism α then naturally induces a supermap \mathscr{A} that preserves both the composition and conic structure of transformations over a grid X, by mapping the Kraus operators { C_i } of any transformation C to $C'_i = \alpha(C_i)$ of a new map $\mathcal{C}' := \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})$. Such a definition of QCA is rigorously given in the present section.

Henceforth, we assume the automaton being an *automorphism* α of the quasi-local algebra, i.e. there exists an inverse homomorphism α^{-1} . We may then implement the supermap \mathscr{A} by conjugating every transformation \mathcal{C} with the automorphism α . Indeed, one can extend the definition of every automaton α to describe a quantum operation through its action onto effects in the Heisenberg picture, namely $\alpha : \text{Eff}(\Lambda) \to \text{Eff}(N_{\Lambda})$. Then the meaning of conjugating \mathcal{C} by α is easily understood if we evaluate the probability of the closed circuit

$$(E|\alpha^{-1}\mathcal{C}\alpha|\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho \ \alpha(C^{\dagger} \ \alpha^{-1}(E) \ C)] = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho \ \alpha(C)^{\dagger} \ E \ \alpha(C)] = (E|\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})|\rho)$$

for some state ρ , effect *E*, and transformation *C* with Kraus operator *C*. We have here defined with the same symbol α the automorphism and the quantum operation. The nature of the map is however clear from context.

An introductory example is the (right) shift σ . Most notably, let $x \in X$ and $\Lambda \subseteq X$, the shift σ_x is an automorphism of the quasi-local algebra as defined in chapter 2 such that $\sigma_x : \mathcal{A}(\Lambda) \to \mathcal{A}(\Lambda x)$. The shift supermap Σ_x instead conjugates any given transformation with the shift operation σ_x , i.e.

$$\Sigma_{x}: \operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda x \to \Lambda x)$$
$$\mathcal{B} \mapsto \sigma_{x}^{-1} \mathcal{B} \sigma_{x}.$$

¹There is no product of effects *E*, *E'* such that $Pr(\alpha(EE')|\rho) = Tr[\alpha(EE')\rho] = Tr[\alpha(E)\alpha(E')\rho]$ has sense for some density matrix ρ .

It is worth noting that both the transformation σ_x and the supermap Σ_x are well-defined in case of extension. Namely, let *C* be a quantum system, we can define the shift $\sigma_x \in \text{Transf}(\Lambda C \to (\Lambda x)C)$ by applying the automaton $\sigma_x \otimes I$ to Eff(ΛC). Equivalently, the supermap Σ_x : Transf($\Lambda C \to \Lambda C$) \longrightarrow Transf($(\Lambda x)C \to (\Lambda x)C$) then conjugates any given transformation with the extended channel σ_x . We are now ready to provide an extensive and general definition of QCA in terms of supermap, which also includes the shift Σ_x .

Definition 4 (Quantum cellular automaton). A QCA is a tuple (X, N_0 , A, \mathscr{A}), where X is a finitely generated group, $N_0 \subseteq X$ a finite subset of the grid defining the neighborhood scheme, A the quasi-local algebra over X, and the local rule \mathscr{A} is a supermap that satisfies for $\Lambda \subset X$:

1. *Locality:* \mathscr{A} is local and maps local transformation to local transformations according to the neighborhood scheme *N* of the grid, i.e.

$$\mathscr{A}_{\Lambda} : \operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Transf}(N_{\Lambda} \to N_{\Lambda}).$$
 (3.1)

Moreover, for $C \in \text{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda)$ and $\Lambda' \subset X$ it satisfies

$$\mathscr{A}_{\Lambda\cup\Lambda'}(\mathcal{C}\otimes\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda'-\Lambda})=\mathscr{A}_{\Lambda}(\mathcal{C})\otimes\mathcal{I}_{N(\Lambda'-\Lambda)}.$$
(3.2)

Homomorphism: A is a homomorphism of quantum operations, i.e. it preserves both its conic and multiplicative monoid structure. In particular, A is (a) linear, (b) maps atomic transformation to atomic transformation, and (c) for B,C ∈ Transf(Λ → Λ)

$$\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{B} \circ \mathcal{C}) = \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{B}) \circ \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C}). \tag{3.3}$$

3. (Optional) *Homogeneity:* 𝒴 is homogeneous, i.e. it commutes with all left shifts

$$\mathscr{S}_x$$
: Transf $(\Lambda \to \Lambda) \to \text{Transf}(x\Lambda \to x\Lambda) \quad \forall x \in X.$

All aforementioned properties must hold for any external quantum system C as well, namely \mathscr{A}_{Λ} satisfies \mathscr{A}_{Λ} : Transf $(\Lambda C \to \Lambda C) \longrightarrow \text{Transf}(N_{\Lambda}C \to N_{\Lambda}C)$ and eqs. (3.2) and (3.3).

Remark. The definition of \mathscr{A} onto only $\operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda)$ is no particular restriction. Actually, any transformation between a different number of sites can always be viewed as an operations on more sites such that the site number at input equals that at output, where some of them are left untouched. Moreover, in the special case of effects $\operatorname{Eff}(\Lambda) = \operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to I)$

the action of the automaton according to the two definitions is manifestly the same. Let $E \in \text{Eff}(\Lambda)$ and the transformation $\mathcal{E} \in \text{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda)$ with Kraus operators $\{E_i\}$ such that $E = \sum_i E_i^{\dagger} E_i$, then $(E|\alpha = (I|\mathcal{E}\alpha = (I|\alpha \alpha^{-1}\mathcal{E}\alpha = (I|\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{E}))))$

We now show that the definitions 1 and 4 describe the very same class of QCA and are thus equivalent. However, we first need the following lemma that applies a well-known result of abstract algebra to our case.

Theorem 10. Let A, B be two quantum systems, \mathscr{A} be a homomorphism of quantum operations, i.e. it is a quantum supermap

$$\mathscr{A}$$
: Transf $(A \to A)$ \longrightarrow Transf $(B \to B)$

such that it preserves atomicity and the composition of quantum operations

$$\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{BC}) = \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{B})\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})$$

for $\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C} \in \text{Transf}(A \to A)$. Then there exists a unique unital *-isomorphism

$$\alpha: \mathcal{A}_A \to \mathcal{A}_B$$

between the C^{*}-algebras of Kraus operators on systems A, B, specifically $\mathcal{R}_A := \operatorname{Eff}_{\mathbb{R}}(A)$ and $\mathcal{R}_B := \operatorname{Eff}_{\mathbb{R}}(B)$. Moreover, such isomorphism is spatial, namely there exits a unitary matrix $U : \mathcal{H}_B \to \mathcal{H}_A$ such that

$$\alpha: A \to U^{\dagger}AU.$$

Proof. The action α of a supermap onto the Kraus operators that preserves atomicity is linear as stated in theorem 1. Moreover, the Kraus map \Re of § 1.1.1 is here a monoidal isomorphism since transformations Transf $(A \rightarrow A)$, Transf $(B \rightarrow B)$ act from a system onto itself. We infer that $\alpha := \Re \mathscr{A} \Re^{-1}$ is an algebra homomorphism over the Kraus operators. However, every homomorphism over the full matrix algebra is an isomorphism. Furthermore, all isomorphisms between standard operator algebras on normed spaces are *spatial*. This is a well established result of abstract algebra, see refs. [Che73; Šem95].

Remark. Since the isomorphism α is spatial as a consequence of theorem 10, every quantum cellular automaton \mathscr{A} preserves the *group* structure of reversible quantum operations.

Theorem. The two definitions 1 and 4 are equivalent.

Proof. Let $(X, N_0, \mathcal{A}, \alpha)$ be a QCA according to definition 1 and $(X, N_0, \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ one as of definition 4. We then have that α is an automorphism of the quasi-local algebra of observables whereas \mathscr{A} is a supermap between quantum transformations onto the grid X.

 (\Rightarrow) Given an automorphism α we build our supermap as follows. For every transformation $\mathcal{C} \in \text{Transf}(\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \to \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda})$ we consider its minimal decomposition² in Kraus operators $\{C_i\}$ such that $\mathcal{C} : \rho \mapsto \sum_i C_i \rho C_i^{\dagger}$. The image of the automaton is then the transformation $\mathcal{C}' := \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})$ having Kraus operators $C'_i := \alpha(C_i)$, namely

$$\mathscr{A}: \left(\rho \mapsto \sum_{i} C_{i} \rho C_{i}^{\dagger}\right) \longmapsto \left(\rho \mapsto \sum_{i} \alpha(C_{i}) \rho \alpha(C_{i}^{\dagger})\right).$$

Thereby, the image transformation \mathcal{C}' is in fact linear and completelypositive thanks to the Kraus theorem. Moreover, the quantum operation \mathcal{C}' preserves the trace of states the same way \mathcal{C} does. Indeed, let \mathcal{D} be an atomic and deterministic quantum operation and D its only Kraus operator, then for $\mathcal{D}' := \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{D})$ we have that

$$(\mathcal{D}')^{\dagger}(I) = \alpha(D^{\dagger})I\alpha(D) = \alpha(D^{\dagger}D) = \alpha(I) = I,$$

since the automaton is unital, and thus $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{D}'(\rho)] = \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{D}(\rho)] = \operatorname{Tr}[\rho]$ for every density matrix ρ . Namely \mathcal{D}' is trace-preserving too. If \mathcal{D} is atomic but trace-non-increasing, only $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{D}'(\rho)] = \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{D}(\rho)]$ holds. The set of transformation is a cone and every quantum operation \mathcal{C} can be decomposed into a conical combination of atomic transformations \mathcal{D}_i such that $\mathcal{C} = \sum_i \mathcal{D}_i$. This way we observe that $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})(\rho)] = \sum_i \operatorname{Tr}[\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{D}_i)(\rho)] = \sum_i \operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{D}_i(\rho)] =$ $\operatorname{Tr}[\mathcal{C}(\rho)]$ for every transformation \mathcal{C} .

The supermap \mathscr{A} is indeed linear and granted to preserve the atomicity of transformations and adjointess. Thanks to the map α being an automorphism, the composition of transformations is preserved as well: given any two quantum operations $\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{D} \in \text{Transf}(\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \to \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda})$ with Kraus decompositions $\{C_i\}, \{D_j\}$, respectively, we have

$$\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C} \circ \mathcal{D})(\rho) = \sum_{ij} \alpha(C_i D_j) \rho \ \alpha(D_j^{\dagger} C_i^{\dagger})$$
$$= \sum_{ij} \alpha(C_i) \alpha(D_j) \rho \ \alpha(D_j)^{\dagger} \alpha(C_i)^{\dagger} = (\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C}) \circ \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{D}))(\rho)$$

²The Kraus decomposition is said to be minimal if all $\{C_i\}$ are linearly independent. In such a case, given any two Kraus sets $\{C_i\}$, $\{C_j\}$ of the same transformation C, there always exists an isometry V such that $V^{\dagger}V = I$ and $C_i = \sum_j V_{ij}C_j$. The action of the supermap \mathscr{A} is thus well-defined as the automorphism α is linear.

for every preparation $\rho \in St(\Lambda)$. This concludes the proof of item 2 of definition 4, viz. the supermap \mathscr{A} is a automorphism of quantum operations.

Thanks to the locality of the automaton α , the image transformation C' only acts on sites in the neighborhood of the original transformation C. Namely, $C' \in \text{Transf}(\mathcal{A}_{N(\Lambda)} \to \mathcal{A}_{N(\Lambda)})$ since $C_i \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$ and thus $\alpha(C_i) \in \mathcal{A}_{N(\Lambda)}$. On the other hand, the automorphism α commutes with all shifts σ_x by definition, thus the same does \mathscr{A} .

(\Leftarrow) To univocally derive an automorphism of the observable algebra from the automaton \mathscr{A} we focus on its action upon atomic transformations Transf_A($x \rightarrow x$) on single sites. The quantum operations Transf_A($x \rightarrow x$) span altogether the entire set of transformations on the whole grid Xthrough conic combinations, and at the same time their Kraus operators make up the quasi-local algebra of observables according to construction of § 2.2. We take here advantage of theorem 10. Let $\Lambda \subset X$ be a finite subset of sites,

$$\mathfrak{Q}_{\Lambda} \coloneqq \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda))$$

the algebra of quantum operations upon sites Λ and $\mathscr{A} : \mathfrak{Q}_{\Lambda} \to \mathscr{A}(\mathfrak{Q}_{\Lambda})$ the restriction of \mathscr{A} onto \mathfrak{Q}_{Λ} , where $\mathscr{A}(\mathfrak{Q}_{\Lambda}) \subset \mathfrak{Q}_{N(\Lambda)}$. We then have a bijection between \mathscr{A} and the isomorphism $\alpha_{\Lambda} : \mathfrak{R}_{\Lambda} \to \mathfrak{R}_{N(\Lambda)}$ for all Λ . Since the isomorphism α_x is spatial, we have that $\alpha_x(I_x) = I_{N(x)}$ and

$$[\alpha_{xv}(\mathcal{A}_x), \alpha_{xv}(\mathcal{A}_v)] = 0 \quad \forall x \neq y.$$

The two last expressions imply that α_x is the local rule of the automaton α thanks to theorem 5. The locality and homogeneity properties of α directly derive from properties 1, 3 of definition 4, respectively.

3.2 The *T*-operator

The automaton \mathscr{A} according to definition 4 must handle any system extension *C* to the grid *X*. In particular, if we consider an ancillary grid *X* as extension *C* = *X*, see fig. 3.1a, we can evaluate the action of the automaton onto transformations between the two grids. Such a property is of vital relevance for the definition of the *T*-operator.

We define the swap operator $S \in \text{Transf}(AA \rightarrow AA)$ for every quantum system *A* through its action onto atomic and factorized states $\rho \otimes \sigma$ as simply $S : \rho \otimes \sigma \mapsto \sigma \otimes \rho$, then the definition can be extended to any state St(*AA*) by linearity. Henceforth we denote by *S* the swap between the original and ancillary grid, whereas we say that S_x swaps the site $x \in X$ between the two grids, see fig. 3.1b. We have then the two following straightforward identities:

$$\mathcal{S} = \prod_{x \in X} \mathcal{S}_x, \qquad \qquad \alpha \otimes \alpha^{-1} = \mathcal{S}(\alpha^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{I}) \mathcal{S}(\alpha \otimes \mathcal{I}).$$

We are then ready to give a more suitable definition for the protocol of ref. [ANW11]. Namely, we introduce a procedure for locally implementing a QCA in terms of definition 4.

Definition 5 (*T*-operator). Let \mathscr{A} be a quantum cellular automaton, we define the *T*-operator as

$$\mathcal{T}_{x} := \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{S}_{x}) = (\alpha^{-1} \otimes \mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{x}(\alpha \otimes \mathcal{I}), \tag{3.4}$$

for $x \in X$, and α being the automaton automorphism of the quasi-local algebra.

The *T*-operator of the QCA is the conjugation of the swap operator on a given site *x* with the automaton, cf. fig. 3.1c. The result is an atomic transformation due to atomicity of composition. For the sake of clarity, we shall denote the transformation with the symbol T_x in calligraphy font whereas its only Kraus operator with the capital letter T_x .

By definition of neighborhood, the transformation \mathcal{T}_x acts only on sites $N_x \sqcup x$, namely on the neighborhood N_x on the original grid and on x on the ancillary one, and is thus localized. Since \mathscr{A} is a homomorphism of quantum operations and the swap transformation satisfies both $\mathcal{S}_x^2 = \mathcal{I}$ and $[\mathcal{S}_x, \mathcal{S}_y] = 0$ for every x, y, we obtain

$$T_x^2 = \mathcal{I} \tag{3.5}$$

$$[\mathcal{T}_x, \mathcal{T}_y] = 0, \tag{3.6}$$

for all x, y. Equations (3.5) and (3.6) are distinctive features of the Toperators and, as we shall see later, embed the commutation relations of
the automaton local rule. In general, thanks to eq. (3.6) the product

$$\mathcal{T}_{\Lambda} \coloneqq \prod_{x \in \Lambda} \mathcal{T}_x$$

is well-defined for $\Lambda \subseteq X$, and $\mathcal{T}_X = \mathcal{S}(\alpha^{-1} \otimes \alpha)$.

There are then two more characteristic properties of the *T*-operator that allows us to uniquely define its class among other transformations. Namely, for every transformation $C \in \text{Transf}(x \to x)$ for $x \in X$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}_{x}(\mathcal{I}\otimes\mathcal{C})\mathcal{T}_{x} &= (\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{x}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{I}\otimes\mathcal{C})(\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{x}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I}) \\ &= (\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{x}(\mathcal{I}\otimes\mathcal{C})\mathcal{S}_{x}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I}) = (\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{C}\otimes\mathcal{I})(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I}) = \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C})\otimes\mathcal{I}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.7)



(a) The automorphism α of the observable quasi-local algebra over the grid $X = \mathbb{Z}$ describes a quantum operation. In particular, the transformation can be extended to neglect any other quantum system *C*, here $C = \mathbb{Z}$ is an ancillary grid, which has been depicted as a one-dimensional lattice at the lower level.



(b) The operator S_x swaps two sites at position x in the main grid $X = \mathbb{Z}$ and in the ancillary one.



(c) The *T*-operator $T_x = \mathscr{A}(S_x)$ is defined as the image of the swap S_x under the action of the automaton \mathscr{A} of definition 4. The automaton conjugates the swap with the automorphism α . The domain and image of the transformation is then the neighborhood N_x in the original grid and the input site *x* in the ancillary one. In picture, for simplicity the neighborhood of α is $N_x = x - 1, x, x + 1$.

Figure 3.1: The automorphism α of the observable quasi-local algebra depicted in fig. (a) naturally defines a quantum transformation α^{\dagger} : Eff(Λ) \rightarrow Eff(N_{Λ}), $E \mapsto \alpha(E)$ in the Heisenberg picture for $\Lambda \subseteq X$, and N_0 the neighborhood. Thereby, we conjugate the swap operator S_x at site $x \in X$ of fig. (b) to obtain the *T*-operator in fig. (c).

and

$$\mathcal{T}_{N(x)}(\mathcal{C}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{T}_{N(x)} = (\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{N(x)}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{C}\otimes\mathcal{I})(\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{N(x)}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I})$$
$$(\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{N(x)}(\mathscr{A}^{-1}(\mathcal{C})\otimes\mathcal{I})\mathcal{S}_{N(x)}(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I})$$
$$= (\alpha^{-1}\otimes\mathcal{I})(\mathcal{I}\otimes\mathscr{A}^{-1}(\mathcal{C}))(\alpha\otimes\mathcal{I}) = (\mathcal{I}\otimes\mathscr{A}^{-1}(\mathcal{C})). \quad (3.8)$$

By accordingly conjugating any transformation C with the *T*-operators T_x we obtain the image of the automaton \mathscr{A} on the other grid. Therefore, the *T*-operator accommodates all the required information to describe the QCA.

Theorem 11. Let the transformations T_x act onto sites $N_x \sqcup x$, then the quantum operation T_x is the T-operator of a QCA \mathscr{A} according to definition 5 iff T_x satisfies:

- 1. $T_x^2 = \mathcal{I}$.
- 2. $[\mathcal{T}_x, \mathcal{T}_y] = 0 \ \forall x, y.$
- 3. Given any transformation $C \in \text{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda)$ for $\Lambda \subseteq X$, the conjugation with the operator \mathcal{T}_x is

$$\mathcal{T}_{\Lambda}(\mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{C})\mathcal{T}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{C}' \otimes \mathcal{I}, \qquad (3.9)$$

such that $\mathcal{C}' \in \operatorname{Transf}(N_{\Lambda} \to N_{\Lambda})$.

Proof. Given an automaton \mathscr{A} , we introduce the operator \mathcal{T}_x as in definition 5, then it satisfies properties 1, 2, and 2 as shown in eqs. (3.5), (3.6), and (3.7), respectively.

To prove the opposite we show that the map from C to C' in eq. (3.9) is indeed an automaton as of definition 4. We define for every $\Lambda \subseteq X$ the following supermaps

$$\mathscr{E}: \operatorname{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Transf}(X\Lambda \to X\Lambda)$$
$$\mathcal{C} \mapsto \mathcal{I} \otimes \mathcal{C},$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rho}: \operatorname{Transf}(N_{\Lambda}X \to N_{\Lambda}X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Transf}(N_{\Lambda} \to N_{\Lambda})$$
$$\mathcal{G} \mapsto (e_{X}|\mathcal{G}|\rho_{X}), \tag{3.10}$$

as encoder and decoder, respectively, where $e_X \in Eff_1(X)$ represents the deterministic effect and $\rho \in St_1(X)$ a deterministic state of the the ancillary grid. Please note that \mathscr{D}_{ρ} represents an effect in the higher-order quantum

theory that discards the ancillary grid, namely $(e_X |\mathcal{G}|\rho_X) |\tau_{N(\Lambda)}) = \operatorname{Tr}_X[\mathcal{G}(\rho_X \otimes \tau)] \in \operatorname{St}(N_\Lambda)$ for every $\tau \in \operatorname{St}(N_\Lambda)$. We now want to prove that

$$\mathscr{A} \coloneqq \mathscr{D}_{\rho} \ \mathscr{T} \ \mathscr{E} \tag{3.11}$$

is a QCA according to definition 4 and generates the T_x operator, where $\rho \in St(X)$ and \mathscr{T} is the supermap that conjugates with the operator T_x everywhere on the grid, i.e.

$$\mathscr{T}: \mathcal{D} \mapsto \mathcal{T}_X \mathcal{D} \mathcal{T}_X.$$

The map \mathscr{A} is indeed linear and maps atomic transformations to atomic transformations thanks to atomicity of composition. The supermap \mathscr{A} preserves the composition of quantum operation. Indeed, we know that \mathcal{T}_x is the inverse of itself thanks to item 1. Hence, for $\Lambda \subset X$ and any two transformations $\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C} \in \text{Transf}(\Lambda \to \Lambda)$ we have

$$\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B} \circ \mathcal{C}) = \mathcal{T}_X \ \mathcal{B} \ \mathcal{C} \ \mathcal{T}_X = \mathcal{T}_X \ \mathcal{B} \ \mathcal{T}_X \mathcal{T}_X \ \mathcal{C} \ \mathcal{T}_X = \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{B}) \circ \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{C}).$$

Please note that the product $T_X = \prod_{x \in X} T_x$ is well-defined thanks to property 2 of definition 5. Moreover, the supermap \mathscr{A} of eq. (3.11) is local according to the neighborhood scheme thanks to property 3 of definition 5 since transformation on sites $\Lambda \subset X$ are mapped to transformation over N_Λ . The homogeneity of the automaton α is provided if $T_x = T_y$ for all x, y. Finally, we observe that thanks to the right hand side of eq. (3.9) being factorized, the choice of ρ in eq. (3.10) is irrelevant as long as it is deterministic, i.e. $(e|\rho) = \text{Tr}[\rho] = 1$.

In the particular case of a homogeneous automaton \mathscr{A} , i.e. it satisfies property 3 of definition 5, we may drop the *x* subscript of \mathcal{T}_x altogether, as we have $\mathcal{T}_x = \mathcal{T}_y$ for every *x*, *y*. In such case, the automaton is uniquely defined by the operator \mathcal{T} and condition 2 of theorem 11 must only be checked for $[\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}_x] = 0$ where $\mathcal{T}_x = \sigma_x \circ \mathcal{T} \circ \sigma_x^{-1}$ and $\forall x$ such that $N_0 \cap N_x \neq \emptyset$.

3.3 Decomposition

In the previous section we analyzed thoroughly the properties that define the *T*-operator. Here we observe that the choice of the swap transformation S_x in definition 5 of T_x is due to its particular role in the higher-order quantum theory. In this framework, we have that quantum operations represent system states instead, and supermaps are the true transformations. Among

$$\mathcal{T}_{x} = \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{x}_{i}}_{x-2 \ x-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{x}_{i}}_{x-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{x}_{i}}_{x+1 \ x+2} \cdots = \frac{1}{\sqrt{q}} \sum_{i=0}^{q} \cdots \underbrace{\mathbf{x}_{i}}_{x-2 \ x-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{x}_{i}}_{x+1 \ x+2} \cdots \cdots$$

Figure 3.2: A pictorial representation of the *T*-operator decomposition. The grid on which acts the automaton is a one-dimensional lattice $X = \mathbb{Z}$ depicted as the upper layer, wheras the lower one is the ancillary grid. The *T*-operator bears both the input and the output of the quantum cellular automaton.

others, the swap S between two systems stands here for the maximally entangled state, being a transformation in the usual quantum theory.

Indeed, given a system A and its Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_A , we may define the swap operator $S \in \text{Transf}(AA \to AA)$ between two copies of A through its Kraus operator over $\mathcal{A}_A \otimes \mathcal{A}_A$ as

$$S = \frac{1}{\sqrt{q}} \sum_{i=0}^{q} \chi_i \otimes \chi_i,$$

where $\{\chi_i\}$ is an orthonormal basis of the C*-algebra \mathcal{A}_A and $q \coloneqq \dim(\mathcal{A}_A)$. Thus, computing the action of the automaton on \mathcal{S}_x is straightforward and its Kraus operator reads

$$T_x = \frac{1}{\sqrt{q}} \sum_{i=0}^{q} \alpha(\chi_i) \otimes \chi_i, \qquad (3.12)$$

acting over $\mathcal{A}_{N(x)} \otimes \mathcal{A}_x$. The *T*-operator is defined over $N_x \sqcup x$ and can then be decomposed into the basis of the input algebra over site *x* in the ancillary grid, and the output of the QCA on N_x in the original grid. Thereby, the operator \mathcal{T}_x accommodates both the input and the output of the quantum cellular automaton, see fig. 3.2. Following the same construction, we can extend the decomposition of eq. (3.12) for \mathcal{T}_A and any subset $\Lambda \subseteq X$.

A clear analogy can be drawn by comparing the *T*-operator to the Choi operator of quantum theory defined in § 1.1.1. Indeed, the swap transformation plays here the role of the maximally entangled state $|I\rangle\rangle\langle\langle I|$ in the Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism. Please note that in the higher-order quantum theory inputs are quantum operations and transformations

	Quantum operation ${\cal C}$	Quantum cellular automaton 🖋
Probe	Max. entangled state $ I\rangle\rangle\langle\langle I $	Swap operator \mathcal{S}_x
	$ I\rangle\rangle = \sum_{i} i\rangle \otimes i\rangle$	$S_x = \sum_i \chi_i \otimes \chi_i$
Choi	$\rho_{\mathcal{C}} = (\mathcal{C} \otimes \mathcal{I})(I\rangle \times \langle I)$	$\mathcal{T}_x = (\mathscr{A} \otimes \mathcal{I})(\mathcal{S}_x)$
	$= C\rangle \rangle \langle \langle C $	$\mathcal{T}_x(\rho) = T_x \rho T_x^{\dagger}$
	$ C\rangle\rangle = \sum_{ij} i\rangle \otimes (C_{ij} j\rangle)$	$T_x = \sum_i \alpha(\chi_i) \otimes \chi_i$

Table 3.1: Comparison between the Choi operator of a transformation $C \in \text{Transf}(A \to A)$ and the *T*-operator \mathcal{T}_x of a QCA \mathscr{A} . For simplicity of exposition, the transformation C is assumed to be atomic and C is its only Kraus operator. The operators $\{\chi_i\}$ are a valid basis of the single-site observable algebra. It should be noted that the *T*-operator is the Choi operator of the QCA *local rule* \mathscr{A}_0 .

thereof are a supermaps. Hence, the maximally entangled state $|I\rangle\rangle\langle\langle I|$ becomes the swap transformation S_x , the quantum operation C turns into the supermap \mathscr{A} , which applied to $|I\rangle\rangle\langle\langle I|$ and S_x return the Choi operator ρ_C and the *T*-operator \mathcal{T}_x , respectively. The former is a state whereas the latter is a quantum channel, i.e. the input of a supermap. A side-by-side comparison is provided in table 3.1.

Remark. It is worth noting that the *T*-operator represents the Choi of the *local rule* \mathscr{A}_0 of the automaton. To be precise, the Choi of the whole QCA \mathscr{A} is

$$\mathcal{T} := \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{S}) = \prod_{x \in X} \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{S}_x) = \prod_{x \in X} \mathcal{T}_x.$$

3.4 No classification through *T*-operators

Thanks to theorem 11 we can rigorously define the class of *T*-operators. It actually provides the necessary and sufficient conditions for an operator T_x to faithfully represent a quantum cellular automaton. One may then try to classify all possible *T*-operators so as to describe the set of QCAs. However, such a procedure does not provides any valuable insight for checking the commutation relations of local rules, i.e. through theorem 5. As we will show, the requirements of theorem 11 directly translate to that of theorem 5, thus denying us any real advantage in the classification task.

The *T*-operator must satisfy the condition 2 of theorem 11, i.e. $[\mathcal{T}_x, \mathcal{T}_y] = 0$ for every $x, y \in X$, which in turn is inherited from the automaton being a

homomorphism. We can solve the equation through the decomposition of eq. (3.12) for $x \neq y$ to attain

$$[\mathcal{T}_x, \mathcal{T}_y] = \sum_{ij} [\alpha(\chi_i), \alpha(\chi_j)] \otimes \chi_i \otimes \chi_j = 0$$
(3.13)

where for $\chi_i \in \mathcal{A}_x$, $\chi_j \in \mathcal{A}_y$, $\alpha(\chi_i) \in \mathcal{A}_{N(x)}$, and $\alpha(\chi_j) \in \mathcal{A}_{N(y)}$. Equation (3.13) is then satisfied only for

$$[\alpha(\chi_i), \alpha(\chi_i)] = 0, \quad \forall i, j.$$

The condition is clearly equivalent to that of theorem 5, we are then directly checking the commutation relations of the QCA local rule.

3.5 Estimating the index

The *T*-operator allows us to easily compute the index of a QCA. Indeed, we show hereafter that such task is a linear problem, once we are given the operator T_x . We henceforth assume the grid be the one-dimensional lattice, i.e. $X = \mathbb{Z}$, and the automaton be homogeneous. The site on which the *T* operator acts are labeled with the numbers 0 to 3 starting from the site *e* on the ancillary lattice and carry on on the original grid as depicted in fig. 3.3, such that $T : \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_3 \rightarrow \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_3$. To estimate the index of α , we need to calculate the dimension of the algebra

$$\Re_{2x} = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}(2x, 2x+1)) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}(2x+1, 2(x+1))).$$
(2.4)

From the construction of fig. 2.4 we promptly observe that \Re_{2x} commutes with both $\alpha(\Re_{2(x+1)})$ and $\alpha(\Re_{2(x+1)+1})$. These are all the commutation relations required to define the algebra and its basis. Thanks to decomposition of eq. (3.12), we know that the image of the automaton completely resides in the *T*-operator. We are then able to obtain the bases

$$F_{i,j} \coloneqq \operatorname{Tr}_{0,3}[T \ (X_i \otimes I_{1,2} \otimes X_j)],$$

$$G_{k,l,m} \coloneqq \operatorname{Tr}_{0,2,3}[T \ (X_k \otimes I_1 \otimes X_l \otimes X_m)] \otimes I_2,$$

for $S(T \text{ on } A_{1,2})$ and $S(T \text{ on } A_1) \otimes I_2$, respectively. The algebra \mathcal{R}_{2x} is the commutant

 $\mathfrak{R}_{2x} = [\mathfrak{S}(T \text{ on } \mathfrak{A}_{1,2}) \cup \mathfrak{S}(T \text{ on } \mathfrak{A}_1) \otimes I_2]',$

so by defining

$$\Phi_{i,j} \coloneqq (F_{i,j} \otimes I - I \otimes F_{i,j}^T),$$

$$\Gamma_{i,j,k} \coloneqq (G_{k,l,m} \otimes I - I \otimes G_{k,l,m}^T),$$



Figure 3.3: Domain labeling for the *T*-operator \mathcal{T} of a homogeneous automaton.

the operator $Y \in \mathcal{A}_{12}$ then satisfies

$$[Y, S(T \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_{1,2})] = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad \Phi_{i,j} |Y\rangle\rangle = 0 \qquad \forall i, j$$

and

$$[Y, S(T \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_1) \otimes I_2] = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad \Gamma_{i, j, k} |Y\rangle = 0 \qquad \forall k, l, m.$$

Finally, one can find all solutions *Y* of both the above equations by evaluating the kernel of

$$\Xi := \sum_{i,j} \Phi_{i,j}^{\dagger} \Phi_{i,j} + \sum_{k,l,m} \Gamma_{k,l,m}^{\dagger} \Gamma_{k,l,m}.$$

Indeed, one has

$$\mathcal{R}_L = \operatorname{Ker} \Xi. \tag{3.14}$$

Chapter 4

Fermionic Quantum Cellular Automata

One may be be tempted to transpose the result of QCAs to automata dealing with local Fermionic modes instead of qubits, hoping that they all apply unaffected. Indeed, Fermions have been proved to be computationally equivalent to qubits [BK02] and the Jordan-Wigner lets us directly map quantum operators to Fermionic ones through a *-isomorphism. However, we prove here that FQCAs are substantially different from their quantum counterparts as they presents a class of automata that are genuinely Fermionic.

In particular, in the present chapter we classify all nearest-neighbors Fermionic quantum cellular automata over the one-dimensional lattice $X = \mathbb{Z}$ where at each site we find a single local Fermionic mode. In such class we firstly separate the shifts from the locally implementable ones, and then further divide the rest into two subsets depending on the properties of image support algebra over the nearest sites. In particular, there we find some FQCAs that are equivalent to the quantum ones and some that are unique to the Fermionic realm.

The definition of Fermionic quantum cellular automaton requires equivalent notions to those of QCAs. Indeed, let $X = \mathbb{Z}$ be the grid and F_x the \mathbb{Z}^2 -graded algebra of abservables for a single local Fermionic mode at site $x \in X$. We define the quasi-local algebra F of observables and the homomorphism α thereof. For every pair of self-adjoint, odd, local operators ξ , $v \in F_x$ such that $\{\xi, v\} = 0$, then the homomorphism must preserve the CAR, i.e. $\{\alpha(\xi), \alpha(v)\} = 0$, and be local $\alpha(F_x) \subset F_{x-1,x,x+1}$. Moreover, we require the automaton α to be homogeneous and thus commute with all shifts σ_x .

Fermionic Pauli matrices For sake of simplicity we denote the Pauli matrices In terms of the annihilation and creation operators φ_k , φ_k^{\dagger} :

$$X_k = \varphi_k + \varphi_k^{\dagger}, \qquad Y_k = i\varphi_k - i\varphi_k^{\dagger}, \qquad Z_k = \varphi_i^{\dagger}\varphi_k - \varphi_k.$$

Thereby, we represent the CAR of Fermionic modes on the lattice \mathbb{Z} by assigning to each site *x* the pair (X_x, Y_x) . All operators X_x , Y_x must then anticommute $\forall x$. However, the same does not apply if we consider the local self-adjoint operators $\xi_x \in \{X_x, Y_x, Z_x\}$, $v_y \in \{X_y, Y_y, Z_y\}$: in fact, they anticommute $\{\xi_x, v_y\} = 2\delta_{\xi v}$ if x = y whereas graded-commute $\{[\xi_x, v_y]\} = 0$ otherwise.

4.1 Index theory for Fermionic quantum cellular automata

Before proceeding to the classification we first briefly summarize the result of the index theory for Fermionic quantum cellular automata. In refs. [Fid+19; Far20], the subject has been thoroughly covered and it has been shown that the index of a Fermionic automaton can have irrational values as well, whereas the index spectrum for QCAs belongs to \mathbb{Q}^+ only. We define the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded support algebra as the equivalent of definition 3 for the Fermionic quantum theory, namely

Definition (\mathbb{Z}_2 -graded support algebra). Let \mathfrak{B}_1 and \mathfrak{B}_2 be two finitedimensional \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebras and $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_1 \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_2$ a subalgebra. The \mathbb{Z}_2 graded support algebra $\mathfrak{C} := S(\mathfrak{A} \text{ on } \mathfrak{B}_1)$ is the smallest subalgebra $\mathfrak{C} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_1$ such that $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{C} \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_2$.

By means of the definition of support algebra for the Fermionic algebra, we can now prove the equivalent of theorem 8 in the Fermionic case as well.

Theorem 12. Let \mathfrak{B}_1 , \mathfrak{B}_2 , \mathfrak{B}_3 , and $\mathfrak{A} \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_1 \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_2$, $\mathfrak{A}' \subseteq \mathfrak{B}_2 \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_3$ be \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebras. If \mathfrak{A} and \mathfrak{A}' graded-commute in $\mathfrak{B}_1 \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_2 \boxtimes \mathfrak{B}_3$, then so graded-commute $S(\mathfrak{A} \text{ on } \mathfrak{B}_2)$ and $S(\mathfrak{A}' \text{ on } \mathfrak{B}_2)$ in \mathfrak{B}_2 .

Proof. We directly check that

$$\{\![E \boxtimes A \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes A' \boxtimes F]\!\} = E \boxtimes \{\![A, A']\!] \boxtimes F$$

$$(4.1)$$

for elements of definite parity. Indeed, thanks to our definition of \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded algebra of § 1.2.5, the linear combinations of elements with different

parity are forbidden. If we pick the bases $\{E_i\}$ for \mathcal{B}_1 and $\{F_j\}$ for \mathcal{B}_3 with elements of definite parity, we can expand every operator of \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{A}' as

$$A = \sum_{i} E_{i} \boxtimes A_{i}, \qquad \qquad A' = \sum_{j} A'_{j} \boxtimes F_{j} \qquad (4.2)$$

respectively, for some $A_i \in S(\mathcal{A} \text{ on } \mathcal{B}_2)$ and $A'_j \in S(\mathcal{A}' \text{ on } \mathcal{B}_2)$. By hypothesis, and thanks to eq. (4.1), we have that in $\mathcal{B}_1 \boxtimes \mathcal{B}_2 \boxtimes \mathcal{B}_3$

$$\{\![A, A']\!\} = \sum_{ij} E_i \boxtimes \{\![A_i, A'_j]\!\} \boxtimes F_j = 0.$$
(4.3)

The linear independency of bases $\{E_i\}$, $\{F_j\}$ leads us to $\{[A_i, A'_j]\}$ in \mathcal{B}_2 , $\forall ij$. The thesis then follows.

The above result is the starting point for proving the validity of theorem 9 in the Fermionic realm as well. Indeed, an index can be accordingly defined for FQCAs with the same properties, see refs. [Fid+19; Far20]. In particular, the observables of two sites belongs to a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded full matrix algebra \mathbb{M} that features a trivial center as well. Therefore, the setting of fig. 2.4 and eqs. (2.6) and (2.7) also hold in the Fermionic case.

The index is the square root of $\dim(\mathbb{A}_{2x})/\dim(\mathbb{L}_{2x})$ of eqs. (2.3) and (2.4), see fig. 2.4. However, the proof of ref. [SW04] does not hold for the Fermionic case and \mathcal{L}_{2x} , \mathcal{R}_{2x} must not be \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded full matrix algebras. Thus, the quantum and Fermionic indexes do differ by the spectrum of values they can assume: instead of rational numbers, the index of a FQCA belongs to the multiplicative group of $2^{n/2}$ for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Indeed, on the one hand the elementary system that can be moved by a QCA shift is the qudit, i.e. the support algebras \mathcal{L}_{2x} , \mathcal{R}_{2x} are full matrix. On the other, a Fermionic automaton is free to move around Majorana modes, that are odd self-adjoint operators representing a single vector in the real space \mathbb{R}^{n} . Since all irreducible representation of the CAR are unitarly equivalent to the Jordan-Wigner thanks to theorems 3 and 4, we can compute the algebra dimension from that generated by either $(X_0, Y_0, X_1, Y_1, \dots, X_n, Y_n)$, that is 2^{2n} , or $(X_0, Y_0, X_1, Y_1, ..., X_n, Y_n, Z_1 Z_2 \cdots Z_n)$, namely 2^{2n+1} . The index is then the square root of ratios between such values. In fact, the generator of the shift group for the one-dimensional FQCAs is the Majorana shift:

$$\sigma_M : X_n \mapsto Y_n,$$

$$Y_n \mapsto X_{n+1}.$$
(4.4)

It is straightforward to see that the shift automaton $\sigma = \sigma_M^2$, see fig. 4.1, hence $ind(\sigma_M) = \sqrt{2}$.

55



Figure 4.1: Graphical representation of the Majorana automaton σ_M , which features an irrational index equal to $ind(\sigma_M) = \sqrt{2}$, and of the shift automaton σ of index one.

4.2 Classification of one-dimensional, nearestneighbors Fermionic Quantum Cellular Automata

The defining trait of a FQCA is being a homomorphism of the Kraus algebra, here in particular the Fermionic one. We begin by requiring the graded-commutation of the image of the two farthest algebras, namely $\{[\alpha(A_1), \alpha(A_3)]\} \in A_0 \boxtimes A_1 \boxtimes A_2 \boxtimes A_3 \boxtimes A_4$, where in general $\alpha(A_1) \in A_0 \boxtimes A_1 \boxtimes A_2$ and $\alpha(A_3) \in A_1 \boxtimes A_2 \boxtimes A_3$. Let

$$\mathfrak{L}_L \coloneqq \mathrm{S}(\alpha(\mathfrak{A}_3) \text{ on } \mathfrak{A}_2) \text{ and } \mathfrak{L}_R \coloneqq \mathrm{S}(\alpha(\mathfrak{A}_1) \text{ on } \mathfrak{A}_2),$$
 (4.5)

thanks to theorem 12 we know that $\{\![\mathfrak{L}_L, \mathfrak{L}_R]\!\} = 0$. So we proceed by scrutinizing all available cases of subalgebras $\mathfrak{L}_L, \mathfrak{L}_R \subseteq \mathfrak{A}_2$, in particular we have:

- 1. One support algebra is the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded full matrix algebra, whereas the other cannot but be the trivial one consisting of the identity element *I* only.
- 2. Both support algebras are generated by a single operator each, which graded-commute. In particular, we have: (a) both support algebras are generated by the even operator Z and are therefore Abelian, (b) each support algebra is generated by an odd operator, say G_L for ξ_L and G_R for ξ_R , such that the two anti-commute, i.e. $\{G_L, G_R\} = 0$.
- 3. One support algebra is trivial, while the other is either the full Z₂-graded matrix one as in case 1, (a) generated by a single operator, or (b) trivial as well.

It is straightforward to see that case 3b reduces to a local automaton implementable as a unitary transformation, namely an automorphism of the Fermionic algebra for a single local Fermionic mode. On the other hand, we now prove that cases 1 and 3a belong to the class of shift and Majorana automata, respectively, whereas cases 2a and 2b are the locally-implementable ones.

Remark. The self-adjoint representation of the CAR introduced in § 1.2.4 proves to be a valuable theoretical tool for describing support algebras for cellular automata in FQT. In particular, that allowed us to verify the graded-commutation of two algebras \mathcal{A}_1 , \mathcal{A}_2 by checking only one condition. Indeed, had we instead considered the creation operators $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_1$, $\psi \in \mathcal{A}_2$, such that $\{\phi, \phi^{\dagger}\} = \{\psi, \psi^{\dagger}\} = 2I$, we would have had to check both the anti-commutation of the operators themselves, namely $\{\phi, \psi\} = 0$, and that of their adjoints as well, i.e. $\{\phi, \psi^{\dagger}\} = 0$. Thereby, we check two condition instead of the single one for the self-adjoint representation.

Cases 1 and 3a Assume without loss of generality that $\mathcal{E}_L = \mathfrak{M}$, i.e. the \mathbb{Z}_2 graded full matrix algebra for a single local Fermionic mode, and $\mathcal{E}_R = \{I\}$. In such a case, the image $\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1) \in \mathcal{A}_0 \boxtimes \mathcal{A}_1$ lays on two sites only. We can then apply theorem 12 as before and evaluate $\{[\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1), \alpha(\mathcal{A}_2)]\} \in \mathcal{A}_0 \boxtimes$ $\mathcal{A}_1 \boxtimes \mathcal{A}_2$, which is zero iff $\{[\mathcal{E}_C, \mathcal{E}_L]\} = 0$ for $\mathcal{E}_C = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_1)$ and $\mathcal{E}_L = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}_2) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_1)$. However, since \mathcal{E}_L is the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded full matrix algebra, \mathcal{E}_C cannot but be the trivial one. Thus, every automaton of case 1 must be a automorphism between the algebra of a site and that of its previous, namely a backward shift. For case 3a, we instead assume \mathcal{E}_L being generated by a single operator *E*. We follow the same steps as before and attain that \mathcal{E}_C is generated by a single operator *F* as well, where $\{[E, F]\} = 0$. For every two self-adjoint, odd operators \mathcal{E} , $v \in \mathcal{A}_1$ such that $\{\mathcal{E}, v\} = 0$, the automaton maps them to

$$(\xi, v) \mapsto (E \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes F) \in \mathcal{A}_{01}.$$

One can prove with ease that such a homomorphism is indeed the local rule of an automaton, and that it can be implemented through a combination of the Majorana shift σ_M and local automorphisms \mathcal{U} , see fig. 4.2b.

4.2.1 Commuting support algebras

In case 2a, both algebras \mathcal{E}_L , \mathcal{E}_R are generated by the even operator Z and thus *commute*, namely $[\mathcal{E}_L, \mathcal{E}_R] = 0$. We may decompose the image of any odd operator $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_2$ over the basis { $|0 \times 0|, |1 \times 1|$ }, or $I \pm Z$, in \mathcal{A}_0 , \mathcal{A}_2 as

$$\alpha(\xi) = \sum_{ij} |i \rangle \langle i| \boxtimes A_{ij}(\xi) \boxtimes |j \rangle \langle j|, \qquad (4.6)$$

where $i, j \in \{0, 1\}$ and for some $A_{ij}(\xi) \in \mathcal{A}_1$. The above condition strongly resemble that of the QCA of ref. [SW04], indeed we obtain the same result of A_{ij} being themselves automata $\forall i, j$. In particular, for every pair of odd operators $\xi, v \in \mathcal{A}_1$ such that $\{\xi, v\} = 0$ we have

$$\{\alpha(\xi), \alpha(\upsilon)\} = \sum_{ij} |i \rangle \langle i| \boxtimes \{A_{ij}(\xi), A_{ij}(\upsilon)\} \boxtimes |j \rangle \langle j| = 0, \qquad (4.7)$$

which is equivalent to

$$\{A_{ij}(\xi), A_{ij}(v)\} = 0, \quad \forall i, j.$$
(4.8)

Equation (4.8) let us define A_{ij} as automorphisms thanks to theorems 3 and 4, and write $A_{ij}(\xi) = U_{ij}\xi U_{ij}^{\dagger}$ for some unitary matrices $U_{ij} \in U(2)$.

Remark. Due to the automaton α being parity preserving, the set of unitary matrices is constrained to those of definite parity, namely the two multiplicative subgroups

$$SU_0(2) := \{\exp(i\theta Z)\}, \quad SU_1(2) := \left\{\exp\left(i\frac{\pi}{2}(\cos(\eta)X + \sin(\eta)Y)\right)\right\}, \quad (4.9)$$

for some angles θ , η .

Finally, we require the graded-commutation of the images of nearestsite algebras, namely $\{[\alpha(A_1), \alpha(A_2)]\} = 0$. Given some odd operators $\xi \in A_1$, $v \in A_2$, let us consider

$$\{\alpha(\xi) \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes \alpha(\nu)\} = 0. \tag{4.10}$$

We can substitute the decomposition of the automaton of eq. (4.6) in eq. (4.10) and attain

$$\sum_{ijkl} \left\{ |i \rangle \langle i| \boxtimes A_{ij}(\xi) \boxtimes |j \rangle \langle j| \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes |k \rangle \langle k| \boxtimes A_{kl}(v) \boxtimes |l \rangle \langle l| \right\} = 0,$$
(4.11)

which is equivalent to

$$\sum_{jk} \left\{ A_{ij}(\xi) \boxtimes |j \rangle \langle j|, |k \rangle \langle k| \boxtimes A_{kl}(v) \right\} = 0,$$
(4.12)

for all *i*, *l*. To complete the classification we need to derive some further properties of the four matrices U_{ij} describing the operators $A_{ij}(\xi)$ of the center algebra $\mathcal{E}_C = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_1)$. For this reason, we prove the Fermionic variant to the lemma 9 of ref. [SW04] by accordingly taking into account the parity of the operators under analysis.

Theorem 13. Let $\mu, \nu \in \{0, 1\}$, and U_{μ} , V_{ν} be 2×2 unitary matrices such that

$$\sum_{\mu,\nu} \left\{ U_{\mu} \xi U_{\mu}^{\dagger} \boxtimes |\mu \rangle \langle \mu|, |\nu \rangle \langle \nu| \boxtimes V_{\nu} \nu V_{\nu}^{\dagger} \right\} = 0$$
(4.13)

for all ξ , v odd operators. Then the operators $U_{\alpha}U_{\beta}^{\dagger}$ and $V_{\gamma}V_{\delta}^{\dagger}$ are all diagonal to the computational basis $\forall \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in \{0, 1\}$.

Proof. Let $E_{\mu} = U_{\mu} \xi U_{\mu}^{\dagger}$, $F_{\nu} = V_{\nu} \nu V_{\nu}^{\dagger}$, and observe that eq. (4.13) is in fact a difference of the exchanged terms, i.e.

$$\sum_{\nu\mu} \left(E_{\mu} |\nu \rangle \langle \nu| \boxtimes |\mu \rangle \langle \mu| F_{\nu} - |\nu \rangle \langle \nu| E_{\mu} \boxtimes F_{\nu} |\mu \rangle \langle \mu| \right) = 0$$
(4.14)

due to the operators E_{μ} , F_{ν} being odd. To simplify the sum, we multiply both sides of eq. (4.14) by $|\alpha \rangle \langle \alpha | \boxtimes | \gamma \rangle \langle \gamma |$ on the left and by $|\beta \rangle \langle \beta | \boxtimes | \delta \rangle \langle \delta |$ on the right. It is worth noting that the operators are even and thus freely commute. The anti-commutator then reads

$$|\alpha \rangle \langle \alpha | E_{\gamma} | \beta \rangle \langle \beta | \boxtimes | \gamma \rangle \langle \gamma | F_{\beta} | \delta \rangle \langle \delta | = |\alpha \rangle \langle \alpha | E_{\delta} | \beta \rangle \langle \beta | \boxtimes | \gamma \rangle \langle \gamma | F_{\alpha} | \delta \rangle \langle \delta |.$$
(4.15)

We are then free to choose v such that $\langle \gamma | F_{\alpha} | \delta \rangle = 0$, as a result of which the right hand side of eq. (4.15) vanishes. For this purpuse, let $v = V_{\alpha}^{\dagger} | \gamma' \rangle \langle \delta' | V_{\alpha}$ for some $\gamma', \delta' \in \{0, 1\}, \delta' \neq \delta$, so that

$$|\alpha \rangle \langle \alpha | E_{\mu} | \beta \rangle \langle \beta | \boxtimes | \gamma \rangle \langle \gamma | V_{\beta} V_{\alpha}^{\dagger} | \gamma' \rangle \langle \delta' | V_{\alpha} V_{\beta}^{\dagger} | \delta \rangle \langle \delta | = 0.$$
(4.16)

Both factors $\langle \alpha | E_{\mu} | \beta \rangle$ and $\langle \gamma | V_{\beta} V_{\alpha}^{\dagger} | \gamma' \rangle$ of eq. (4.16) can be made non-zero by an appropriate choice of values ξ , γ' , respectively. Hence, $\langle \delta' | V_{\alpha} V_{\beta}^{\dagger} | \delta \rangle = 0$ and $V_{\alpha} V_{\beta}^{\dagger}$ must be diagonal to the computational basis $\forall \alpha, \beta$. The whole procedure can be repeated by choosing an appropriate value for ξ , and obtain that $U_{\alpha} U_{\beta}^{\dagger}$ are also diagonal $\forall \alpha, \beta$ to the same basis.

Theorem 13 tells us that we can diagonalize all U_{ij} of the A_{ij} operators. To do so, we properly choose a local automaton $\mathcal{U}(\xi) \coloneqq U\xi U^{\dagger}$, where U is any of the matrices U_{ij} , and prepend it the automaton under analysis, i.e. $\alpha \mapsto \alpha \mathcal{U}$. All U_{ij} of the new automaton are then even and simultaneously diagonalizable to the computational basis of the Fock space \mathcal{F}_1 . Since we are interested in classifying all automata modulo local ones, we are still free to apply a second local automaton $\mathcal{V}(\xi) \coloneqq V\xi V^{\dagger}$ such that $VU_{00} = I$.

We summarize the steps taken so far: the operators U_{ij} of the automaton $V \alpha U$ are all even and diagonal to the computational basis, plus $U_{00} = I$. Let

us refer with the symbol \oplus the sum modulo two and say $\xi = |a \setminus a \oplus 1|$, $v = |b \setminus b \oplus 1|$ for some $a, b \in \{0, 1\}$. Furthermore, let $U_{ij} = e^{i\phi_{ij}} |0 \setminus 0| + e^{-i\phi_{ij}} |1 \setminus 1|$, so that we have

$$A_{ij}(\xi) = U_{ij}\xi U_{ij}^{\dagger} = e^{2i(-1)^a \phi_{ij}} |a\rangle \langle a \oplus 1|, \qquad (4.17)$$

and so by substituting eq. (4.17) for both ξ and v in eq. (4.12)—which has been further developed in eq. (4.14)—we obtain

$$(-1)^{a} (\phi_{i,b} - \phi_{i,b\oplus 1}) = (-1)^{b} (\phi_{a,l} - \phi_{a\oplus 1,l}) \mod 2\pi,$$
(4.18)

for all *i*, *l*, *a*, *b* \in {0, 1}. Since we have $\phi_{00} = 0$ thanks to our choice of premultiplying the automaton by \mathcal{V} , we evaluate eq. (4.18) for i = l = 0 and for $i = l \oplus 1$ to observe that $\phi_{10} = \phi_{01}$, and $\phi_{11} = 2\phi_{01} = 2\phi_{10}$, respectively. Therefore, let $\phi \in [0, 2\pi)$ be the only parameter left, we can write $U_{ij} = Q_{\phi}^i Q_{\phi}^j$ where

$$Q_{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\phi} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\phi} \end{pmatrix}.$$

With such a definition of U_{ij} , we observe from eq. (4.6) that the action of the automaton can be described through a two-mode dephasing operator D_{ϕ} defined in U(4) as

$$D_{\phi} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & e^{i\phi} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.19)

such that

$$\alpha(\xi) = (D_{\phi} \boxtimes I)(I \boxtimes D_{\phi})(I \boxtimes \xi \boxtimes I)(I \boxtimes D_{\phi})^{\dagger}(D_{\phi} \boxtimes I)^{\dagger}$$

The Fermionic automata of case 2a are then the composition of the group of dephasing automata of fig. 4.2a, namely a partitioned FQCA with scattering matrix D_{ϕ} , and completely automorphisms fig. 4.2b. The action of the automaton can be evalueted from the image of the two orthogonal operators X, Y as well. Indeed, we have

$$\alpha(X) = \frac{\cos \phi + 1}{2} I \boxtimes (\cos(\phi)X - \sin(\phi)Y) \boxtimes I$$
$$+ \frac{\sin \phi}{2} I \boxtimes (\sin(\phi)X + \cos(\phi)Y) \boxtimes Z$$
$$+ \frac{\sin \phi}{2} Z \boxtimes (\sin(\phi)X + \cos(\phi)Y) \boxtimes I$$
$$+ \frac{\cos \phi - 1}{2} F \boxtimes (\cos(\phi)\sigma_x - \sin(\phi)Y) \boxtimes Z$$
$$\alpha(Z) = I \boxtimes Z \boxtimes I$$



Figure 4.2: Caption

In summary, this class of Fermionic quantum cellular automata is equivalent to the quantum case of QCAs with Abelian support algebras $\mathcal{E}_L = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_0), \mathcal{E}_R = S(\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1) \text{ on } \mathcal{A}_2)$ generated by the operator *Z*, see section IV.G of ref. [SW04]. However, the major difference is here that the algebras \mathcal{E}_L , \mathcal{E}_R can only be generated by the even operator *Z*, whereas in QCAs any vector $\hat{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is allowed.

4.2.2 Anti-commuting support algebras

In case 2b, we have that \mathcal{E}_L , \mathcal{E}_R are generated by two odd operators G_L , G_R , respectively, such that they anti-commute, i.e. $\{G_L, G_R\} = 0$. In spite of case 2b, where we can derive some notable properties of the central support algebra \mathcal{E}_C , here we can not draw the same conclusions from the CAR of two operators belonging to the same site. In particular, the results derived in § 4.2.1 for FQCA and in section IV.E of ref. [SW04] for QCA are not applicable here. The reason is that we may not decompose the members of algebras \mathcal{E}_L , \mathcal{E}_R in terms of projectors onto the generator eigenspaces, as they have non-definite parity and are therefore forbidden by the parity superselection rule.

Remark. We are interested in classifying FQCA modulo local ones. We are then free to select some $\mathcal{U}(\xi) = U\xi U^{\dagger}$ such that $\mathcal{U}(G_L) = X$, $\mathcal{U}(G_R) = Y$. Henceforth, we will focus on $\alpha \mapsto \mathcal{U}\alpha$ where the algebras ξ_L , ξ_R are generated by the operators X, Y, respectively.

We begin by decomposing the image of a self-adjoint, odd operator $\xi \in A_1$ over the sites $A_0 \boxtimes A_1 \boxtimes A_2$. Most notably,

$$\alpha(\xi) = X \boxtimes A_{\xi} \boxtimes Y + X \boxtimes B_{\xi} \boxtimes I + I \boxtimes C_{\xi} \boxtimes Y + I \boxtimes D_{\xi} \boxtimes I, \tag{4.20}$$

for some operators A_{ξ} , B_{ξ} , C_{ξ} , and D_{ξ} . Thanks to the automaton being parity preserving, we know that B_{ξ} , C_{ξ} are even operators, whereas A_{ξ} and D_{ξ} are odd. Moreover, the automaton is a *-homomorphism and preserves

adjunction as well. Hence, we observe that A_{ξ} is *anti-Hermitian* whilst B_{ξ} , C_{ξ} , and D_{ξ} are all Hermitean.

We proceed by evaluating the anti-commutation of nearest-site algrabras, namely $\{[\alpha(\mathcal{A}_1), \alpha(\mathcal{A}_2)]\} = 0$. Hence, let us consider two self-adjoint, odd operators ξ , v, such that they anti-commute, i.e. $\{\xi, v\} = 0$. Their image under the action of the automaton then reads

$$\{\!\![\alpha(\xi) \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes \alpha(\nu)]\!\!\} = X \boxtimes E \boxtimes Y + X \boxtimes F \boxtimes I + I \boxtimes P \boxtimes Y + I \boxtimes Q \boxtimes I = 0 \quad (4.21)$$

where

$$E = [A_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes A_{v}] + A_{\xi} \boxtimes [Y, C_{v}] + [B_{\xi}, X] \boxtimes A_{v}, \qquad (4.22a)$$

$$E = [A_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes A_{\upsilon}] + A_{\xi} \boxtimes [Y, C_{\upsilon}] + [B_{\xi}, X] \boxtimes A_{\upsilon}, \qquad (4.22a)$$
$$F = [A_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes B_{\upsilon}] + A_{\xi} \boxtimes \{Y, D_{\upsilon}\} + [B_{\xi}, X] \boxtimes B_{\upsilon}, \qquad (4.22b)$$

$$P = [C_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes A_{\nu}] + C_{\xi} \boxtimes [Y, C_{\nu}] + \{D_{\xi}, X\} \boxtimes A_{\nu}, \qquad (4.22c)$$

$$Q = \{C_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes B_{\nu}\} + \{D_{\xi}, X\} \boxtimes B_{\nu} + C_{\xi} \boxtimes \{Y, D_{\nu}\}.$$
(4.22d)

The operators of eqs. (4.22a) to (4.22d) act on two local Fermionic modes and must vanish altogether. We use here a notable property of the algebra F^2 of two local Fermionic modes, namely that the even operators $F_0^2 =$ $(F_0 \boxtimes F_0) \oplus (F_1 \boxtimes F_1)$ are the direct sum of operators either even or odd in both sites. Equivalently, the odd operators $F_1^2 = (F_0 \boxtimes F_1) \oplus (F_1 \boxtimes F_0)$ are the direct sum of operators with alternate parity in the two sites. Therefore, we may write eq. (4.22a) as $E = E_{00} + E_{11}$, where

$$E_{00} \coloneqq [A_{\xi} \boxtimes Y, X \boxtimes A_{\nu}], \qquad E_{11} \coloneqq A_{\xi} \boxtimes [Y, C_{\nu}] + [B_{\xi}, X] \boxtimes A_{\nu}, \qquad (4.23)$$

and they must be null separately. Particularly, for $\xi = v = \mathbf{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$, $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, and $\mathbf{p} \perp \hat{\mathbf{z}}$, we have

$$E_{00} = 2\mathbf{p}_x (\mathbf{p} \times \hat{\mathbf{y}})_z \ I \boxtimes Z + 2\mathbf{p}_y (\hat{\mathbf{x}} \times \mathbf{p})_z \ Z \boxtimes I = 0, \tag{4.24}$$

which is true iff $\mathbf{p} = 0$. Namely, for every ξ we have that

$$A_{\mathcal{E}} = 0, \tag{4.25}$$

and most of the terms in eqs. (4.22a) to (4.22d) vanish as well. Equations (4.22b) and (4.22c) reduce to

$$F = [B_{\xi}, X] \boxtimes B_{v} = 0, \qquad P = C_{\xi} \boxtimes [Y, C_{v}] = 0,$$

respectively, and deal with operators B_{ξ} , C_{ξ} that must be even, i.e. a linear combination of *I* and *Z*. Thus, for $\xi = v$ the operators *F*, *P* are null iff

$$B_{\xi}, C_{\xi} \propto I. \tag{4.26}$$

As a consequence of eqs. (4.25) and (4.26), all terms of eqs. (4.22a) to (4.22d) are zero but Q_{00} .

Thus far, we checked the anticommutation relations of algebras that are one or two sites apart. We are then left with the requirement that the images of two anticommuting operators ξ , $v \in A_1$ must anticommute in $A_0 \boxtimes A_1 \boxtimes A_2$, i.e. $\{\alpha(\xi), \alpha(v)\} = 0$. By substituting therein the decomposition of eq. (4.20) we obtain

$$\{\alpha(\xi), \alpha(\nu)\} = I \boxtimes M_{II} \boxtimes I + X \boxtimes M_{XI} \boxtimes I + I \boxtimes M_{IY} \boxtimes Y - X \boxtimes M_{XY} \boxtimes Y = 2\delta_{\xi\nu}, \quad (4.27)$$

where the operators

$$\begin{split} M_{II} &= -\{A_{\xi}, A_{v}\} + \{B_{\xi}, B_{v}\} + \{C_{\xi}, C_{v}\} + \{D_{\xi}, D_{v}\},\\ M_{XI} &= \{A_{\xi}, C_{v}\} + \{C_{\xi}, A_{v}\} + [B_{\xi}, D_{v}] - [D_{\xi}, B_{v}],\\ M_{IY} &= \{A_{\xi}, B_{v}\} + \{B_{\xi}, A_{v}\} + [D_{\xi}, C_{v}] - [C_{\xi}, D_{v}], \end{split}$$

and

$$M_{XY} = \{A_{\xi}, D_{v}\} + \{D_{\xi}, A_{v}\} + [B_{\xi}, C_{v}] + [C_{\xi}, B_{v}]$$

are all null due to eqs. (4.25) and (4.26) but M_{II} .

We have left to check both eqs. (4.21) and (4.27), which eventually read

$$(\{B_{\xi}, B_{\nu}\} + \{C_{\xi}, C_{\nu}\} + \{D_{\xi}, D_{\nu}\}) = \delta_{\xi\nu}I, \qquad (4.28)$$

$$(\{D_{\xi}, X\} \boxtimes B_{\nu} + C_{\xi} \boxtimes \{Y, D_{\nu}\}) = 0, \qquad (4.29)$$

respectively. To solve eq. (4.29) we introduce the following parametrization

$$B_{\xi} \coloneqq b_{\xi} I, \qquad C_{\xi} \coloneqq c_{\xi} I, \qquad D_{\xi} \coloneqq \mathbf{v}_{\xi} \cdot (X, Y), \qquad (4.30)$$

for some $b_{\xi}, c_{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}$, $\mathbf{v}_{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^2$, that allows us to compute the term Q_{00} and reduce eq. (4.29) to a scalar one, i.e.

$$(\mathbf{v}_{\xi})_{x}b_{v} + c_{\xi}(\mathbf{v}_{v})_{v} = 0.$$
 (4.31)

Please note that the term Q_{00} is not symmetric for the exchange of operators ξ , v. For $\xi = v$, we find that

$$Q_{00}=(b_{\xi},c_{\xi})\cdot\mathbf{v}_{\xi}=0,$$

that can be easily satisfied by defining the following polar coordinates

$$b_{\xi} \coloneqq \rho_{\xi} \cos \theta_{\xi}, \qquad c_{\xi} \coloneqq \rho_{\xi} \sin \theta_{\xi}, \qquad \mathbf{v}_{\xi} = \kappa_{\xi} (-\sin \theta_{\xi}, \cos \theta_{\xi}), \qquad (4.32)$$

for some $\rho_{\xi} \ge 0$, $\kappa_{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}$, and some angle θ_{ξ} . Thereby, eq. (4.28) is the Euclidean norm of the vector $(\rho_{\xi} \cos \theta_{\xi}, \rho_{\xi} \sin \theta_{\xi}, -\kappa_{v} \sin \theta_{v}, \kappa_{v} \cos \theta_{v}) \in \mathbb{R}^{4}$, and for $\xi = v$ reads $\rho_{\xi}^{2} + \kappa_{\xi}^{2} = 1$. The equation can once more be satisfied through introducing some polar coordinates

$$\rho_{\xi} \coloneqq \cos \eta_{\xi}, \qquad \qquad \kappa_{\xi} \coloneqq \sin \eta_{\xi}, \qquad (4.33)$$

for some angle η_{ξ} . Hence, the image of every self-adjoint, odd operator ξ is embedded in a torus (η_{ξ}, θ_{ξ}). In particular, as a consequence of eqs. (4.30), (4.32) and (4.33) every such operator is is mapped by the FQCA to

$$\xi \mapsto \cos(\eta_{\xi}) \Big(\cos(\theta_{\xi}) \ X \boxtimes I \boxtimes I + \sin(\theta_{\xi}) \ I \boxtimes I \boxtimes Y \Big) \\ + \sin(\eta_{\xi}) \Big(-\sin(\theta_{\xi}) \ I \boxtimes X \boxtimes I + \cos(\theta_{\xi}) \ I \boxtimes Y \boxtimes I \Big).$$

Finally, we have to require both eqs. (4.28) and (4.31) when $\xi \neq v$. To do so, we introduce the vectors

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi} \coloneqq (\cos \eta_{\xi}, \sin \eta_{\xi}), \qquad \qquad \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\xi} \coloneqq (\cos \theta_{\xi}, \sin \theta_{\xi}) \qquad (4.34)$$

of unit norm, and do the same for $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_v$, $\hat{\mathbf{t}}_v$. In this manner, the operators Q for $\{[\alpha(\xi) \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes \alpha(v)]\}$ and $\{[\alpha(v) \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes \alpha(\xi)]\}$ read

$$(\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{v} \times \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi})_{z} (\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\xi})_{v} (\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{v})_{x} = 0, \qquad (4.35)$$

whereas eq. (4.28) becomes

$$(\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\nu})(\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\xi} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\nu}) = 0.$$
(4.36)

We distinguish two cases that satisfy eqs. (4.35) and (4.36):

- (i) $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi} \not\parallel \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{v}$, hence $\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\xi}$, $\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{v}$ are parallel to either $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ or $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$ and $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi} \perp \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{v}$. In terms of angles $(\eta_{\xi}, \theta_{\xi})$ we have $\eta_{\xi} = \eta_{v} + \pi/2 + \pi\mathbb{Z}$ and either $\theta_{\xi} = \theta_{v} = \pi\mathbb{Z}$ or $\theta_{\xi} = \theta_{v} = \pi/2 + \pi\mathbb{Z}$.
- (ii) $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{\xi} \parallel \hat{\mathbf{e}}_{v}$, and thus $\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\xi} \perp \hat{\mathbf{t}}_{v}$. The polar coordinates then read $\eta_{\xi} = \eta_{v} + 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ and $\theta_{\xi} = \theta_{v} + \pi/2 + \pi\mathbb{Z}$.

From the above classification we observe that case (i) reduces to the Majorana shift σ_M . Indeed, the operators ξ , v are mapped to either

$$(\xi, v) \mapsto (X \boxtimes I \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes Y \boxtimes I)$$
 or $(\xi, v) \mapsto (I \boxtimes I \boxtimes Y, I \boxtimes X \boxtimes I)$

that are the same bases of case 3a.



Figure 4.3: Graphical representation of the forking automaton that shifts one Majorana mode to left and the other to the right.

The novel result of this classification is represented by case (ii). In fact, this class describes a linear combination tuned by $\eta = \eta_{\xi} = \eta_{v}$ between a completely-local automaton, which simply rotates the basis (ξ, v) locally, and the forking automaton that maps the basis

$$(\xi, v) \mapsto (X \boxtimes I \boxtimes I, I \boxtimes I \boxtimes Y),$$

see fig. 4.3. The latter FQCA has no quantum analogue as it would visibly violate the commutation rules of the quasi-bosonic algebra.

Chapter 5

Quantum Simulation of *Zitterbewegung* effect

Quantum cellular automata are a valuable theoretical tool for describing a vast plethora of physical phenomena. Indeed, in addition to being powerful tools for quantum information protocols ranging from computation to simulations, a QCA is especially suitable to reproduce genuine phenomena of quantum field theory and relativistic quantum mechanics. For this reason, we are interested in devising and developing hardware platform able to simulate the evolution of a QCA.

Although local, the non-linear interactions of a quantum cellular automaton are challenging to reproduce in a controlled fashion. The same does not apply to quantum walks (QWs), a the particular case of QCAs whose action is linear in the field operators. First introduced in ref. [ADZ93], the quantum version of a random walk was modeled through measurements along the Z-component of a spin-½ particle over a one-dimensional lattice, which decide whether the particle moves to the right or to the left. The measurement was then replaced by a unitary operator on the spin-½ quantum system, also denoted internal degree of freedom or *coin system*, with the QW representing a discrete unitary evolution of a particle state with the internal degree of freedom given by the spin. The formal definition of QW can be found in refs. [Amb+01; NV00] for the one-dimensional case, and in ref. [Aha+01] for graphs of any dimension. See also ref. [Kem03] for a complete review.

A direct relation between the time evolution produced by the onedimensional Dirac Hamiltonian and the QW dynamics can be obtained [Str06], introducing the so-called Dirac Cellular Automaton. We focus on the experimental realization of a QW simulating the *Zitterbewegung* effect in a photonic platform based on the scheme proposed in ref. [BDT13]. We use the OAM of light to encode the *walker* system that is directly linked to the position of the Dirac particle, while the *coin* is codified in the polarization degree of freedom. The structured wavefront characterizing OAM states and their high-dimensionality motivate the wide applications that these states have found both in the classical regime, regarding microscopy [Für+05; Tam+06], optical trapping [Zha04] and communication [Wil+15; Boz+13; Wan16], and in quantum information processing for the development of protocols in quantum communication [Wan+15; Coz+19a; Coz+19b], computation [Lan+08; RRG07], metrology [Fic+12; DAm+13; Cim+21] and cryptography [Mir+15; Bou+18b]. Moreover, OAM-based platforms offer the possibility to produce a QW dynamics on a line without an exponential increase of the number of optical elements with respect to the length of the walk [Car+15; Gio+18].

Here, we move beyond the present status of experimental OAM-based quantum walk platforms, implementing 8 steps of a QW with a controllable initial state and an arbitrary projective measurement stage at the output. Employing this platform we reproduced the one-dimensional Dirac QW and we were able to efficiently simulate the *Zitterbewegung* effect. Our work demonstrates the capability of photonic platforms of simulating relativistic behaviour difficult to observe in real case scenarios, paving the way for further experimental implementations of QCA.

5.1 Linear Quantum Cellular Automaton: the Quantum Walk

As we introduced in § 2.2, quantum cellular automata describe the unitary evolution of a lattice of cells, each representing a quantum system. The evolution occurs in discrete steps and it is *local*, namely the state of a cell after a certain step t + 1 depends only on the state of finitely many neighboring cells after the preceding step t, see fig. 2.3. Let us consider the one-dimensional nearest-neighbor lattice \mathbb{Z} and a local Bosonic (Fermionic) mode per cell. We associate every site $x \in \mathbb{Z}$ with an algebra of field operators $\psi_{x,a}$ where the index $a \in S$ belongs to a finite set S and denotes some internal degree of freedom (e.g. polarization, spin, helicity, etc). The field operators fulfill either the canonical commutation relations (CCR)

$$[\psi_{x,a},\psi_{y,b}^{\dagger}] = \delta_{x,y}\delta_{a,b} \qquad [\psi_{x,a},\psi_{y,b}] = [\psi_{x,a}^{\dagger},\psi_{y,b}^{\dagger}] = 0,$$

or the CAR as in eq. (1.4) and § 1.2.1

$$\{\psi_{x,a}, \psi_{y,b}^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{x,y}\delta_{a,b} \qquad \{\psi_{x,a}, \psi_{y,b}\} = \{\psi_{x,a}^{\dagger}, \psi_{y,b}^{\dagger}\} = 0,$$
for $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a, b \in S$. A quantum cellular automaton α is then a local and translation invariant automorphism in the representation of the CCR (CAR) algebra which is a one-step evolution of the lattice. We give a Fock space representation of the CCR (CAR) algebra by introducing the *N*-excitations (particles) states

$$|(x_1, a_1), \dots, (x_N, a_N)\rangle \coloneqq \psi^{\dagger}_{x_1, a_1} \cdots \psi^{\dagger}_{x_N, a_N} |\Omega\rangle$$

where $|\Omega\rangle$ is the vacuum state. If we consider the particular case of a free, i.e. non-interacting, evolution, the QCA action is linear in the field operators, namely

$$\alpha(\psi_{x,a}) = \sum_{y \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{b \in S} U_{y,b;x,a}^* \psi_{y,b},$$

where the coefficients $U_{y,b;x,a}$ turn out to be matrix elements of a unitary operator on the subspace spanned by single-particle states.

Thus, the dynamics is completely determined by the quantum walk (QW) U on the single-particle Hilbert space $\mathbb{C}^S \otimes l_2(\mathbb{Z})$, namely

$$|\psi(t+1)\rangle = U|\psi(t)\rangle, \qquad (5.1)$$

$$U|a\rangle|x\rangle = \sum_{y\in\mathbb{Z}}\sum_{b\in S} U_{y,b;x,a}|b\rangle|y\rangle, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$|a\rangle|x\rangle \coloneqq |(x,a)\rangle. \tag{5.3}$$

We will now focus on the case where *S* is associated to a two-dimensional space, in particular the polarization of the system described by the circular basis, i.e. $S = \{L, R\}$. Because the evolution is translation invariant it is convenient to represent the unitary operator *U* in eqs. (5.1) and (5.2) through the momentum representation:

$$U = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}k \, U(k) \otimes |k\rangle \langle k|, \qquad \qquad U(k) |\pm\rangle_k = e^{\pm i\omega(k)} |\pm\rangle_k \qquad (5.4)$$

where we introduced the plane waves

$$|k\rangle := \sum_{x} \frac{e^{ikx}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} |x\rangle,$$

and $U(k) \in SU(2)$ is a unitary matrix with eigenvectors $|+\rangle_k$ and $|-\rangle_k$. In general, U(k) can have determinant which depends on k. However, one can prove that every QW can be decomposed in terms of left or right shifts on the lattice and QW such that $U(k) \in SU(2)$ for all k, thanks to the index theorem for QW [Gro+12].

For instance, the QW corresponding to the one particle sector of the Dirac Cellular Automaton [BDT13; BDT15] reads as follows:

$$U(k) = \begin{pmatrix} ne^{-ik} & -im \\ -im & ne^{ik} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \omega(k) = \arccos(n\cos(k)) \qquad (5.5)$$

for some real numbers *n*, *m* such that $n^2 + m^2 = 1$.

For a given quantum walk U, it is useful to introduce an *effective Hamiltonian* H which obeys $U = e^{-iH}$. The Hamiltonian H generates a continuous time evolution which interpolates the evolution of the quantum walk. We refer to the support \mathcal{H}_+ , resp. \mathcal{H}_- , of the projector

$$P_{\pm} \coloneqq \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}k \, |\pm_k \rangle \langle \pm_k | \otimes |k \rangle \langle k|$$

as the subspace of *positive*, resp. *negative*, energy states.

In particular, for the QW of eq. (5.5) we have

$$H = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}k \, H(k) \otimes |k \rangle \langle k|, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$H(k) = \frac{\omega(k)}{\sin \omega(k)} \begin{pmatrix} n \sin(k) & m \\ m & -n \sin(k) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.7)

and one can easily verify that for small k and m the one dimensional Dirac equation

$$i\partial_t \psi(k,t) = (k\sigma_z + m\sigma_x)\psi(k,t)$$

is recovered. The above considerations show that the QW in eq. (5.5) provides a quantum simulation of the one dimensional Dirac free field and can be used to observe relativistic quantum effects pertaining regimes that are difficult to access experimentally.

5.2 Zitterbewegung

One of the main predictions of the Dirac equation is the existence of antiparticles. As first noticed by Schrödinger [Sch30], interference of a Dirac particle with its antiparticle is responsible for the so-called *Zitterbewegung* effect, namely the oscillation of the expected value of the position operator *X* [Tha92]. Direct observation of this phenomenon in particle physics would be prohibitive since it requires preparing a coherent superposition of particle and antiparticle states for which the oscillation amplitude is of the order of the Compton wavelength (10^{-12} m for an electron). Since this phenomenon ultimately depends only on the presence of positive and negative energy states, it can be observed also in QW [BDT13]. For the case of a quantum walk on a one-dimensional lattice—see eq. (5.4)—the position operator is $X := \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}} xI \otimes |x| \langle x|$ and its time evolution $X(t) = U^{-t}XU^t$ can be computed by integrating the differential equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}t^2}X(t) = -[H, [H, X]],$$

where H is the effective Hamiltonian. We obtain

$$X(t) = X(0) + Vt + \frac{1}{2iH} \left(e^{2iHt} - I \right) F,$$

for

$$V \coloneqq \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}k \, \frac{\omega'(k)}{\omega(k)} H(k) \otimes |k\rangle \langle k|, \quad F \coloneqq [H, X] - V,$$

where *V* is the velocity operator and *F* is responsible for the oscillating motion. Since $FP_{\pm} = P_{\mp}F$, we have that the *Zitterbewegung* occurs only for states which are a superposition of positive energy (particle) and negative energy (antiparticle) states. Indeed by taking the expectation value of *X*(*t*) with respect to a state $|\psi\rangle = |\psi_{+}\rangle + |\psi_{-}\rangle$, where $|\psi_{\pm}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\pm}$, we have

$$\langle X(t) \rangle = x_{+}(t) + x_{-}(t) + x_{0} + z(t)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} x_{\pm}(t) &\coloneqq \langle \psi_{\pm} | X(0) + Vt | \psi_{\pm} \rangle \\ x_0 &\coloneqq 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \psi_{+} | X(0) - (2iH)^{-1}F | \psi_{-} \rangle \\ z(t) &\coloneqq 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \psi_{+} | (2iH)^{-1}e^{2iHt}F | \psi_{-} \rangle. \end{aligned}$$

We see that interference between positive and negative energy states causes a shift x_0 of the mean value of the position plus an oscillating term z(t). Let us now consider states whose particle and antiparticle components are both smoothly peaked around some momentum eigenstate, i.e.

$$c_{+}|\psi_{+}\rangle + c_{-}|\psi_{-}\rangle$$
 for $|\psi_{\pm}\rangle = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{\sqrt{2\pi}}g(k)|\pm\rangle_{k}|k\rangle$

where $|c_+|^2 + |c_-|^2 = 1$ and $|g(k)|^2$ is peaked around k_0 . Therefore, for small value of *t*, the oscillating terms can be approximated as follows:

$$z(t) = |c_{+}||c_{-}||f(k_{0})|\cos(2\omega(k_{0})t + \phi_{0})$$
(5.8)

where we defined $f(k) := \langle +_k | F | -_k \rangle / (2i\omega(k))$ and ϕ_0 is some suitable phase.

5.3 Simulation and results

To experimentally realize the Dirac cellular automaton, we employ the two components of photons angular momentum, the spin and the orbital angular momentum, to encode coin and walker states of a quantum walk, respectively. The position states $\{|x\rangle, x \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ are represented by eingenstates of the OAM, in particular henceforth we consider its expression in the eigenstates basis of Laguerre-Gaussian modes, see ref. [All+92]. While, as internal degree of freedom we chose the orthonormal basis $\{|R\rangle, |L\rangle\}$ corresponding to right and left circularly polarization, respectively.

In our platform, the polarization can be controlled by a set of waveplates. In the circularly polarized basis, the action of a quarter-waveplate (QWP) followed by a half-waveplate (HWP) can be described by the following unitary matrix:

$$C = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{2i(\alpha-\beta)} & ie^{2i\alpha} \\ ie^{-2i\alpha} & e^{-2i(\alpha-\beta)} \end{pmatrix}$$

where α , β are the angles of the fast-axes with respect to the horizontal axis.

A conditional shift in OAM degree of freedom is implemented using a device called q-plate, see ref. [MMP06], which is a thin plate made of a birefringent material with a direction for the optical axis that is not uniform over the device. The angle between the optical axis and the horizontal axis of the device follows the relation $\gamma = \alpha_0 + q\phi$, where α_0 is the initial angle, q is the topological charge of the device and ϕ is the azimuthal angle on the device plane. The delay introduced on the propagation by such arrangement of the optical axis produces a modulation of the wavefront, the q-plate action, in the momentum representation, can be described by the following unitary operator:

$$Q(k) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \frac{\delta}{2} & i e^{i2\alpha_0} \sin \frac{\delta}{2} e^{ik} \\ i e^{-i2\alpha_0} \sin \frac{\delta}{2} e^{-ik} & \cos \frac{\delta}{2} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $k = 2q\phi$ and $\delta \in [0, \pi]$ is the q-plate tuning. The latter is directly linked to the effect of the device in the manipulation of the angular momentum of light. This parameter can be electrically tuned between the switch-on value ($\delta = \pi$) and the switch-off one ($\delta = 0$), corresponding to no change at all. We realize a 8-steps QW on a line, where each step is composed of a q-plate and a set of quarter-waveplate and half-waveplate. Then, the single step is given by the composition:

$$U(k) = Q(k)C. \tag{5.9}$$

To control both input OAM modes and the projective measurement apparatus used to reconstruct the output distribution, the entire setup is enclosed between two spatial light modulators (SLMs) as shown in fig. 5.1. This configuration has been already proved suitable for the implementation of the QW dynamics in prior experiments, where shorter dynamics or fixed initial states were employed [Gio+18; Car+15]. The inputs of the setup are triggered single-photon states produced via spontaneous parametric down conversion in a periodically poled potassium titanyl phosphate (ppKTP) nonlinear crystal. These are coupled to a single-mode fiber (SMF) and then sent to the first SLM. The latter is used to modulate the spatial profile of photons in order to obtain the desired initial state at the entrance of the quantum walk. Therefore the input states of the setup are of the following factorised form:

$$|\psi\rangle_{\mathrm{in}} \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|R\rangle + |L\rangle) \otimes \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}} g(x) |x\rangle,$$

where $g : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\sum_{x} |g(x)|^2 = 1$.

A second SLM instead is employed in the measurement stage along with a SMF to project the output state onto the computational basis and extract the occupation probability of each OAM mode [Mai+01; Bol+13; Qas+14; Bou+18a; Sup+21]. Before doing that, the polarization degree of freedom is traced out using a series composed of a QWP, a HWP and a PBS. In this way, we are able to measure only the OAM components of the walker state at the end of the QW. The discrete size of SLM pixels determines the modulation efficiency of the device especially for high OAM values [Bol+13; Qas+14], while the divergence of the OAM modes [Sup+21; Car+15] needs to be engineered and accounted depending on the number of steps. In particular, our setup gives us full control over OAM states $|x\rangle$ such that $|x| \le 5$, and we choose a wavepacket which stays confined therin for the whole evolution. Moreover, since the platform performs up to eight evolution steps, it is convinient that the *Zitterbewegung* period $T = 2\pi/2\omega_0$, see eq. (5.8), be of the order of four, so as to observe two complete oscillations.

Let us consider the quantum walk step

$$U(k) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{ik} & e^{ik} \\ -e^{-ik} & e^{-ik} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.10)

that can be experimentally implemented by choosing the following parameters $\delta = \pi$, $\alpha_0 = \pi/4$, $\alpha = -\pi/4$ and $\beta = \pi/4$ in eq. (5.9). One can show that the dispersion relation $\omega(k)$ of U(k) is that of the walk of eq. (5.5)



Figure 5.1: The Dirac Cellular Automaton evolution is implemented through an eight-steps discrete-time quantum walk (QW) in the OAM of light. First of all, single photon states are generated through spontaneous parametric down-conversion in a periodically poled potassium titanyl phosphate (ppKTP) nonlinear crystal. After projecting the polarization of single-photons on the horizontal one through a polarizing beam splitter (PBS), the desired input state is produced via a spatial light modulator (SLM) and, after a spatial filtering performed with an iris diaphragm, is sent to the QW. Each step of the latter consist in a coin operator, implemented by a quarter-waveplate (QWP) and a half-waveplate (HWP), and a shift operator performed using a q-plate. Then, the polarization is traced out using a series of QWP, HWP and PBS. The output state probability distribution is measured with a projective measurement executed via a further SLM followed by a single-mode fiber (SMF), the resulting coupled signal is detected by an avalanche photodiode detector.

for $m = n = \sqrt{2}/2$. We are then interested in those states that are superposition of positive and negative energy eigenstates, and at the peak angular wavenumber k_0 features: (i) zero group velocity $\omega'(k_0) = \partial_k \omega(k_0) = 0$, (ii) angular frequency equal to $\pi/4$, and (iii) appreciable *Zitterbewegung* amplitude given by $|c_+| = |c_-| = 1/\sqrt{2}$ and $|f(k_0)| = 1$, see eq. (5.8). We selected the initial state

$$|\psi\rangle_{\mathrm{in}} \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|R\rangle + |L\rangle) \otimes \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}} G_{x_0,\sigma}(x) |x\rangle,$$

where $G_{x_0,\sigma}(x)$ is the truncated normal distribution between -5 and 5, centered in $x_0 = 0$, and with standard deviation $\sigma = 3.0$. For such a spatial distribution, the wavefunction in momentum representation resembles a normal distribution peaked at $k_0 = 0$ and with standard deviation $1/\sigma = 1/3$.

This setup allows us to have a precise control having direct access to the different evolution parameters and, thus, reproduce the Dirac evolution step-by-step simply turning on the right number of q-plates.

Exploiting the QW dynamics implemented with the setup, we experimentally study the *Zitterbewegung* effect of the Dirac relativistic evolution in the space of single-photon OAM. To this aim, we use q-plates with topological charge q = 1/2 and select the angles of the waveplates in order to reproduce the evolution operator reported in eq. (5.10). Notably, we realized a state-of-the-art platform able to reach 8 steps of the Dirac QW evolution for arbitrary initial states in dimension 11.

We simulated the oscillatory behavior of the position of a one dimensional relativistic particle encoding this degree of freedom in the OAM of photons. Making thus the relation $|x\rangle = |m\rangle$, where x is the position ad *m* is the value of the OAM. This encoding is explicitly reported in fig. 5.2. We considered as input a Gaussian state localized around the position $|0\rangle$, generated using the first SLM in fig. 5.1, and observed its evolution step by step. In particular, for each step we turned on the relative q-plate setting $\delta = \pi$, traced out the information stored in the polarization and measured via the second SLM and the SMF the walker state distribution over the computational basis $\{|i\rangle\}_{i=-5}^{5}$, opportunely taking into account for the efficiencies of the measurement holograms [Bol+13; Qas+14]. From the measurements, we extracted the occupation probabilities of each site and derived the evolution of the mean position. Most notably, from a theoretical prospective, we expect a Gaussian distribution that oscillates around the position x = 0 during the evolution. The oscillation of the Gaussian peak follows the sinusoidal expression in eq. (5.8) with frequency



Figure 5.2: Mapping between the OAM space and the position space. In particular, each position of the Dirac particle is identified with a different OAM eingenstate. For the latter, we report both the intensity and the phase of the wave function as expressed in the Laguerre-Gaussian modes basis.

 $\omega = 2\omega(k_0) = \pi/2$ and amplitude $A = |c_+||c_-||f(k_0)| = 0.5$. Since in the experiment we only have access to the portion of the distribution between x = -5 and x = 5, the reference values for ω and A are different. Therefore, at each step, we performed a fit over the distributions in a truncated interval of the position space spanned by $x \in [-5, 5]$ with Gaussian functions whose mean values oscillate along the evolution direction

$$f(t,y) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{(y-\mu_0 - A\cos(\omega t + \phi))^2}{2\sigma^2}\right),$$
 (5.11)

where *t* represents the step of the QW, *y* the values of probability distributions over the OAM basis, μ_0 the mean of the Gaussian distribution and σ its standard deviation. This fitting procedure is used to derive the oscillation parameters for both theoretical and experimental distributions. The results in the experimental case are shown in fig. 5.3*a*, where the 3d plot reports the time evolution of the fitted Gaussian envelopes. Moreover, in panel b of § 5.3 we reported the comparison between the experimental distribution and the fitted one obtained following eq. (5.11) for three different steps of the evolution *t* = 0, 5, 8. A slight discrepancy which increases with the number of steps can be observed mainly due to experimental imperfections. Indeed comparing step-by-step the experimental distribution with the one simulated by taking into account such imperfections, we reached a mean fidelity of $\mathcal{F} = 0.990 \pm 0.004$.





(a) Representation of the Gaussian fit performed on experimental data. The 3d function shown is obtained by fitting the experimental data with the function in eq. (5.11), where the assumed theoretical model is characterized by a Gaussian distribution that oscillates around the initial position during the evolution.

(b) Comparison between the experimental distribution and the fitted function for three different steps of the evolution. Here 0 represents the input state.

Figure 5.3: Data fit and analysis. Although satisfactory similarities can be observed, the difference between histograms and plotted curves increases with the step evolution and this is mainly due to experimental imperfections. The reported errors on experimental data are due to the Poissonian statistics of the measured counts.





(a) Ideal distribution: we report the evolution obtained following the ideal noiseless model of the quantum walk.

(b) Experimental distribution: experimental data is shown.

Figure 5.4: The plots show the output state distribution over the OAM computational basis for each time step considered, we indicate with 0 the initial input state. Yellow points represent the behavior of the mean position during the steps of the evolution.

Discussion

The main result of the experiment consists in the successful simulation of the *Zitterbewegung* oscillations through a photonic platform. The data is reported in § 5.3 together with the theoretical ideal noiseless distribution. The yellow dashed lines represent the oscillations of the mean values of the fitted Gaussian functions. For the theoretical distribution the sinusoidal curve in fig. 5.4a is characterized by values equal to $\omega = 1.714 \pm 0.017$ and $A = 0.695 \pm 0.032$. Experimentally, we obtained an oscillation very similar to the expected one with values that correspond to $\omega = 1.655 \pm 0.009$ and $A = 0.615 \pm 0.017$, the measured behavior is reported in fig. 5.4b. From both the numerical results and the plots shown in § 5.3 it can be seen how the implemented platform is capable of simulating the dynamics of a free relativistic particle, reproducing its typical *Zitterbewegung* trembling motion.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Future Perspectives

The main subject of the thesis is cellular automata in quantum and Fermionic theories. In particular, its aim is to contribute to the long-term goal of developing a rich and well-grounded framework of CA in different theories. Such an effort is motivated by the belief that physical phenomena can be described through rules of information processing. Moreover, the informational approach to physics provides for a replacement of the mechanical laws to purely informational first principles, from which the mechanics would be an emergent phenomenon.

Quantum cellular automata are promising models for describing fundamental quantum fields, as they allow for the evolution of infinitely many systems. This is possible thanks to its defining notion of locality. In chapter 3, we introduced a new definition of QCA as a super-map between transformations onto the grid instead of the canonical homomorphism of the observable algebra. The two definitions have been proved to be equivalent. The reason for this lies in the peculiar property of quantum theory where the C*-algebra defines both the effects and the transformations. Notwithstanding, QCAs defined in terms of super-maps allows for some revisions to the key principles behind it. Indeed, the real innovation lies here in the new concept of locality. Transformations onto the grid have to be interpreted as interactions of the field with external systems, e.g., another field, and the automaton can then be applied thereto. We conjugate the QCA with the transformation C to obtain

$$\mathcal{C}' = \alpha^{-1} \mathcal{C} \alpha,$$

that is well-defined if we require α to be an automorphism. We may then



Figure 6.1: Circuit describing the action of the automaton α onto a local transformation C. The quantum operation can be interpreted as local perturbation to the grid, such a perturbation may be scattered by the automaton at most onto the neighborhood.

rewrite it as

$$\mathcal{C}\alpha = \alpha \mathcal{C}',\tag{6.1}$$

see fig. 6.1. Namely, we apply a perturbation to the grid and then evolve it through the automaton. We then may obtain the same result as first evolving the grid by means of the QCA, and only then apply an accordingly revisited transformation C' onto the neighborhood. The automaton is so required to "spread" the perturbation at most onto the neighborhood. On the contrary, if the transformed operation would need to act onto larger areas, or even the whole grid, that would have meant that the QCA manipulates the grid non-locally. The fact that both notions of locality, namely in terms of effects and transformations, define the same class of QCAs is a very special property of quantum theory, see ref. [Per21].

Furthermore, through the definition of QCAs in terms of automorphism of quantum operation, instead of observables, we may give a clear interpretation to the property of homomorphism of the C*-algebra. On the one hand, no operational interpretation can be given to the product of two observables. On the other hand, the product of two Kraus operators is straightaway related to the composition of two quantum operations. If we consider the setup of eq. (6.1), the transformation C may then be whatever complex quantum circuit acting on the grid, the automaton must then preserve the structure of the circuit. In particular, all quantum operations making up the circuit must then transform accordingly, but their causal structure must be left invariant since

$$\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{BC}) = \mathscr{A}(\mathcal{B})\mathscr{A}(\mathcal{C}).$$

More formally, a QCA is required to preserve the algebra and conic structures of quantum operations.

By means of this new definition, we introduced the *T*-operator T_x as a local operator onto sites $N_x \sqcup \{x\}$, where N_x denotes the neighborhood of x, that contains all the information to uniquely define a QCA. The *T*-operator plays here the role of the Choi operator for quantum operations, indeed the T-operator is the Choi of the QCA local rule. Indeed, by decomposing the operator T_x we observed that it contains both the input and the output of the local rule α_0 . Consistently, the *T* perfectly encodes all information about the QCA, and therefore the index can be computed from it. Moreover, some properties have been derived in theorem 11 that are necessary and sufficient for defining a QCA. One may then be tempted to classify all T-operators so as to classify the QCAs. However, the decomposition of § 3.3 directly translates conditions 2 of theorem 11, i.e. $[T_x, T_y] = 0$ for all x, y, into the commutation relation of the local rule, thus vanishing any kind of theoretical advantage. If we continue our analogy to the Choi operator, in the case of quantum operations every operator $\rho_{\mathcal{C}}$ represents an admissible transformation iff $0 \leq \text{Tr}_0[\rho_C] \leq I$. Here, the condition for the *T*-operator to describe a valid QCA are indeed more complex to resolve. However, the *T*-operators preserve the conic structure of QCAs and are then valid candidates for studying irreversible QCAs. Indeed, the uncoherent combination of QCAs reduces to the linear combination of its T-operators, since

$$(\mathscr{A} + \mathscr{B})(\mathcal{S}_x) = \mathcal{T}_x + \mathcal{T}'_x.$$

We then proceeded into classifying all nearest-neighbor Fermionic quantum cellular automata on the one-dimensional lattice with one local Fermionic mode per site. We briefly introduced the index theory for FQCA, where we observed that the index can assume irrational values as well, more specifically ind $\alpha = 2^{n/s}$. On the contrary, the spectrum of quantum cellular automata is the set of rational index values only. This feature of FQCAs becomes more clear as soon as we describe their action in terms of the self-adjoint representation of the CAR. Under this hypothesis, the creation, and annihilation operator are defined starting from a pair of Majorana modes. The Fermionic automaton is then free to move around single Majorana modes within the neighborhood. The particular case of a shift of index $\sqrt{2}$ is that of the Majorana shift, which shifts forwards only one Majorana mode and switches the other in-place. Such a behavior is in stark contrast with QCAs, where the minimum system that can be freely placed around is the qudit.

By requiring the anti-commution relation of the local rule, we successfully classified all such Fermionic cellular automata. In particular, the set can be divided into two classes, based on the kind of support alge-

bras of the image on the nearest neighbors. Since these support algebras must graded-commute, they can either commute or anti-commute. On the one hand, those FQCA having an Abelian support algebra onto the nearest neighbors are in one to one correspondence with a particular class of QCA. On the other hand, the other class has anticommuting support algebras. This is a novel class of automata that strictly pertains to the Fermionic case with no quantum counterparts. In the latter class, a generator of non-local interaction actually forks the Majorana modes, shifting one to the left and the other to the right, see fig. 4.3. From what we have seen so far, the self-adjoint representation of the CAR is more suitable for describing FQCA. In particular, they might be elevated as the fundamental system on which the Fermionic quantum cellular automaton acts. As a future perspective, one may evaluate if it is appropriate to define FQCAs over Majorana modes. In particular, this would require the assessment of whether a well-defined and full-fledged theory can ever exist thereof. Since all representations of the CAR are unitarily equivalent to the Jordan-Wigner's one, any theory describing Majorana modes would inevitably be non-quantum. Namely, states and transformations cannot be represented onto Hilbert spaces. On the other hand, a further development of FQCAs may proceed with classifying automata over higher dimensional lattices and with more than one local Fermionic mode per site.

Finally, in chapter 5 we reported the results of a collaboration for an experiment where we successfully simulated a relativistic phenomenon over a photonic platform. In particular, we observed the *Zitterbewegung* of a particle, i.e. trembling motion, that is a well-known effect of relativistic quantum mechanics experienced by a wave-function in a coherent superposition of particle and antiparticle states. We contributed by providing the theoretical background, evaluating preparatory numerical simulations and optimizing the parameter space for attaining the best visibility. The next experiment in this line of research may try to introduce some inhomogeneity in the quantum walk evolution, so as to represent potentials. In so doing, we could simulate phenomena such as scattering from potential and observing bound states. Of course, the long-term goal of this kind of experiments are the ability of implementing interacting evolution in order to simulate full-fledged quantum cellular automata, both for simulating physical phenomena and for harnessing its computational advantage.

Bibliography

- [ADZ93] Y. Aharonov, L. Davidovich, and N. Zagury. "Quantum random walks". In: *Physical Review A* 48.2 (Aug. 1993), pp. 1687– 1690. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.48.1687.
- [AG10] Pablo Arrighi and Jonathan Grattage. "A Simple n-Dimensional Intrinsically Universal Quantum Cellular Automaton". In: *Language and Automata Theory and Applications*. Ed. by Adrian-Horia Dediu, Henning Fernau, and Carlos Martín-Vide. Vol. 6031. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010, pp. 70–81. ISBN: 9783642130892. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-13089-2_6. arXiv: 1002.1015.
- [Aha+01] Dorit Aharonov et al. "Quantum walks on graphs". In: Proceedings of the thirty-third annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing. STOC '01. Hersonissos, Greece: Association for Computing Machinery ACM, July 2001, pp. 50–59. ISBN: 1581133499. DOI: 10.1145/380752.380758. arXiv: quant-ph/0012090.
- [All+92] L. Allen et al. "Orbital angular momentum of light and the transformation of Laguerre-Gaussian laser modes". In: *Physi*cal Review A 45.11 (June 1992), pp. 8185–8189. DOI: 10.1103/ physreva.45.8185.
- [Amb+01] Andris Ambainis et al. "One-dimensional quantum walks". In: Proceedings of the thirty-third annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing. STOC '01. Hersonissos, Greece: Association for Computing Machinery ACM, July 2001, pp. 37–49. ISBN: 1581133499. DOI: 10.1145/380752.380757.
- [ANW11] Pablo Arrighi, Vincent Nesme, and Reinhard F. Werner. "Unitarity plus causality implies localizability". In: *Journal of Computer and System Sciences* 77.2 (Mar. 2011). Adaptivity in Heterogeneous Environments, pp. 372–378. DOI: 10.1016 / j. jcss.2010.05.004. arXiv: 0711.3975.

- [BB84] C.H. Bennett and G. Brassard. "Quantum Cryptography: Public Key Distribution and Coin Tossing". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Computers, Systems and Signal Processing*. Vol. 175. IEEE New York, 1984.
- [BDT13] Alessandro Bisio, Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, and Alessandro Tosini. "Dirac quantum cellular automaton in one dimension: Zitterbewegung and scattering from potential". In: Physical Review A 88.3 (Sept. 2013), p. 032301. DOI: 10.1103 / PhysRevA.88.032301. arXiv: 1305.0461.
- [BDT15] Alessandro Bisio, Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, and Alessandro Tosini. "Quantum field as a quantum cellular automaton: The Dirac free evolution in one dimension". In: *Annals of Physics* 354 (2015), pp. 244–264. ISSN: 0003-4916. DOI: 10.1016/j. aop.2014.12.016. arXiv: 1212.2839.
- [Ben+93] Charles H. Bennett et al. "Teleporting an unknown quantum state via dual classical and Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen channels". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 70 (13 Mar. 1993), pp. 1895–1899. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.70.1895.
- [BK02] Sergey B. Bravyi and Alexei Yu Kitaev. "Fermionic Quantum Computation". In: *Annals of Physics* 298.1 (May 2002), pp. 210–226. DOI: 10.1006/aphy.2002.6254.
- [Bol+13] Eliot Bolduc et al. "Exact solution to simultaneous intensity and phase encryption with a single phase-only hologram". In: *Optics Letters* 38.18 (Sept. 2013), p. 3546. DOI: 10.1364/01. 38.003546.
- [Bou+16] J Boutari et al. "Large scale quantum walks by means of optical fiber cavities". In: *Journal of Optics* 18.9 (Aug. 2016), p. 094007. DOI: 10.1088/2040-8978/18/9/094007.
- [Bou+18a] Frédéric Bouchard et al. "Measuring azimuthal and radial modes of photons". In: *Optics Express* 26.24 (Nov. 2018), p. 31925. DOI: 10.1364/0e.26.031925.
- [Bou+18b] Frédéric Bouchard et al. "Quantum cryptography with twisted photons through an outdoor underwater channel". In: Optics Express 26.17 (Aug. 2018), p. 22563. DOI: 10.1364/oe.26.022563.

- [Boy+00] P.Oscar Boykin et al. "A new universal and fault-tolerant quantum basis". In: *Information Processing Letters* 75.3 (Aug. 2000), pp. 101–107. ISSN: 0020-0190. DOI: 10.1016/S0020-0190(00)00084-3.
- [Boz+13] Nenad Bozinovic et al. "Terabit-Scale Orbital Angular Momentum Mode Division Multiplexing in Fibers". In: Science 340.6140 (June 2013), pp. 1545–1548. DOI: 10.1126/science. 1237861.
- [BP19] Alessandro Bisio and Paolo Perinotti. "Theoretical framework for higher-order quantum theory". In: *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 475.2225 (May 2019), p. 20180706. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.2018.0706.
- [BW92] Charles H. Bennett and Stephen J. Wiesner. "Communication via one- and two-particle operators on Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen states". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 69 (20 Nov. 1992), pp. 2881–2884. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.2881.
- [Car+15] Filippo Cardano et al. "Quantum walks and wavepacket dynamics on a lattice with twisted photons". In: *Science Advances* 1.2 (Mar. 2015). DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.1500087.
- [CDP09] Giulio Chiribella, Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, and Paolo Perinotti.
 "Theoretical framework for quantum networks". In: *Physical Review A* 80.2 (Aug. 2009), p. 022339. doi: 10.1103/physreva. 80.022339. arXiv: 0904.4483.
- [CDP11] Giulio Chiribella, Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, and Paolo Perinotti.
 "Informational derivation of quantum theory". In: *Physical Review A* 84.1 (July 2011), p. 012311. doi: 10.1103/physreva. 84.012311.
- [Che73] Paul Robert Chernoff. "Representations, automorphisms, and derivations of some operator algebras". In: *Journal of Functional Analysis* 12.3 (Mar. 1973), pp. 275–289. ISSN: 0022-1236.
 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1236(73)90080-3.
- [Chi93] Andrew Chi-Chih Yao. "Quantum circuit complexity". In: Proceedings of 1993 IEEE 34th Annual Foundations of Computer Science. IEEE, 1993, pp. 352–361. DOI: 10.1109/sfcs.1993. 366852.

- [Cho75] Man-Duen Choi. "Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices". In: *Linear Algebra and its Applications* 10.3 (June 1975), pp. 285–290. ISSN: 0024-3795. DOI: 10.1016/0024-3795(75)90075-0.
- [Cim+21] Valeria Cimini et al. "Non-asymptotic Heisenberg scaling: experimental metrology for a wide resources range". In: (Oct. 6, 2021). arXiv: 2110.02908.
- [Cle+98] Richard Cleve et al. "Quantum Algorithms Revisited". In: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 454.1969 (Jan. 8, 1998), pp. 339–354. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.1998.0164. arXiv: quant-ph/9708016.
- [Coz+19a] Daniele Cozzolino et al. "Air-core fiber distribution of hybrid vector vortex-polarization entangled states". In: Advanced Photonics 1.04 (Aug. 2019), p. 1. DOI: 10.1117/1.ap.1.4.046005.
- [Coz+19b] Daniele Cozzolino et al. "High-Dimensional Quantum Communication: Benefits, Progress, and Future Challenges". In: *Advanced Quantum Technologies* 2.12 (Oct. 2019), p. 1900038. DOI: 10.1002/qute.201900038.
- [CY88] Karel Culik and Sheng Yu. "Undecidability of CA Classification Schemes". In: Complex Syst. 2.2 (Apr. 1988), pp. 177–190. ISSN: 0891-2513. URL: https://www.complex-systems.com/ abstracts/v02_i02_a02/.
- [DAm+13] Vincenzo D'Ambrosio et al. "Photonic polarization gears for ultra-sensitive angular measurements". In: *Nature Communications* 4.1 (Sept. 2013). DOI: 10.1038/ncomms3432.
- [DAr+14] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano et al. "The Feynman problem and fermionic entanglement: Fermionic theory versus qubit theory". In: *International Journal of Modern Physics A* 29.17 (June 2014), p. 1430025. DOI: 10.1142/s0217751x14300257. arXiv: 1403.2674.
- [DAr06] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano. "How to Derive the Hilbert-Space Formulation of Quantum Mechanics From Purely Operational Axioms". In: AIP Conference Proceedings. Vol. 844. 1. AIP, 2006, pp. 101–128. DOI: 10.1063/1.2219356.

- [DCP16] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, Giulio Chiribella, and Paolo Perinotti. *Quantum Theory from First Principles: An Informational Approach*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Nov. 2016. ISBN: 9781107338340. DOI: 10.1017/9781107338340.
- [DEP20a] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, Marco Erba, and Paolo Perinotti.
 "Classical theories with entanglement". In: *Physical Review A* 101.4 (Apr. 2020), p. 042118. doi: 10.1103/physreva.101.042118. arXiv: 1909.07134.
- [DEP20b] Giacomo Mauro D'Ariano, Marco Erba, and Paolo Perinotti. "Classicality without local discriminability: Decoupling entanglement and complementarity". In: *Physical Review A* 102.5 (Nov. 2020), p. 052216. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.102.052216. arXiv: 2008.04011.
- [Der06] Jan Dereziński. "Introduction to Representations of the Canonical Commutation and Anticommutation Relations". In: Large Coulomb Systems: Lecture Notes on Mathematical Aspects of QED. Ed. by Jan Dereziński and Heinz Siedentop. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006, pp. 63–143. ISBN: 978-3-540-32579-6. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-32579-4_3. arXiv: math-ph/0511030.
- [DJ92] David Deutsch and Richard Jozsa. "Rapid solution of problems by quantum computation". In: *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*. Series A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences 439.1907 (Dec. 1992), pp. 553–558. doi: 10.1098/rspa. 1992.0167.
- [Eke91] Artur K. Ekert. "Quantum cryptography based on Bell's theorem". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 67 (6 Aug. 1991), pp. 661–663. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.67.661.
- [Far20] Terry Farrelly. "A review of Quantum Cellular Automata". In: *Quantum* 4 (Nov. 2020), p. 368. ISSN: 2521-327X. DOI: 10. 22331/q-2020-11-30-368. arXiv: 1904.13318.
- [Fey82] Richard Phillips Feynman. "Simulating physics with computers". In: *International Journal of Theoretical Physics* 21.6-7 (June 1982), pp. 467–488. DOI: 10.1007/bf02650179.
- [FH20] Michael Freedman and Matthew B. Hastings. "Classification of Quantum Cellular Automata". In: Communications in Mathematical Physics 376.2 (Apr. 2020), pp. 1171–1222. ISSN: 1432-

0916. DOI: 10. 1007 / s00220 - 020 - 03735 - у. arXiv: 1902. 10285.

- [FHH22] Michael Freedman, Jeongwan Haah, and Matthew B. Hastings.
 "The Group Structure of Quantum Cellular Automata". In: Communications in Mathematical Physics 389.3 (Jan. 2022), pp. 1277–1302. ISSN: 1432-0916. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-022-04316-x. arXiv: 1910.07998.
- [Fic+12] Robert Fickler et al. "Quantum Entanglement of High Angular Momenta". In: Science 338.6107 (Nov. 2012), pp. 640–643. DOI: 10.1126/science.1227193.
- [Fid+19] Lukasz Fidkowski et al. "Interacting invariants for Floquet phases of fermions in two dimensions". In: *Physical Review* B 99.8 (Feb. 2019), p. 085115. doi: 10.1103/physrevb.99. 085115. arXiv: 1703.07360.
- [Fuc01] Christopher A. Fuchs. "Quantum Foundations in the Light of Quantum Information". In: (June 29, 2001). arXiv: quantph/0106166.
- [Fuc02] Christopher A. Fuchs. "Quantum Mechanics as Quantum Information (and only a little more)". In: (May 8, 2002). arXiv: guant-ph/0205039.
- [Für+05] Severin Fürhapter et al. "Spiral phase contrast imaging in microscopy". In: Optics Express 13.3 (Feb. 2005), pp. 689–694.
 DOI: 10.1364/opex.13.000689.
- [Gar70] Martin Gardner. "Mathematical Games". In: Scientific American 223.4 (Oct. 1970), pp. 120–123. DOI: 10.1038/scientificamerican1070– 120.
- [Gio+18] Taira Giordani et al. "Experimental statistical signature of many-body quantum interference". In: *Nature Photonics* 12.3 (Feb. 2018), pp. 173–178. DOI: 10.1038/s41566-018-0097-4.
- [Gro+12] D. Gross et al. "Index Theory of One Dimensional Quantum Walks and Cellular Automata". In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 310.2 (Jan. 2012), pp. 419–454. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-012-1423-1. arXiv: 0910.3675.

- [Gro96] Lov K. Grover. "A Fast Quantum Mechanical Algorithm for Database Search". In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing. STOC '96. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, July 1, 1996, pp. 212–219. ISBN: 0897917855. DOI: 10.1145/237814.237866. arXiv: quant-ph/9605043.
- [Güt+10] Johannes Gütschow et al. "Time asymptotics and entanglement generation of Clifford quantum cellular automata". In: Journal of Mathematical Physics 51.1 (Jan. 2010), p. 015203.
 DOI: 10.1063/1.3278513.
- [Haa21] Jeongwan Haah. "Clifford quantum cellular automata: Trivial group in 2D and Witt group in 3D". In: *Journal of Mathematical Physics* 62.9 (Sept. 2021), p. 092202. DOI: 10.1063/5.0022185. arXiv: 1907.02075.
- [Har01] Lucien Hardy. "Quantum Theory From Five Reasonable Axioms". In: (Jan. 3, 2001). arXiv: quant-ph/0101012.
- [HFH22] Jeongwan Haah, Lukasz Fidkowski, and Matthew B. Hastings. "Nontrivial Quantum Cellular Automata in Higher Dimensions". In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 398.1 (Nov. 2022), pp. 469–540. ISSN: 1432-0916. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-022-04528-1. arXiv: 1812.01625.
- [HNN28] David Hilbert, John von Neumann, and Lothar Wolfgang Nordheim. "Über die Grundlagen der Quantenmechanik". In: *Mathematische Annalen* 98.1 (Mar. 1928), pp. 1–30. doi: 10.1007/bf01451579.
- [Jam72] Andrzej Jamiołkowski. "Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators". In: *Reports on Mathematical Physics* 3.4 (Dec. 1972), pp. 275–278.
 ISSN: 0034-4877. DOI: 10.1016/0034-4877(72)90011-0.
- [JW28] Ernst Pascual Jordan and Eugene Paul Wigner. "Über das Paulische Äquivalenzverbot". In: *Zeitschrift für Physik* 47.9-10 (Sept. 1928), pp. 631–651. doi: 10.1007/bf01331938.
- [Kar+09] Michal Karski et al. "Quantum Walk in Position Space with Single Optically Trapped Atoms". In: *Science* 325.5937 (July 2009), pp. 174–177. DOI: 10.1126/science.1174436.
- [Kem03] Julia Kempe. "Quantum random walks: An introductory overview". In: *Contemporary Physics* 44.4 (July 2003), pp. 307–327. doi: 10.1080/00107151031000110776.

- [Kit+12] Takuya Kitagawa et al. "Observation of topologically protected bound states in photonic quantum walks". In: *Nature Communications* 3.1 (June 2012). DOI: 10.1038/ncomms1872.
- [Kuh20] Meinard Kuhlmann. "Quantum Field Theory". In: The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Ed. by Edward N. Zalta. Fall 2020. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University, 2020. URL: https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2020/ entries/quantum-field-theory/.
- [Lan+08] Benjamin P. Lanyon et al. "Simplifying quantum logic using higher-dimensional Hilbert spaces". In: *Nature Physics* 5.2 (Dec. 2008), pp. 134–140. DOI: 10.1038/nphys1150.
- [LPT20] Matteo Lugli, Paolo Perinotti, and Alessandro Tosini. "Fermionic State Discrimination by Local Operations and Classical Communication". In: *Physical Review Letters* 125.11 (Sept. 2020), p. 110403. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.125.110403. arXiv: 2002.10197.
- [LPT21] Matteo Lugli, Paolo Perinotti, and Alessandro Tosini. "Unambiguous discrimination of fermionic states through local operations and classical communication". In: *Physical Review* A 103.1 (Jan. 2021), p. 012416. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.103. 012416. arXiv: 2009.05657.
- [Mai+01] Alois Mair et al. "Entanglement of the orbital angular momentum states of photons". In: *Nature* 412.6844 (July 2001), pp. 313–316. DOI: 10.1038/35085529.
- [MB99] Saunders Mac Lane and Garrett Birkhoff. *Algebra*. 3rd ed. Providence, Rhode Island: American Mathematical Society Chelsea Publishing, 1999. 626 pp. ISBN: 0821816462.
- [MH89] Kenichi Morita and Masateru Harao. "Computation Universality of One-Dimensional Reversible (Injective) Cellular Automata". In: *IEICE Transactions* (1976-1990) 72.6 (June 25, 1989), pp. 758–762.
- [Mir+15] Mohammad Mirhosseini et al. "High-dimensional quantum cryptography with twisted light". In: *New Journal of Physics* 17.3 (Mar. 2015), p. 033033. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/17/3/033033.

- [MMP06] Lorenzo Marrucci, Carlo Manzo, and Domenico Paparo. "Optical Spin-to-Orbital Angular Momentum Conversion in Inhomogeneous Anisotropic Media". In: *Physical Review Letters* 96.16 (Apr. 2006), p. 163905. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.96. 163905.
- [MW19] Abel Molina and John Watrous. "Revisiting the simulation of quantum Turing machines by quantum circuits". In: *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 475.2226 (June 2019), p. 20180767. DOI: 10.1098/rspa.2018.0767.
- [NC10] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Dec. 9, 2010. 702 pp. ISBN: 9781107002173. DOI: 10.1017/cb09780511976667.
- [Neu32] John von Neumann. *Mathematische Grundlagen der Quantenmechanik*. Vol. 38. Die Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Berlin: Springer, 1932. 262 pp.
- [Nie05] Michael Aaron Nielsen. "The Fermionic canonical commutation relations and the Jordan-Wigner transform". School of Physical Sciences—The University of Queensland. July 2005. URL: http://michaelnielsen.org/blog/archive/notes/ fermions_and_jordan_wigner.pdf.
- [NV00] Ashwin Nayak and Ashvin Vishwanath. "Quantum Walk on the Line". In: (Oct. 31, 2000). arXiv: quant-ph/0010117.
- [Owe+11] J O Owens et al. "Two-photon quantum walks in an elliptical direct-write waveguide array". In: *New Journal of Physics* 13.7 (July 2011), p. 075003. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/13/7/075003.
- [Per20] Paolo Perinotti. "Cellular automata in operational probabilistic theories". In: *Quantum* 4 (July 2020), p. 294. ISSN: 2521-327X. DOI: 10.22331/q-2020-07-09-294. arXiv: 1911.11216.
- [Per21] Paolo Perinotti. "Causal influence in operational probabilistic theories". In: *Quantum* 5 (Aug. 2021), p. 515. ISSN: 2521-327X. DOI: 10.22331/q-2021-08-03-515. arXiv: 2012.15213.
- [Per85] Asher Peres. "Reversible logic and quantum computers". In: *Physical Review A* 32.6 (Dec. 1985), pp. 3266–3276. DOI: 10. 1103/physreva.32.3266.

- [PTV21] Paolo Perinotti, Alessandro Tosini, and Leonardo Vaglini. "Shannon theory for quantum systems and beyond: information compression for fermions". In: (June 9, 2021). arXiv: 2106. 04964.
- [PTV22] Paolo Perinotti, Alessandro Tosini, and Leonardo Vaglini. "Shannon theory beyond quantum: Information content of a source".
 In: *Physical Review A* 105.5 (May 2022), p. 052222. DOI: 10. 1103/physreva.105.052222. arXiv: 2112.12689.
- [Qas+14] Hammam Qassim et al. "Limitations to the determination of a Laguerre–Gauss spectrum via projective, phase-flattening measurement". In: *Journal of the Optical Society of America B* 31.6 (Apr. 2014), A20. DOI: 10.1364/josab.31.000a20.
- [Rau05a] Robert Raussendorf. "Quantum cellular automaton for universal quantum computation". In: *Physical Review A* 72.2 (Aug. 2005), p. 022301. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.72.022301.
- [Rau05b] Robert Raussendorf. "Quantum computation via translationinvariant operations on a chain of qubits". In: *Physical Review* A 72.5 (Nov. 2005), p. 052301. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.72. 052301.
- [RRG07] T. C. Ralph, K. J. Resch, and A. Gilchrist. "Efficient Toffoli gates using qudits". In: *Physical Review A* 75.2 (Feb. 2007), p. 022313. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.75.022313.
- [RS61] H. Reeh and S. Schlieder. "Bemerkungen zur unitäräquivalenz von lorentzinvarianten feldern". In: *Il Nuovo Cimento* 22.5 (Dec. 1961), pp. 1051–1068. DOI: 10.1007/bf02787889.
- [San+12] Linda Sansoni et al. "Two-Particle Bosonic-Fermionic Quantum Walk via Integrated Photonics". In: *Physical Review Letters* 108.1 (Jan. 2012), p. 010502. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.108. 010502.
- [Sch+09] H. Schmitz et al. "Quantum Walk of a Trapped Ion in Phase Space". In: *Physical Review Letters* 103.9 (Aug. 2009), p. 090504.
 DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.103.090504.
- [Sch30] Erwin Schrödinger. Über die kräftefreie Bewegung in der relativistischen Quantenmechanik. Akademie der wissenschaften in kommission bei W. de Gruyter u. Company, 1930.
- [Sch95] Benjamin Schumacher. "Quantum coding". In: *Physical Review A* 51.4 (Apr. 1995), pp. 2738–2747. doi: 10.1103/physreva. 51.2738.

[Šem95]	Peter Šemrl. "Isomorphisms of standard operator algebras". In: <i>Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society</i> 123.6 (1995), pp. 1851–1855. doi: 10.1090/s0002-9939-1995-1242104-8.
[SFW06]	D. J. Shepherd, T. Franz, and Reinhard F. Werner. "Universally Programmable Quantum Cellular Automaton". In: <i>Physical</i> <i>Review Letters</i> 97.2 (July 2006), p. 020502. DOI: 10.1103/ physrevlett.97.020502. arXiv: quant-ph/0512058.
[Sha48]	Claude Elwood Shannon. "A Mathematical Theory of Com- munication". In: <i>Bell System Technical Journal</i> 27.3 (July 1948), pp. 379–423. doi: 10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb01338.x.
[Sho94]	Peter Williston Shor. "Algorithms for quantum computation: discrete logarithms and factoring". In: <i>Proceedings 35th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science</i> . IEEE Comput. Soc. Press, 1994, pp. 124–134. DOI: 10.1109/sfcs.1994. 365700.
[Sho95]	Peter Williston Shor. "Scheme for reducing decoherence in quantum computer memory". In: <i>Physical Review A</i> 52.4 (Oct. 1995), R2493–R2496. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.52.r2493.
[Sti55]	William Forrest Stinespring. "Positive functions on C*-algebras". In: <i>Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society</i> 6.2 (1955), pp. 211–216. ISSN: 0002-9939. DOI: 10.1090/s0002-9939- 1955-0069403-4.
[Str06]	Frederick W. Strauch. "Relativistic quantum walks". In: <i>Phys-ical Review A</i> 73.5 (May 2006), p. 054302. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.73.054302.
[Sup+21]	Alessia Suprano et al. "Enhanced detection techniques of or- bital angular momentum states in the classical and quantum regimes". In: <i>New Journal of Physics</i> 23.7 (July 2021), p. 073014. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/ac0c53.
[SVW08]	Dirk-M. Schlingemann, Holger Vogts, and Reinhard F. Werner. "On the structure of Clifford quantum cellular automata". In: <i>Journal of Mathematical Physics</i> 49.11 (Nov. 2008), p. 112104. DOI: 10.1063/1.3005565.
[SW04]	Benjamin Schumacher and Reinhard F. Werner. "Reversible Quantum Cellular Automata". In: (May 2004). arXiv: quant-

ph/0405174.

- [SW49] Claude Elwood Shannon and Warren Weaver. *The Mathematical Theory of Communication*. Urbana, Illinois: University of Illinois Press, 1949. 125 pp.
- [Tam+06] F. Tamburini et al. "Overcoming the Rayleigh Criterion Limit with Optical Vortices". In: *Physical Review Letters* 97.16 (Oct. 2006), p. 163903. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.97.163903.
- [Tha92] Bernd Thaller. *The Dirac Equation*. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1992. 357 pp. ISBN: 9783642081347. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-662-02753-0.
- [Tof77] Tommaso Toffoli. "Computation and construction universality of reversible cellular automata". In: *Journal of Computer and System Sciences* 15.2 (Oct. 1977), pp. 213–231. DOI: 10.1016/ s0022-0000(77)80007-x.
- [VB66] John Von Neumann and Arthur Walter Burks. Theory of Self-Reproducing Automata. University of Illinois Press, Jan. 1, 1966. ISBN: 0252727339.
- [Wan+15] Xi-Lin Wang et al. "Quantum teleportation of multiple degrees of freedom of a single photon". In: *Nature* 518.7540 (Feb. 2015), pp. 516–519. DOI: 10.1038/nature14246.
- [Wan16] Jian Wang. "Advances in communications using optical vortices". In: *Photonics Research* 4.5 (Sept. 2016), B14. DOI: 10. 1364/prj.4.000b14.
- [Wat95] John Watrous. "On one-dimensional quantum cellular automata". In: Proceedings of IEEE 36th Annual Foundations of Computer Science. IEEE Comput. Soc. Press, 1995, pp. 528– 537. DOI: 10.1109/sfcs.1995.492583.
- [Wil+15] A. E. Willner et al. "Optical communications using orbital angular momentum beams". In: *Advances in Optics and Photonics* 7.1 (Mar. 2015), p. 66. DOI: 10.1364/aop.7.000066.
- [Wol02] Stephen Wolfram. A New Kind of Science. Wolfram Media Incorporated, 2002, p. 1197. ISBN: 9781579550080. URL: https: //www.wolframscience.com/nks/.
- [Wol83] Stephen Wolfram. "Statistical mechanics of cellular automata". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 55.3 (July 1983), pp. 601–644.
 DOI: 10.1103/revmodphys.55.601.

- [WWW52] Gian Carlo Wick, Arthur Strong Wightman, and Eugene Paul Wigner. "The Intrinsic Parity of Elementary Particles". In: *Physical Review* 88.1 (Oct. 1952), pp. 101–105. DOI: 10.1103/ physrev.88.101.
- [Zäh+10] F. Zähringer et al. "Realization of a Quantum Walk with One and Two Trapped Ions". In: *Physical Review Letters* 104.10 (Mar. 2010), p. 100503. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.104.100503.
- [Zha04] Qiwen Zhan. "Trapping metallic Rayleigh particles with radial polarization". In: *Optics Express* 12.15 (2004), p. 3377. DOI: 10.1364/opex.12.003377.